# INTEGRATED SYSTEMS FOR ACOUSTIC OPTIMIZATION OF GREEN ROOF STRUCTURES: A NUMERICAL APPROACH TO AIRCRAFT NOISE MITIGATION

# MASTER THESIS ELEFTHERIA LIAPI

abt





Master of Science Thesis Delft University of Technology Faculty of Civil Engineering **Department of Building Engineering** 

# **Integrated Systems for Acoustic Optimization of Green Roof** Structures: A Numerical Approach to Aircraft Noise Mitigation

by

**Eleftheria** Liapi

to obtain the degree of Master of Science at the Delft University of Technology, to be defended publicly on Thursday January 23, 2025 at 14:00.





Student number: 5390400
Project duration: April 29, 2024 – January 23, 2025
MSc Thesis Committee Members:
Dr. ir. M.(Marc) Ottelé, (Chair, Supervisor), TU Delft, CiTG, Materials & Environment Tu Delft, BK, Building Physics
Dr. Giacomo Vairetti, (Supervisor), ABT B.V., Building Physics

Keywords

low-frequency sound, aircraft noise, green roofs, acoustic performance, sound absorption, Helmholtz resonators, sustainable solutions, impedance tube model, finite element method (FEM), COMSOL Multiphysics

## PREFACE

The research presented in the current graduate thesis has been conducted in order to obtain my MSc degree in the Department of Civil Engineering and Geosciences at Delft University of Technology. It illustrates the culmination of a significant and enlightening journey that undeniably contributed to my professional and personal growth. During my studies I gained a lot of knowledge on different subjects within the civil engineering field, and through this thesis, I finalize my studies with the subject that interest me the most: the optimization of integrated systems for acoustic performance in green roof structures. This research gave me the opportunity to combine my knowledge for building physics and sustainable building solutions.

Throughout the course of my research, I realized that no task can be successfully completed without professional interaction with others. Discussions and criticism arising from different opinions or perspectives can undeniably be time consuming and sometimes painful to deal with, but I believe that not only did it keep me from making mistakes but also added clarity.

I am particularly grateful to my mentors and members of this thesis committee for their professional guidance, the sharing of their useful academic knowledge, as well as their advantageous feedback during the different phases of the research. Primarily, I would like to express my gratitude to the chair of the committee, Prof. Dr. ir. M. (Marc) Ottelé, for providing me a wealth of insightful advice and suggestions pertaining to the direction of my research. His expertise was instrumental in completing this project. I am deeply thankful to Dr. ir. M.J. Tenpierik, for his invaluable insights into acoustics, which guided my research and ensured its scientific reliability. My sincere gratitude goes to Dr. Giacomo Vairetti, my supervisor at ABT B.V. for giving me the opportunity to conduct my research at the company and for his constant guidance and encouragement. His industry expertise and practical advice not only guided my research but also provided me with a valuable perspective on real-world engineering challenges. I would also like extend my gratitude to SemperGreen and Max de Vos for providing me with all the samples necessary for my experiments. Their willingness to assist and provide any additional materials, information or support throughout the research was invaluable and greatly appreciated.

Finally, my deepest gratitude to my family for always encouraging me with their continuous support to pursue my aspirations with patience and persistence no matter the adversities. Last but not least, I am grateful to my friends, both old and new ones, for being by my side and making this journey even more meaningful.

Eleftheria Liapi Delft, January 2025

## ABSTRACT

Noise pollution has become a significant environmental concern in urban areas. Low-frequency sounds, especially those coming from aviation activities present a major difficulty among noise sources, due to their ability to travel long distances and easily penetrate different structures. In response to the growing need for mitigating such environmental challenges, green roof structures are becoming an increasingly effective potential. Green roof systems provide several environmental benefits, including thermal insulation, enhanced air quality and stormwater attenuation that have been extensively studied. However, the potential of these systems to mitigate low-frequency noise pollution remains underexplored.

This study aims to investigate the acoustic absorption capabilities of green roof systems, emphasizing their role in reducing noise pollution and the importance of certain sustainability aspects. To achieve this, the use of resonance absorbers is being investigated, focusing on integrated Helmholtz resonators targeting low-frequencies. Initially, acoustic measurements are conducted to assess the acoustic performance of five different green roof systems provided by SemperGreen. Based on the measurements' results, different integrated resonator design concepts are developed and evaluated systematically in order to find the most optimal solution. FEM numerical simulations are performed in COMSOL Multiphysics by modeling a large impedance tube to assess the impact of different resonator configurations on the green roof system's overall acoustic performance.

The findings of the study demonstrate that the integration of Helmholtz resonators in the growing medium layer can improve the acoustic performance of the system at lower frequencies, however within a particular limited range. As a final step, optimization strategies including the introduction of cross-structure fins in the resonators' neck or adding a secondary neck alongside the primary one are explored as potentials to broaden the absorption peaks. From the findings it can be concluded that the development of more acoustically efficient green roof systems is feasible; however, further experimental validation is required to confirm and refine the proposed solutions.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	iii
ABSTRACT	v
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF TABLES	XV
LIST OF SYMBOLS	xvii

#### **INTRODUCTION**

1	Research Framework	3
	1.1 Problem Statement	3
	1.2 Research Objectives	5
	1.3 Research Questions	6
	1.4 Description of Research Methodology	7

#### **KNOWLEDGE PHASE**

2	Introduction to Green Roofs
	2.1 Characteristics and Typology13
	2.2 History Evolution
	2.3 Green Roof Benefits
	2.4 Guidelines to design a healthy green roof system 17
3	Environmental Performance
	3.1 Market Growth
	3.2 Available Market Trends22
	3.3 Economic Aspects23
	3.4 Environmental Aspects24
	3.4.1 Life Cycle Assessment24
	3.4.2 Environmental Assessment of Green Roof Systems (Empirical Findings)25
	3.5 Extensive accounts for the majority of the market
4	Acoustic Attenuation by Green Roofs
	4.1 Noise Reduction Mechanisms Related to Green Roof Structures
	4.1.1 Sound Absorption29
	4.1.1.1 Porous Absorbers
	4.1.1.2 Resonance Absorbers
	4.1.2 Sound Transmission34
	4.2 Empirical findings on acoustic behavior of different roof systems35
	4.3 Noise reduction mechanisms by substrates

4.3.1 Requirements for a green roof substrate	
4.3.2 Key factors in substrate sound absorption	
4.3.3 Acoustical characterization of different soils	
4.3.4 Influence of water content on sound absorption capacity	
4.4 Noise reduction mechanisms by vegetation	42
4.5 Conclusion	42

#### **EMPIRICAL PHASE**

5	Testing Procedure	47
	5.1 Impedance Tube Method Principle	47
	5.2 Sample Testing	49
	5.2.1 Selection Procedure	49
	5.2.2 Preparation Procedure	52
	5.3 Measurement Setup	54
	5.4 Results Analysis	55
6	Concepts Development	61
	6.1 Design Criteria	61
	6.1.1 Criteria for Acoustic Absorption	61
	6.1.2 Criteria for Sustainability	61
	6.2 Analysis of sound absorbers for integration and improvement	62
	6.3 Selection of low-frequency sound absorber	65
	6.4 Concept Generation	69
	6.4.1 Key Considerations and Design Challenges	69
	6.4.2 Challenges	78
	6.4.3 Final Concept Design	79
7	Simulation Modeling	83
	7.1 Objective	83
	7.2 The Simulation Software: COMSOL Multiphysics	83
	7.3 The Impedance Tube Model	84
	7.3.1 A Systematic Iterative Design Approach	88
	7.3.2 The effect of adding water outlet perforations in a Helmholtz resonator	91
	7.4 Results and Optimization	94

#### REFLECTION

8	Discussion	105
	8.1 Results and Validation	105
	8.1.1 Reliability and Validity of the Method	105
	8.2 Limitations of Impedance Tube Measurements	106

8.3 Limitations of Acoustic Simulations	
8.4 Research and Proposal	
9 Conclusion	
10 Recommendations	113
References & Related Literature	115
APPENDIX	121

# LIST OF FIGURES

<i>1.1</i> : Schematic illustration of the core parameters structuring the research framework
<i>1.2</i> : Flowchart of the research methodology
<ul><li>2.1: Schematic cross section of a typical green roof structure layering (retrieved from Vijayaraghavan, 2016)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>2.2: Classification of green roof systems according to construction factors, vegetation type and maintenance requirements. (Configurations and Technical characteristics retrieved from Raji <i>et al.</i>, 2015)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>2.3: Real scale green roof system applications by Sempergreen in Europe. Upper: Installation of an extensive lightweight traditional sedum system for the terminal of Rotterdam The Hague Airport, the Netherlands - Sustainable expansion project, carried out in 2020. Lower: Installation of a biodiverse system on the roof of a factory in Belgium (pictures retrieved online from Sempergreen)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>2.4: Left: Sod house in the US prairie frontier in 1901 (Photo credit: Public domain at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sod_house). Right: Traditional semi-subterranean sod house in Iceland (Photo credit Christian Bickel under Wikimedia Commons at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sod_house)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>2.5: Four main drainage material types used in green roof construction. From left to right: cuspated sheets, entanglement sheets, granular material and structural drainage (pictures retrieved online from SOPREMA, 2023)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>2.6: Common soil types used in green roof substrates. <i>From left to right</i>: expanded clay, sand, crushed bricks, organic compost (pictures retrieved online from LECA UK, Saint Gobain, 2024; William Mackay (precast) Ltd, 2024; US Brick, 2023; The Ground Up, LLC, 2022).</li> </ul>
<i>3.1</i> : Graphic representation of the global green roof market size. Based on the most recent data the market size was valued at USD 1.9 billion in 2022 and is poised to grow from USD 2.19 billion in 2023 to USD 6.80 billion by 2032, at a growth rate of 15.02%
<i>3.2</i> : Framework of knowledge gaps and future research on LCA analysis of green roof industry (retrieved from Balasbaneh <i>et al.</i> , 2024)25
<i>4.1</i> : Schematic illustration of Sound Absorption Mechanism
<i>4.2</i> : Schematic illustration of a typical construction of: (a) panel/membrane and (b) Helmholtz absorbers (retrieved by Cox and D'Antonio, 2016)32
<i>4.3</i> : Cross section of a typical cavity Helmholtz resonator (reproduced from Godbold, 2008).33
<i>4.4</i> : Cross section illustrating porosity. In case the grains or crystals of a material fit together very tightly, there are no gaps or pore spaces between the grains or crystals. In that case the

pores are called closed, they are totally isolated from their "neighbors" and the material has no porosity (Cross section taken from Arenas <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
<ul><li>4.5: Schematic illustration of the concept of geometrical tortuosity (taken from Tjaden <i>et al.</i>, 2016).</li><li>39</li></ul>
<i>5.1</i> : Schematic representation of the transfer function method
<ul><li>5.2: Cross section of the Sempergreen Traditional Sedum Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen).</li><li>50</li></ul>
5.3: Cross section of the Sempergreen Lightweight Sedum Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen)
5.4: Cross section of the Sempergreen Biodiverse Green Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen)
5.5: Cross section of the Sempergreen Lightweight Biodiverse Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen)
<i>5.6</i> : Cross section of the Sempergreen Detention Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen).
<i>5.7</i> : <i>Left:</i> The Impedance Tube setup used for measurements. <i>Right:</i> The different materials needed for the examined systems adjusted in circular shape with a diameter of 10 cm53
<i>5.8</i> : Procedure of preparing the vegetation blanket samples to fit in the impedance tube53
<i>5.9</i> : Procedure of preparing the extensive substrate test samples to fit in the impedance tube
<i>5.10</i> : Schematic illustration of the measurement set up kit from Brüel & Kjær54
<ul> <li>5.11: Graphic representation showing the sound absorption coefficient of the five green roof systems tested as a function of frequency for : (a) overall frequency performance (50 Hz – 1600 Hz) and (b): low-frequency performance (50 Hz – 250 Hz)</li></ul>
<i>5.12</i> : Graphing representation showing the effect of substrate thickness on the sound absorption coefficient across different frequencies (50 Hz – 1600 Hz)
<i>6.1</i> : Placement of resonant panels within the layered structure of green roof system is rather challenging and not recommended due to the lack of necessary air exposure and the potential attenuation and scattering of sound waves by the overlying layers
<ul><li>6.2: Schematic representation of the small exit perforation concept at the cavity base of the resonator</li></ul>
<ul><li>6.3: Different resonators configurations. Three different cavity shapes in combination with two different neck shapes.</li><li>73</li></ul>
<i>6.4</i> : Final concept design

6.5: Key design features of the concept design
7.1: Geometry-Impedance tube model setup used in COMSOL
7.2: The used model mesh. A fine mesh was used both for the smaller geometries but also for the area representing the impedance tube interior
<i>7.3</i> : Overview of the workflow used for the systematic design process
<i>7.4</i> : An overview of the resonator configurations used for the acoustic analysis
7.5: The effect of the outlet perforation's size on the resonator's frequency peak (case: centered perforation)
<i>7.6</i> : The effect of the outlet perforation's size on the resonator's frequency peak (case: off-centered perforation)
7.7: The influence of perforations' number on the maximum absorption coefficient value92
7.8: The introduction of secondary absorption peaks at higher frequencies
7.9: Graphic representation of the sound absorption coefficient as a function of frequency for the biodiverse system as occurred form the impedance tube measurement (black-colored line) and the simulation (green-colored line)
7.10: The influence of adding resonators on the Biodiverse system's acoustic performance95
<i>7.11</i> : Total sound pressure level distribution at various frequencies (50,65,75,90,110 and 130 Hz) in the green roof-resonators system (Results extracted from concept E)
<i>7.12</i> : Comparison of the system's acoustic performance among the different concepts developed
<i>7.13:</i> Introduction of cross - structure fins inside the resonator's neck
<i>7.14:</i> Introduction of a second neck alongside the primary neck
7.15: The effect of adding (a) cross-structure fins along the neck of the resonator and (b) secondary neck alongside the primary neck on the system's acoustic performance (concept E)

# LIST OF TABLES

2.1:	Most common green roof plant types and their green roof suitability 20
6.1:	Overview of advantages and disadvantages of the different options offered for integration. 
6.2:	Selection matrix for suitable sound absorber. Each type is evaluated based on the developed design criteria related to its application in a green roof system
6.3:	Scoring matrix assessing the performance of the four low-frequency sound absorbers 68
6.4:	Selection of suitable resonators materials. Each material is evaluated based on the design criteria related to their application in the green roof system
7.1:	Number of resonators for each target frequency in the different tested concepts

## LIST OF SYMBOLS

- a Absorption coefficient
- $z_{s1}$  Surface impedance
- $\lambda$  Wavelength in air
- ρ Density of air
- c Sound speed in air
- Wi Incident sound power
- Wt Transmitted sound power
- fr Resonant frequency
- s Cross sectional area of neck
- V Air cavity volume
- r Neck radius
- d Neck diameter
- *l* Neck length
- φ porosity
- σ Flow resistivity
- $\alpha_{\infty}$  Tortuosity
- R Reflection coefficient
- $\delta$  Neck end correction factor
- $\omega$  Angular frequency
- j Imaginary component
- $H_1$  Incident transfer
- $H_R$  Reflection transfer
- k Acoustic wavenumber

MMMM

INTRODUCTION

# **1** Research Framework

#### **1.1 Problem Statement**

Amongst others, one of the main environmental challenges in urban and non-urban areas is noise pollution (EEA, 2020). According to the World Health Organization, every noise above 65 dB can be considered as noise pollution (WHO Europe, 2018). There are many sources that cause noise pollution, but the most common are road and air traffic noise, construction sites, nightlife, and even several different animals.

Several studies have been done on the impact of road traffic noise, and it has been proven that it is the primary source of community exposure to noise levels above the European threshold of 55 decibels (dB). On the other hand, while aircraft noise is a smaller share compared to road and railway noise, it has been found that exposure to road and railway noise leads to lower annoyance levels compared to aircraft noise. The generated aircraft noise is particularly noticeable during takeoff operations. The majority of the sound energy in this noise belongs to frequencies below 200 Hz. In comparison to medium and high frequencies, at these low frequencies, noise propagates over long distances, penetrates freely through buildings, and cannot be easily absorbed (Sharp *et al.*, 2001).

Nowadays, more and more research is being conducted on noise reduction technologies. However, there are many neighborhoods, especially around airport areas, suffering from noise coming from the aircraft, and the impact of this noise has been recognized by several authorities as a harmful effect that should be reduced if not prevented. Therefore, it is essential to highlight this problematic factor that has been associated not only with community annoyance but also several negative health effects, from simple sleep disturbance to complicated physical or psychological disorders like respiratory and cardiovascular ones or even anxiety, stress, and depression (Floud *et al.*, 2013). Aircraft noise pollution can become an invisible threat for several living beings on the planet. As mentioned above, exposure to this noise can be proven extremely harmful for hearing capacity and health (WHO, World Report of Hearing, 2021). Despite the fact that many health issues caused by aircraft noise exposure are similar to the effects of traffic or railway noise exposure, residents close to airports or flight paths feel most annoyed by aircraft noise and least by railway noise, with traffic noise ranging in between (Miedema and Oudshoorn, 2001).

However, the implementation of preventive measures can be essential in order to reduce the impact of this invisible threat. Apart from correct noise management (e.g., protection of certain areas) and technological improvements that can significantly minimize the number of people affected by air-traffic noise, attention should also be given to the existing as well as the new infrastructure.

Vertical and horizontal green systems on structures were generally associated with aesthetic needs. However, they can be designed with different objectives, such as increased energy insulation, noise reduction, as well as storm water management (Pittaluga *et al.*, 2011). Green roof structures are expected to be built on the top of many buildings in the coming years. Along with enhanced aesthetics and increased biodiversity, green roofs have been proven to offer advanced sound-absorbing and insulating properties. Green roof systems are multidisciplinary solutions with a relatively high mass that can not only absorb the sound but also increase biodiversity and improve the air quality. Thanks to their characteristic layers and depending on the properties of the materials they are usually made of, green roof systems can provide high acoustic performance.

There are many building materials with high absorbing properties. Soil, for example, is known for its very good absorbing properties, as it acts as a porous absorber. There have been studies into the sound-absorbing properties of different types of green roof soils, and many of those types seem to have good absorbing properties for the medium and higher frequency spectrum. Especially the higher frequencies, by reason of their short wavelengths, can be absorbed very well. Additionally, the different green roof systems (intensive, semi-intensive, extensive) present different absorption characteristics for the different frequencies. Finally, the thickness as well as the kind of the different layers determines to what extent the lower frequency spectrum is being absorbed (Pittaluga et al., 2011). For instance, while the vegetation can absorb the higher frequencies, the substrate layers can block the lower frequencies more effectively. However, the low-frequency spectrum can become a real problem for areas particularly affected by noise. These areas, for example, can be neighborhoods around airports. Hence, studying the performance of green roof systems in the lower frequency range could attract particular scientific interest, and as a result, the question that arises is to what extent the green roof systems can be activated and absorb part of those problematic lower frequencies. In order to give an answer to this question, this study focuses on the selection of the different layers as well as their geometrical characteristics (e.g., an increased mass or thickness may lead to a higher low-frequency absorption). Additional attention is given to the combination of the different absorption mechanisms.

#### Summary

- Aircraft noise pollution is a growing concern in many cities.
- The noise generated consists of low frequencies (f < 250 Hz) which is most annoying and problematic.
- Green roofs are multi-layered systems that could be used to mitigate the problem of aircraft noise.

#### 1.2 Research Objectives

This study provides a simple and clear overview of the impact of green roof structures on reducing the noise pollution coming from aviation. To ensure that no future development will be adversely affected by excessive aircraft noise, an additional proactive planning approach is required. As green roofs are made up of several different layers, the main objective of this research is to examine to what extent the careful selection of those materials can affect the acoustic absorption of the entire system. Additionally, the implementation of sound absorbers is being investigated as a sound absorption optimization technique.

Additionally, sustainability and circularity are two dominant parameters regarding the materials selection. It is commonly known that for many materials on the market, there is no path after the end of their lifespan. Considering circular economy as well as waste elimination, emphasis is given to the potential of recycled waste materials as green roof layers (e.g., for green roof soil mixtures) in order to achieve a sustainable solution. In other words, this study will try to include to what extent the chosen materials can originate from recycled materials or re-enter the market economy at the end of their use. In order to develop the different concepts, the project is structured around the parameters of *acoustics*, "green" and materials selection.



*Figure 1.1*: Schematic illustration of the core parameters structuring the research framework.

Finally, apart from knowledge acquisition, the results of this analysis could assist decisionmakers in choosing sustainable solutions that could have potential use in real-scale experiments, especially in the application of a concept in a real-scale building (e.g. close to airport neighborhoods). Hence, this research may contribute to an overall reduction of sound levels in disturbed areas.

## **1.3 Research Questions**

In an attempt to translate the main objective of this research into an adequate set of research questions, primarily, all the relative goals regarding the main problem statement described above need to be identified. Following that, the basic research question is then formulated and stated as follows:

#### How can the acoustic absorption of green roofs be improved, focusing on the low-frequency spectrum and considering the importance of sustainability and environmental footprint/impact ?

In order to be able to answer the main research question, though, there is a set of sub-research questions that are automatically generated and need to be further discussed. This set consists of the following sub-questions:

Sub-questions regarding the <u>theoretical background and literature study</u>:

- 1. What are the main sound absorption mechanisms, and which of them work in the lower frequencies ( f < 250 Hz )?
- 2. How are green roof systems classified and how do they absorb sound?
- 3. Which of the green roof layers are the most efficient regarding low-frequency sound absorption?
- 4. What are the key sustainability challenges regarding the growing use of green roof systems?

Sub-questions regarding the <u>empirical study</u>:

- 5. How do the examined green roof components perform acoustically?
- 6. To what extent can sustainable sound absorbers be used in green roof structures to improve their absorption capacity?

Sub questions regarding the <u>evaluation</u>:

7. What level of sound absorption can be achieved through the use of alternative solutions implemented into green roof systems?

By providing answers to the aforementioned research questions, this study aims to indicate to what extent green roofs can be optimized to enhance their acoustic capabilities.

#### 1.4 Description of Research Methodology

Considering the nature of the research question and the objective of the study, the methodology followed for this project analysis can be defined and is mainly a combination of several research methodologies, with the most essential being the literature review, experimental measurements, as well as simulation modeling. At a first level, the research is based on:

#### 1. The Existing Literature

The scope of this phase is to provide a deeper understanding of the most important research framework aspects. Primarily, an overview of the available literature, including articles, relevant research, regulations, and guidelines, as well as results of similar analyses, is performed. In order to find relevant literature for the study, various databases are used, including the Delft University of Technology's (TU Delft) library, ResearchGate, as well as article databases like Google Scholar. Additionally, a combination of keywords is used to build the main search strings. Amongst others, the basic combinations are green roofs, environmental performance, environmental noise, sustainable materials, sound insulation, acoustic absorption, porous absorbers, and resonance absorbers. The literature review aims not only to unify the context of this research but also to highlight its contribution to the building industry through an academic prism.

#### 2. The experimental results and simulation modeling

#### Measurements

There are two methods of measuring the amount of sound absorbed by materials. One is the reverberation room method proposed by W. C. Sabine, and the other is the impedance tube method. In the first approach, specimens of the material to be tested can be put in a reverberation chamber, and the impact of the specimen(s) on the rate at which sound decays in the chamber can be used to calculate the absorption coefficient (ISO 354, 2003). In other words, inside the reverberation room, the absorption coefficient is determined under random incident sound field conditions. The second method consists of placing a significantly smaller specimen at the end of a pipe down which sound waves are made to pass through (ISO 10534-2, 1998). Measurement microphones are placed at two positions in the tube. The absorption coefficient is then determined by observing the interference pattern between the reflected and incident waves inside the pipe. The impedance tube method considers only a direct incidence field and offers the opportunity to measure the normal incident absorption coefficient on small specimens even though the mounting conditions may have a minor impact on the observed results (ASTM E1050-12, 2012). On the other hand the reverberation chamber method gives access to the absorption coefficient under a continuous interchange of energy between the directions of sound propagation that is more indicative of practical utilization of sound-absorbing materials (ISO 354, 2003). For the purposes of this academic study and for simplicity reasons, the absorption coefficient of the acoustic materials tested is determined by the impedance tube method, as described below.

**The Impedance Tube method**: The impedance tube method is commonly used to determine frequency-dependent absorption capabilities of several materials. The test typically employs an impedance tube, usually cylindrical, with a test specimen holder at one end and a sound source at the other, two (or more) microphone positions, and a frequency analysis system to identify the sound absorption coefficient of sound-absorbing materials for normal sound incidence. The specimen of interest is placed at the end of the tube, and a sound source, connected to the other end, is used to generate sound waves in the tube. The sound source is connected to an amplifier, which is connected to a waveform generator that creates the broadband noise, while the microphones measure the sound pressure level at specific positions along the length of the tube. However, it is crucial to mention that when the separation distance between the microphones is half the wavelength of the test frequency, then the method might be prone to considerable inaccuracies and errors (Hiremath *et al.*, 2021).

For the current research, the setup, concepts and materials, location and frequency of measurements, variables, equipment needed, parameters validated, and the configurations developed for simulations are described in chapter 6.

#### The simulation modeling

The finite element method (FEM) is a popular method that serves as a powerful tool to numerically solve equations arising in mathematical and engineering problems. FEM is widely used for complex geometries and multi-physics coupled methods. In acoustics it can be used to predict the acoustic behavior of layers of porous materials. In the present study, numerical simulation is performed by using the FEM commercial software COMSOL Multiphysics. Based on the measurement results and after careful selection of the different materials to be evaluated, different scenarios are developed and tested in COMSOL Multiphysics. In particular, the use of integrated resonant absorbers is investigated. The primary goal is to measure and depict the sound absorption through the different multilayered structures and the systems integrated into them.

As this research is focused on the lower frequency spectrum and as the presence of vegetation layer has been proven to be more effective for the higher frequencies (Davis *et al.*, 2017), both measurements and simulations of this project are focused on the layers beneath the vegetation. A detailed description of the simulation process is presented in Chapter 7.

#### Performance evaluation

Following the conduction of comparative simulations, the evaluation of the concepts is necessary. The evaluation of the different scenarios is mainly based on their acoustical performance. As depicted in the methodology flowchart of Figure 1.2, when the design does not sufficiently meet the design criteria, a new alternative concept is developed and tested. This process is repeated until the optimal solution is reached. An overview of these evaluations will be provided at a later stage.



*Figure 1.2*: Flowchart of the research methodology.

Given the above, the main steps of the research are summarized as follows:

- Literature study/review into relevant acoustic absorbing and insulating mechanisms, green roofs and sound absorption of vegetation and soil types.
- Based on the literature study and the market availability, choosing different green roof systems to examine their absorption characteristics. To effectively evaluate the sound absorption performance of the different materials, the impedance tube method is being used during the design process. The components are chosen based on the sustainability and acoustic design criteria studied in the research.
- Based on the measurements' results, developing different concepts for green roofs absorbing and insulating against sound in the lower frequencies.
- Modeling and simulating the different concepts using COMSOL Multiphysics and using the simulation results in order to evaluate their compatibility with the chosen design criteria.
- Final evaluation of the sound reduction properties of the different concepts in order to come up with the most optimum and promising solution.



KNOWLEDGE PHASE

2

# Introduction to Green Roofs

#### 2.1 Characteristics and Typology

Roofs can represent up to 30% of the horizontal surface of urban areas; hence they can be used as an essential tool to enhance the environment (Frazer, 2005). Although these structures are widely recognized as a distinct type of urban habitat, they have been largely treated as an engineering challenge, rather than as an ecological system. Architects and engineers have applied green-roof technology worldwide; therefore decision-makers and the public become more and more aware of these systems and their potential benefits (Porsche and Köhler, 2003).

Green roofs, also known as vegetative roofs, are living, multi-layered vegetation systems that contribute to mitigating several environmental problems (Mihalakakou *et al.*, 2023). Jim (2017) defined the term green roof to refer to an artificial human-made product installed on the roof of a conventional flat or sloping roof, including the necessary amount of added structural support. A slightly different definition was given by Yu *et al.* (2017), mentioning that a green roof structure is a functional building roof partially or entirely covered with vegetation.





The idea of green roofs was developed in order to encourage the growth of various forms of vegetation on the top of structures. Typically, green roofs are classified according to their usage, vegetation type, substrate type and depth, growing medium type, and maintenance needs (Peck and Kuhn, 2003). Figure 2.1 represents the typical structure layers of a green roof system,

Vegetation: sedum, herbs, grass

including the roof structure, which is usually a concrete deck designed to support the weight of the roofing system. The most important layers are the waterproof membrane, root barrier, retention and drainage layer, filtration fabric, a growing medium, and the vegetation, which differ according to the system type. Sometimes, depending on the system's function, additional geotextile membrane or a thermal insulation layer are necessary. As green roofs need to satisfy long-term client expectations, the selection of efficient green roof components is of great importance.



Maintenance: low	Maintenance: periodically	Maintenance: regularly
<b>Eigung a a</b> Classification of a	moon noof gratoma opponding to opp	estimation factors regatation time and

Vegetation: grass, herbs, shrubs

Vegetation: lawn, shrubs, trees

*Figure 2.2*: Classification of green roof systems according to construction factors, vegetation type and maintenance requirements. (Configurations and technical characteristics retrieved from Raji *et al.*, 2015)

Based on their purpose and characteristics, green roof structures are classified into three main types: extensive, semi-intensive, and intensive green roofs. Figure 2.2 illustrates the classification and comparison of the different green roof types that are installed on buildings based on required functions and costs. Extensive green roofs are characterized by their lightweight nature, and in their simplest design, they consist of a thin soil or substrate layer with low-level vegetation, usually sedum and grass. This basic system has been studied in diverse climates and regions worldwide. Intensive green roofs consist of growing media usually greater than 150 mm in depth and can be characterized as gardens hosting larger plants such as shrubs and small trees. Finally, Hui (2016) identified a third type known as semi-intensive, which often consists of a mixture of extensive and intensive system properties. Generally, semi-intensive systems are known as simple living roof systems; they have a slightly thicker substrate layer and usually accommodate ground covers, small herbaceous plants, and grasses. Finally, off the different systems, special attention should be given to extensive type as it is more commonly used and requires careful construction and maintenance.



*Figure 2.3*: Real scale green roof system applications by Sempergreen in Europe. *Upper*: Installation of an extensive lightweight traditional sedum system for the terminal of Rotterdam The Hague Airport, the Netherlands - Sustainable expansion project, carried out in 2020. *Lower*: Installation of a biodiverse system on the roof of a factory in Belgium (pictures retrieved online from Sempergreen).

#### 2.2 History Evolution

The origin of green roofs has ancient roots. The first installed green roof system was the hanging gardens of Semiramis, which nowadays are referred as the Hanging Gardens of Babylon and considered one of the seven wonders of the ancient world, constructed around 500 BC (Vijayaraghavan, 2016). Today similar roof garden projects are designed for high-profile structures, international hotels, business centers, as well as modern houses. These systems that are known for their thick substrates and vegetation diversity are designed as intensive systems and are able to increase the amount of recreation space.

During the 20<sup>th</sup> century, modern architects started to implement green roofs and walls in their design in order to merge nature with construction. In the late 20<sup>th</sup> century, the innovation of the German H. Koch to mix gravel and sand with tar to create waterproof material to accommodate vegetation growing. Later in the 1960s, sand and gravel were replaced by a simple drainage system and new design for a more lightweight system (Jim, 2017). Germany became the first country in the world to accept the concept of green roofs in constructions and implement innovation in roofing technology. This was followed by North America, Northern Europe and finally a few Asian countries.

In the 1970s, growing environmental concern made individuals more conscious, and the implementation of green roofs in constructions became more accepted. As a result, the

widespread environmental benefits offered from green-roof technology led to the development of technical guidelines, the first volume of which was released by the "Principles for Green Roofing" in 1982 and have been revised several times since 1990 (FLL, 2018). Several investigations have been carried out on roof construction and design guidelines, and since then, many German cities have implemented incentive strategies to encourage the use of green roof technology and improve environmental standards. According to Köhler and Keeley (2005), in Germany, green roof coverage space increases by about 13.5 million square meters (m<sup>2</sup>) per year.

Currently, based on the climatic conditions and the unique building characteristics, nations such as the US, Australia, and Japan are already taking initiatives to install green roofs during the construction of new buildings. This served as the impetus for a rise in green roof research, with recent studies concentrating on finding new, affordable, or alternative approaches for the application of green roof systems in real-world settings (Vijayaraghavan, 2016).



*Figure 2.4*: *Left*: Sod house in the US prairie frontier in 1901 (Photo credit: Public domain at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sod\_house). *Right*: Traditional semi-subterranean sod house in Iceland (Photo credit Christian Bickel under Wikimedia Commons at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sod\_house).

#### 2.3 Green Roof Benefits

Although their cost disadvantage is still a challenge for the building industry, over time, green roof systems have become a popular construction tool due to their environmental and social benefits. Green roofs are primarily designed with an engineering perspective. Because of their nature, though, it is not surprising that these systems also have an environmental impact. In particular, they are usually identified for aesthetic-related contributions, energy efficiency, as well as enhancement of the general environment. Once operational, green roofs can offer substantial environmental benefits, and many studies of the existing literature have recognized the benefits of green roofs at various scales. Amongst others, Vijayaraghavan (2016) highlighted several direct and indirect environmental benefits that are summarized as follows:

• **Stormwater attenuation**. Depending on their category (intensive or extensive), growth medium type, storage capacity, and vegetation, green roofs can retain rainwater. This automatically leads to stabilization of the groundwater level, reduction of the peak load, and, as a result, minimization of any flooding risk.
- **Thermal benefits**. Green roofs can reduce the building energy demand by reducing the amount of heat penetrating into the building. Depending on their thermal mass, the insulation provided, as long as the shading level, green roofs can improve the thermal performance of buildings.
- *Water quality enhancement*. Green roofs can have a positive effect on water quality in a number of ways. Both the substrate composition and the vegetation play a major role in either cleaning or contaminating the rainwater runoff. In order to be able to control the magnitude of contaminants or other particles in rainwater runoff, additional attention should be given to the condition-age, the construction, as well as the maintenance of green roofs.
- *Noise reduction*. By providing increased insulation and absorption of the sound waves a green roof can act as a noise reduction system to the indoor environment.
- *Air pollution*. The vegetation in a green roof can filter and purify the air, thus mitigating air pollution in many urban environments.
- *Aesthetic-related benefits*. Apart from environmental-related benefits, green roofs can promote aesthetic enhancement and restore biodiversity, especially in overcrowded urban environments.

#### 2.4 Guidelines to design a healthy green roof system

The environmental and social contributions that green roof systems can make towards creating more sustainable living environments in cities are recognized and accepted worldwide. It is commonly believed that these "green methods" will serve as an important climate-proof construction tool (Vijayaraghavan 2016). However, they can provide all the benefits listed in the previous paragraph, including noise reduction, only if designed and installed in a way that ensures that all parties involved work together to avoid the risk of failure. The majority of design considerations will cover aspects such as the usage, the location, or the installation costs of the system. However, it is necessary to take into consideration a number of technical requirements and practical implications to maximize the benefits and ensure that the minimum performance criteria are met.

#### Structural Design

Most deck designs are able to host a green roof system as long as they can sustain both live and dead loads. In the case of intensive green roofs, they can only be constructed on concrete decks. It is important that all the dead and imposed loads should be calculated in accordance with the design criteria of the EU-Standards EN 1991-1-1, EN 1991-1-3, and EN 1991-1-4. When it comes to dead loads, the weight of the waterproofing system, the saturated weight of the substrate and the components of the green roofs, vegetation, and snow loads should be taken into consideration. Additionally, access by people or machinery and vehicles, as well as point loads for items such as water features and trees, should not be neglected when considering the imposed loads. Finally, in the case of new construction, weight calculation must be determined

in advance, whereas for existing constructions, and only when applicable, particular attention should be given to the load-bearing capacity of the roof (RVO).

#### Wind Loads

Due to the wind effects, building structures are subject to pressure forces, the intensity of which depends on the direction of the wind as well as the shape and height of the structure. Hence, it is essential to take protective measures for the layers of the roof structure against lifting due to wind loads, especially when the system is not mechanically fastened.

According to Eurocode EN 1991-1-4, roof areas are divided according to their different levels of wind stress. Particularly the edges and corners are exposed to higher loads, and therefore they have to be secured by relevant measures. In green roof design, the dominant goal is to keep the loads and the height of the layer structure as low as possible. In order to secure the most vulnerable areas of the roof, usage of heavier materials, e.g. grass slabs, stones, or larger aggregates, might be necessary.

#### Waterproofing and Drainage

Waterproofing membrane is one of the most critical components of a green roof system. It has been proven resistant to several microorganisms and root penetration. Therefore, careful consideration and assurance before installation are of great importance in order to make sure that the membrane meets the durability and thickness requirements. Additionally, membranes should be carefully inspected in order to determine whether they have to be repaired or replaced before installation (FLL, 2018).



**Figure 2.5**: Four main drainage material types used in green roof construction. *From left to right*: cuspated sheets, entanglement sheets, granular material and structural drainage (pictures retrieved online from SOPREMA, 2023)

Ensuring a proper drainage system on a green roof is of great importance, despite the fact that they can effectively retain most of the annual rainwater that falls on them. Roof drainage design should comply with the requirements of the EU Standard EN 12056-3:2000 for gravity drainage systems inside buildings. In any case, the planning must ensure that all vegetated and non-vegetated areas can be properly dewatered. Both the roof surface and the layer structure need to have proper drainage. In order to manage the total amount of water on the entire roof safely, it is essential to determine the position of the drainage points depending on the different surface formations.

#### Substrate

A green roof system's substrate needs to be specially built to maintain the ideal level of moisture, nutrients, and air to support sustainable vegetation growth. These substrates are often composed of mineral products with particular amounts of organic matter of specific characteristics. Depending on the green roof type there are different proportions of the substrate compositions. The ultimate requirement in any case is to select a lightweight substrate with ideal plant-growing conditions (Ampim *et al.*, 2010).



*Figure 2.6*: Common soil types used in green roof substrates. *From left to right*: expanded clay, sand, crushed bricks, organic compost (pictures retrieved online from LECA UK, Saint Gobain, 2024; William Mackay (precast) Ltd, 2024; US Brick, 2023; The Ground Up, LLC, 2022).

#### Vegetation Type and Compatibility

The type of vegetation planted on a green roof's surface is critical for the system's performance. According to the *German Guidelines for Planning, Execution, and Upkeep of Green-Roof Sites* (2018), the main factors influencing the choice of plant for green roof systems are:

- a) Objective: Different plants translate into different performance. If, for example, a roof is designed to fulfill a specific biodiversity objective, then a mix of different species may be selected, whereas in the case of stormwater mitigation, sedums and other succulent plants that tend to consume large quantities of water and are highly tolerant in dry conditions must be selected.
- b) Plant specific factors: the plant's physiology and architecture (leaf shape, size, orientation) as well as sensitivity to light exposure or growth rate will affect the system's performance and its tolerance to sunlight/shade, wind, air emissions, and different pollutants.
- c) Climate and weather-dependent factors: The regional climate conditions (air temperature, solar radiation), the local microclimate, as well as the amount and spread of annual precipitation or any period of droughts can affect the successful functionality of the system.

Furthermore, the compatibility of the different species to the different systems is strongly dependent on the green roof application. In particular, simple extensive roofs mostly represent a form of vegetation and plants that are largely self-evolving and sustaining. On the other hand, more complex intensive roof systems require a wider range of planting, such as bulbs, shrubs, and even large trees.

Plant Name	Green Roof Suitability
Iceland Moss (Sedum Ternatum)	Extensive, intensive, and semi-intensive green roof
Yarrow (Achillea)	Intensive & semi-intensive green roof
Blue Oat Grass (Helictotrichon Sempervirens)	Intensive & semi-intensive green roof
Sempervivum	Extensive, intensive, and semi-intensive green roof
Thyme	Intensive & semi-intensive green roof

*Table 2.1*: Most common green roof plant types and their green roof suitability.

#### Fire Resistance

All green roof systems should be designed in order to be sufficiently resistant to the external spread of fire due to flying sparks and radiant heat. Depending on the system, consideration must be given to methods preventing fire risk. As many plant species can leave significant volumes of organic material on the surface of the roof and thus increase the risk of fire spread, increasing the content of non-combustibles in the growing medium while lowering the organic content is of great importance and should be carefully considered during the design phase. Moreover, all green roof systems should be designed to incorporate effective fire breaks. Last but not least, fire safety can also be significantly improved by making sure to prevent the system from drying out (FLL, 2018).

#### Maintenance

Green roofs should be designed to be of low maintenance. All maintenance actions carried out on the roof must be in full compliance with the relevant health and safety regulations. Regardless of the type of roof, all systems, intensive or extensive, require some degree of maintenance. While extensive systems often require the least maintenance, intensive systems need frequent maintenance and care related to the vegetation scheme (FLL, 2018). In the Netherlands, based on the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (RVO), maintenance of green roof systems must be carried out 4 times a year.

There are some factors that can affect maintenance and therefore are recommended to be taken into consideration during the design and installation phase. These can be the plant selection, the design of the drainage system, as well as the proper testing of the waterproofing system prior to installation. Proper maintenance is a key factor in the long-term success and functionality of the green roof. Hence, all maintenance activities should be carried out by specialized maintenance staff based on the relevant checklists and maintenance manual provided by the design team.

# **3** Environmental Performance

#### 3.1 Market Growth

The global green roof market is experiencing significant growth in recent years. According to the most recent report by IMARC Group, titled "Green Roof Market Report by Type, Distribution Channel, Application, and Region 2024-2032" (2022), the global green roof market size reached USD 2.19 billion in 2023 and is expected to reach USD 5.89 billion by 2030 and USD 6.80 billion by 2032. This growth can be attributed to increased environmental awareness, the establishment of new and existing building standards, as well as increased concerns regarding energy efficiency. The market is also expected to benefit from the rising demand for sustainable urban development and the integration of green roof systems into residential, commercial, and industrial buildings.

#### **Global Green Roof Market**

Market forecast to grow at a growth rate of 15.02% during 2022-2032



*Figure 3.1*: Graphic representation of the global green roof market size. Based on the most recent data the market size was valued at USD 1.9 billion in 2022 and is poised to grow from USD 2.19 billion in 2023 to USD 6.80 billion by 2032, at a growth rate of 15.02%.

Innovations related to green roof technology tend to make the installation process and maintenance more efficient. Furthermore, the integration of smart technologies for monitoring

and optimization of the system's performance is supporting the market growth. Given the growing awareness around the environmental benefits of green roof systems, the market of green roofs appears to have a promising future.

#### 3.2 Available Market Trends

The availability market trends information is based on the data coming from the latest report by IMARC Group, "Green Roof Market Report by Type, Distribution Channel, Application, and Region 2024-2032" (2022).

#### Environmental sustainability

As environmental sustainability is becoming more and more important, people are becoming more conscious of climate change and the associated challenges, which acts as a motivation to adopt more sustainable building techniques. These objectives are perfectly aligned with the ability of green roof structures to provide several environmental benefits, such as cutting carbon emissions, minimizing urban heat islands, and enhancing biodiversity. Additionally, in order to address climate change, governments and municipalities are promoting the installation of green roof systems. Similarly, business and property owners are adopting the implementation of such systems as a responsible measure to reduce carbon footprint. As sustainability is becoming an important aspect of construction and urban planning, and at the same time there is a growing need to address environmental concerns, there is an inevitable rise in the demand for green solutions in constructions.

#### Urbanization

Due to rapid urbanization and increasing in population density, the green roof industry is expanding. Traditional green spaces like gardens and parks are being replaced by buildings and infrastructure. In order to effectively address this challenge, green roofs could serve as a practical solution to transform unused rooftop space into functional green areas that can be used as gardens or recreation areas. Furthermore, green roof systems can reduce energy consumption in buildings and contribute to an overall enhanced and comfortable urban environment. This can result in growing demand for green roof technology in order to optimize space usage, hence positively influence the market.

#### Energy efficiency & Cost savings

Green roofs act as natural insulators, contributing to indoor temperature control. By decreasing heat gain during summer and heat loss during winter, they lower the amount of energy required for the cooling and heating of buildings. Over time, they become financially appealing for investors since they result in substantial savings on their energy expenditures. As a result, the need for green roofs as an affordable alternative is growing as businesses and homeowners are looking for practical methods to reduce expenses and enhance sustainability.

#### 3.3 Economic Aspects

Even if green roof systems provide a set of benefits to the environment and society, their net environmental benefit is always dependent on the use of natural resources during their construction phase. Nowadays, despite the widespread implementation of green roof structures and their overall benefits, the relatively high initial investment required for their construction acts as a barrier to their market penetration. The costs in the green roofs industry involve their initial construction, operations, maintenance, demolition, and finally their disposal (Bianchini and Hewage, 2012).

#### Life Cycle Costs of Green Roofs

#### Initial Cost

Amongst the different green roof types, there is a significant price variation due to factors such as purpose and size, location of the system, and country. Based on the existing prices in Canada, the current costs for an extensive green roof system vary from \$130 to \$165 /m<sup>2</sup>, while at the same time the cost of an intensive system is quite higher, starting at around \$540 /m<sup>2</sup>. The installation price is also affected by the labor and equipment costs. In the already developed market of Germany, the average green roof costs range from  $\pounds$ 15 to  $\pounds$ 45 /m<sup>2</sup>. Regarding the Dutch market, information from investment and management costs for a green roof are between a minimum of  $\pounds$ 2500 and a maximum of  $\pounds$ 5000 for a typical property.

#### Operation & Maintenance Cost

As most of the environmental benefits of green roofs rely on their performance, operation and maintenance costs are crucial to ensure their positive impacts. Some of the parameters affecting the maintenance cost are the size and complexity of the system, the construction characteristics, the type of vegetation required, as well as the operation and maintenance market price. According to Bianchini and Hewage (2012), the annual operation and maintenance costs for green roof systems in the Canadian market range from \$0.7 to \$ 13.5 /m<sup>2</sup>, whereas in the Netherlands the same cost for an extensive system is  $€4 /m^2$  (RVO). These costs usually cover periodic monitoring for debris or damaged vegetation as well as ensuring proper functioning of the drainage system. When properly installed and maintained, a green roof has a life expectancy of approximately 40 years. However, those maintenance costs can be offset by the energy savings a green roof system can provide throughout its lifespan.

#### Disposal Cost

With regard to the disposal cost of a green roof system, there are several options at the end of its life. Materials can be reused, recycled, or landfilled. Water retention, drainage, and root barrier layers can be recycled at the end of their lifespan. However, many countries do not yet have the appropriate facilities for recycling. On the other hand, landfill costs depend on several parameters such as the available landfill capacity and technology as well as the location and size

of the facility. Peri *et al.* (2012) conducted a complete research study on the green roof disposal costs in European countries. According to their findings, the disposal cost for an entire green roof system is estimated at C784 /ton.

#### **3.4 Environmental Aspects**

There have been several studies analyzing the costs and benefits of green roof structures, including initial construction costs, reduction in energy demand, and air pollution. However, criticism frequently questions the extent of green roof advantages throughout their lifespan. To address these concerns, it is essential to quantify and assess the environmental impacts across the different life cycle stages of green roof systems through a transparent, repeatable, and credible methodology.

#### 3.4.1 Life Cycle Assessment

According to Scolaro and Ghisi (2022), the life cycle assessment (LCA) is one of the most useful tools to assess the environmental and economic impact associated with green roof structures throughout their life cycle from raw material extraction to end-of-life disposal. In other words, it is the most comprehensive methodology to assess the environmental burdens associated with all the stages of the life cycle of products, materials, and human activities. This approach is based on international standards and allows the identification of improvement opportunities through identifying the life cycle phases with the most significant environmental impacts (ISO 14040, 2006). Through LCA, engineers and stakeholders can have a deeper understanding of the balance between the environmental costs and the ecological benefits of green roof systems, supporting informed decision-making for sustainable urban development (Coma *et al.*, 2018). It is, therefore, important that LCA studies explain the full design of green roofs, such as layers and materials, based on the functions required for the specific project and climate needs.

Considering the LCA of green roof systems, during the past few decades studies focused on assessing the environmental performance of extensive and intensive systems compared to conventional or other roof types (Chenani *et al.*, 2015). However, during the past 10 years, the application of LCA studies in the green roof industry has increased significantly. This interest is mainly associated with the global adaptation of sustainable development.

Balasbaneh *et al.* (2024) indicated LCA as an essential tool to evaluate green roofs. Based on the systematic literature review they presented, there is a little agreement on the best green roof choice. Many studies comparing extensive with intensive roofs claimed that extensive systems proved to be more sustainable compared to intensive systems. In particular, it was indicated that extensive roof systems have a significantly lower impact in the material manufacturing, transportation, maintenance, and disposal phase compared to intensive ones. Additionally, they showed that most LCA studies for green roofs do not account for all LCA phases, from raw material extraction to disposal. Finally, the authors detected and proposed several knowledge gaps around LCA on green roof technology to be surveyed in the future. This gap framework is illustrated in Figure 3.2.



*Figure 3.2*: Framework of knowledge gaps and future research on LCA analysis of green roof industry (retrieved from Balasbaneh *et al.*, 2024).

### **3.4.2** Environmental Assessment of Green Roof Systems (Empirical Findings)

As described in paragraph 2.3, green roof structures have been pointed out as an alternative environmental solution that can contribute to a greener environment and as a key mitigation strategy for the most concerning environmental challenges, increasing biodiversity, reducing air and noise pollution, and delaying stormwater runoff.

Due to the growing use of green roof structures, it is important to understand the environmental impact linked with these systems. Despite their many benefits, compared to conventional roofs, green roofs usually demand a greater amount of materials for their construction, thus requiring additional resources. Additionally, since the majority of materials used in these systems can contribute to environmental pollution, it is crucial to first have a look at the environmental impact of the different materials used for their construction. From top to bottom, green roof systems are usually made of vegetation, growing medium, filter layer, drainage system, and root

barrier. As mentioned in paragraph 2.1, additional layers such as insulation or waterproof membrane can be added according to the system's need. Recently, the various layers and materials of green roof systems have been extensively evaluated by several researchers in order to adopt the proper materials of green roofs through LCA.

#### Vegetation

The vegetation layer can improve the air quality and also enhance biodiversity (Dominguez *et al.*, 2020; Yang *et al.*, 2008). Due to its great adaptability, Sedum is typically the most widespread vegetation type used in many environmental impact analyses (Eksi *et al.*, 2020).

#### Growing medium

Typically this type of layer is composed of organic matter and low-weight porous minerals such as zeolite, expanded clay, pumice, lapillus and perlite. As the substrate layer plays a major role in the system's environmental impact, its selection should be done after careful consideration. For instance, the manufacturing process of expanded clay has a large potential influence, and even at modest percentages, the effects of the production are noticeable. Similarly, compost has a high negative impact on the environment, mostly because of the gases released during the composting process (Chenani *et al.*, 2015). On the other hand, recycled building materials or industry by-products, such as crushed bricks, fly ash, and coal bottom ash can reduce the substrate's potential impacts, as the effects of their manufacture are taken into consideration during primary usage (Chenani *et al.*, 2015; Pushkar, 2019).

#### Filter layer

Nearly all researchers that examined the effects of green roofs on the environment and took into account a filter layer did so using polyurethane or polypropylene. According to Bianchini and Hewage (2012), such materials are durable and lightweight; however polymer production process requires a lot of energy and emits harmful pollutants. Although recycled polymers are an alternative for green roofs, more environmentally friendly solutions need to be studied.

#### Drainage layer

In most LCA studies, the examined drainage layer was made of polyethylene, polystyrene, or polypropylene. Rincón *et al.* (2014) proposed the use of recycled rubber coming from used tires as an alternate option. According to the authors, using recycled rubber instead of pozzolana can have an overall positive effect on the environmental impacts.

#### Root barrier

The purpose of this layer is to protect the structure from plant roots and water (Bianchini and Hewage, 2012). The most common materials used for root barriers are polyethylene, polypropylene, polyvinyl chloride (PVC) or bitumen membranes. According to Chenani *et al.* (2015), polyethylene root barriers have less impact than those made out of PVC.

#### Water retention layer

The materials usually used in water retention vary throughout the researches. Recycled or polymeric textile fabrics, expanded perlite, rockwool, polyethylene, and PVC are some of them.

After their study, Chenani *et al.* (2015) reported that in all impact categories evaluated, recycled textile fabrics have less environmental impact compared to rockwool. Additionally, rockwool was proven responsible for the highest impact when used for water retention.

#### Insulation

Most studies consider polystyrene as an insulation layer, which is associated with high environmental impacts (Rivela *et al.*, 2013; Vacek *et al.*, 2017). However, other materials such as foam board, fibreboard, and modified bitumen can also be used.

#### Roof deck

While in most cases the structural support is the same in distinct roof configurations and is not considered part of the vegetated roof regarding an LCA analysis, if it is included in the system, then it is the layer responsible for the largest impacts, mainly because of the materials fabrication, such as cement production. If the layer is excluded, then the insulation layer accounts for the highest impact of most impact categories assessed (Rivela *et al.*, 2013). According to the research of Bachawati *et al.* (2016), concrete and rebar were proven to be the parts of the structural support with the highest environmental impact.

Bianchini and Hewage (2012) concluded that in general, the manufacturing operation of extensive systems is less pollutant than the one for intensive systems, thanks to their smaller thickness and the overall smaller quantity of materials and maintenance requirements. However, as intensive systems are usually made with higher and denser vegetation, their air pollutant removal process ends up higher than the one of extensive systems.

Rasul and Arutla (2020) studied the environmental impact of green roof systems in Australia using the Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) method. They compared the environmental impact of several pollutants released from the different materials used for construction between a green roof and a conventional non-vegetated roof. The results indicated that green roofs impact about 3 times positively in the environment compared to the non-green roof. Similarly, Tams *et al.* (2022) compared the environmental impact of two different green roof systems: a) one conventional system with expanded clay, pumice, and compost in the substrate and a cork drainage and b) an alternative system with recycled bricks and compost in the substrate and a cork drainage. The results showed that the use of brick substrate and cork drainage provided quite promising results with regard to the reduction of global warming potential.

Another study performed by Vacek *et al.* (2017) evaluated the influence of including extruded polystyrene (XPS) and hydrophilic mineral wool into the standard green roof assembly. The results showed that XPS cannot be justified as a thermal insulation material because of its significant environmental effects associated with its production. On the contrary, different results were presented regarding the replacement of substrate using hydrophilic mineral wool. Although its production phase has high environmental consequences, there was a decrease in the environmental effects during the use phase. According to the authors' conclusion, this material can be nearly identical to natural substrates.

All in all, most researchers concluded that, as the advantages outweigh the disadvantages, it is still beneficial to install green roof systems even if they contain polymers or plastic particles. However, in order to improve the overall sustainability of green roof systems, it is crucial to look into materials that can replace the current use of polymers and plastics (Bianchini and Hewage, 2012).

#### 3.5 Extensive accounts for the majority of the market

The green roof industry has been studied thoroughly and analyzed by type throughout the years. The choice between intensive and extensive systems can significantly influence environmental impact. Depending on the site, climate, and owner intent, both extensive and intensive systems can be successfully installed and used. However, when decision-making between intensive and extensive green roof systems, design aspects and maintenance requirements of each system are essential to be considered. Intensive systems offer a variety of design flexibility with diverse vegetation options and landscaping opportunities; however they demand a higher level of maintenance in terms of fertilization and irrigation. On the contrary, extensive systems are generally easier to maintain since they are designed with less complexity and lower plant diversity (Getter and Rowe, 2006).

According to the IMARC Group report, "Green Roof Market Report by Type, Distribution Channel, Application, and Region 2024-2032" (2022), extensive systems represent the largest segment of the market. As extensive green roofs are characterized by their low-maintenance and lightweight vegetation, they are the ideal choice for retrofitting existing buildings and structures since, in most cases, they require the minimum depth soil. These systems are known for their cost-effectiveness, as they are rather easy to install and maintain, making them a practical solution for projects with budget constraints or limited maintenance capabilities. On the other hand, intensive systems, while representing a smaller segment of the market, provide a wider variety of functionalities.

It is expected that developments in sustainability, performance, and integration with smart building systems will be the main focuses of future trends in green roof technology. As cities continue to prioritize climate resilience and green infrastructure, the development of green roof technology is expected to have a significant impact on establishing sustainable urban building practices and producing healthier, more resilient built environments.

## 4 Acoustic Attenuation by Green Roofs

As discussed, green roof systems have the potential to provide excellent sound isolation due to their low stiffness and high mass, and through surface absorption, reduce noise pollution in the community from traffic and aircraft as well as noise build-up in urban areas (Connelly and Hodgson, 2008). This chapter aims to examine in what way green roof systems are able to absorb sound and which absorption mechanisms perform better regarding lower frequencies. The main layers affecting a green roof's ability to absorb sound are the porous growing medium, any air voids, the water storage layer, as well as the vegetation layer. All these layers together, they form a multilayered system with a complex acoustic behavior (Van Renterghem, 2018a).

#### 4.1 Noise Reduction Mechanisms Related to Green Roof Structures

Apart from their aesthetic perspective, green roofs, due to their characteristic layers and material properties, provide high acoustic performance. These systems are constructed boundaries between the natural exterior environment and a controlled indoor environment. They can minimize the penetrating sound waves coming from the road-rail and the air traffic. The way green roofs can contribute to sound exposure reduction is by improving the acoustic inside and outside environment because of the beneficial sound absorption and sound transmission loss through the system (Connelly and Hodgson, 2015).

Generally sound is created by the vibration of substance and is spread through sound wave that is produced because of the vibration of the medium. When sound is spreading, part of it is diffused, whereas another part is gradually weakened because of the air molecules' absorption (Li *et al.*, 2011).

#### 4.1.1 Sound Absorption

Figure 4.1 illustrates the different paths of an incident sound wave. When the sound wave meets the surface of a material, part of it is reflected, part of it passes through the mass of the material (transmitted sound wave), and the rest of it is transferred to the material (absorbed sound wave). The amount of absorption is dependent on the porosity of the material and also on the frequency of sound that is absorbed. In general, higher frequencies are easily absorbed because of their short wavelength. When absorption occurs, the part of the sound wave transferred to the material enters the pores of the material, and part of the sound energy is converted into heat (Li *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 4.1: Schematic illustration of Sound Absorption Mechanism.

The most direct method for evaluating the effectiveness of sound-absorption materials is to measure its sound absorption coefficient ( $\alpha$ ). This index is adopted as the ratio of the sound energy absorbed by the material (E) to the overall incident sound energy spread and reaching the surface of the material ( $E_o$ ) (Li *et al.*, 2011). In other words, the sound absorption coefficient is the ratio of the portion of sound that is absorbed and to the incident sound reaching the material. Mathematically it can be expressed as:

$$\alpha = \frac{E}{E_0} \tag{4.1}$$

Where:

 $\alpha$  : the sound absorption coefficient of a material

E: the sound energy absorbed by the material

 $E_o$ : the overall incident sound energy spread and reaching the surface of the material

When the absorption coefficient equals one, this practically means that all the amount of sound is being absorbed (highly absorptive material), whereas when it equals zero, this means that no sound is absorbed (reflective material). A material that has an absorption coefficient of 0.20 will absorb 20% of the acoustic energy and at the same time reflect 80% of it back to the environment.

In order to reduce the level of noise by absorbing sound waves, sound-absorbing materials are usually used. These materials are typically lightweight and porous, and are designed to trap and convert sound energy into heat energy. Generally, when it comes to sound absorption in constructions, porous and resonant absorbers are used. The performance of these is evaluated using the sound absorption coefficient ( $\alpha$ ) (Arjunan *et al.*, 2024).

Through surface absorption, green roof systems have the potential to reduce the general noise build-up at the roof layer (Van Renterghem and Botteldooren, 2014). Connelly and Hodgson (2015) studied the sound absorption performance of a variety of green roof substrates and constituents. In order to do that, the normal and random incidence absorption coefficients were measured. Their findings revealed that absorption increased as the proportion of organic matter grew and reduced as moisture content and compaction increased. Amongst other findings, their study confirmed that sound absorption of green roofs is a function of substrate thickness, vegetation position, and moisture content of the substrate.

#### 4.1.1.1 Porous Absorbers

Porous materials are materials with interconnected pores that allow sound waves to pass through and propagate in such a way that thermal effects cause acoustic energy to be depleted. Porous absorbers are generally more effective with higher frequencies. Their performance relates not only to the material thickness but also to the physical properties involved: pore size and shape, porosity, flow-resistivity as well as the complexity of the propagation paths (Fuchs, 2013; Cox and D'Antonio, 2016). Amongst others, the most common porous sound-absorbing materials are fiberglass insulation, mineral wool, as well as acoustic tiles and foams (Cox and D'Antonio, 2016).

#### 4.1.1.2 Resonance Absorbers

Because of the size of the associated wavelengths, absorption of the lower frequencies presents a generally more challenging behavior than the higher frequencies. When large sound absorption cannot be achieved through porous materials, a different kind of sound absorber called resonant absorber can be used. Resonant absorbers are materials that vibrate when sound waves hit them, resulting in acoustic energy dissipation. The most significant difference between porous and resonance absorbers is that porous absorbers are effective for the mid and high frequencies, whereas resonance absorbers are mostly effective for low-frequency absorption. Additionally, the sound absorption for porous absorbers, depends on the material properties, while for resonance absorbers the absorption is dependent on the response of the whole system. The most common resonant sound-absorbing materials are perforated wood panels that can be used to create sound barriers and reduce undesired sound (Qiu, 2016).

There are two common forms of resonant structures: the first is the panel or membrane absorber, and the second is the Helmholtz absorber. The concepts behind resonant absorbers have been known for a very long time. While Helmholtz resonators can be designed with accuracy, membrane/panel absorbers are still designed by trial and error through experimentation (Cox and D'Antonio, 2016).

A typical absorber is formed by a cavity covered with a sheet. The sheet can either be solid and flexible to form a panel absorber (Figure 4.2a) or perforated to form a Helmholtz absorber (Figure 4.2b). According to Cox and D'Antonio (2016), in both cases the surface impedance of the resonant system is calculated as:

$$z_{s1} = r_m + j[\omega m - \rho c \cot(kd)]$$
(4.2)

Where:

- k : in the wavenumber in air given as  $k = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda}$
- $\lambda$  : the wavelength in air
- d : the cavity depth
- m : the acoustic mass per unit area of the panel
- $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  : the angular frequency
- $\rho$ : the density of air
- c : the sound speed in air

Additionally, the terms  $(j\omega m)$  and  $(r_m)$  are the acoustic mass and resistance, respectively, due to the membrane/panel or perforated sheet.





#### Panel Absorbers

The mechanism around sound absorption of panel absorbers is energy dissipation through the vibration of the panel. This absorber is frequency dependent and is typically a panel attached to a structural element that is designed in order to absorb energy. Compared to porous and resonance absorbers, this type of resonance is not commonly used (Mobley, 2001).

#### Helmholtz Absorbers

Resonators are used in various applications, such as musical instruments, research on acoustics, and even in engineering to reduce specific frequencies of noise. The ability of Helmholtz resonators to selectively interact with specific frequencies makes them a valuable tool in the

study and control of sound waves. The simplest resonance absorber is known as Helmholtz resonator and was named after the German physicist Hermann von Helmholtz (1821-1894) who first introduced this device back in the 19<sup>th</sup> century. Usually, It consists of an air cavity, acting as a spring, with a specific volume  $V(m^3)$  connected to the area to be controlled by a narrow neck with a diameter of d and a length of l. The size and shape of the cavity, as well as the neck, determine the frequency at which the resonator acts more effectively. For single Helmholtz absorbers, the walls of the air cavity are usually rigid and the volume of the neck is smaller than that of the air cavity (Godbold, 2008). Figure 4.3 shows a schematic diagram of a single Helmholtz absorber.

When sound waves from the surrounding air encounter the opening of the neck, some of the waves are absorbed by the resonator, while others pass through it. The resonator responds most effectively to sound waves with a frequency that is determined by the volume of the air cavity and the dimensions of the neck.



Figure 4.3: Cross section of a typical cavity Helmholtz resonator (reproduced from Godbold, 2008).

Kinsler *et al.* (1982) introduced equations to calculate the resonant frequency  $f_r$  (Hz), of a Helmholtz Resonator

$$f_r = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{s}{M}} \tag{4.3}$$

Where:

*s* : the stiffness of the spring calculated as:

$$s = \rho \, \mathbf{C}^2 \frac{S^2}{V} \tag{4.4}$$

Where:

S: the cross-sectional are of the neck

V : the air cavity volume

and *M*: the mass calculated as:

$$M = \rho \,\mathrm{S} \,l \tag{4.5}$$

Where: *S* : the cross-sectional area of the neck

*l* : the length of the neck

Then substitution of the stiffness of the spring (s) and the mass (M) in equation (4.3) gives the widely used formula for resonant frequency:

$$f_r = \frac{c}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{S}{Vl}} \tag{4.6}$$

As the effects of the resonator's geometry on its acoustic performance should also be taken into consideration, the end correction factor  $\delta$  should be added to the formula. This factor is simply used to account for the fact that the effective length of the neck is slightly longer than its physical length due to the behavior of sound waves at the open ends. For a cylindrical neck, the end correction factor, to a first approximation, is usually taken to be  $\delta = 0.85$ , as is the most commonly quoted figure in texts (Cox and D'Antonio, 2016). In this case the effective length is calculated as the physical length plus the correction length 0.85r, where r is the radius of the neck.

#### 4.1.2 Sound Transmission

Sound transmission refers to the propagation of sound waves through the different building elements. The measure of how much sound energy is reduced in transmission through the elements is called transmission loss (TL). The sound-absorbing ability of any building element can be measured in terms of a parameter called Sound Transmission Class (STC). This unit has been put forward as a class rating by the American Society of Testing and Measurement and directly describes the number of decibels (dB) of sound that is reduced when the sound waves pass through the material (Adhikari and Thapa, 2020).

Mathematically the sound transmission loss can be expressed as:

$$STL = 10 \log \frac{W_i}{W_t}$$
(4.7)

Where:

STL : the measured sound transmission loss *Wi* : the incident sound power

Wt: the transmitted sound power

In Europe, following the international standard ISO 10140, the sound reduction index (R) is usually used to measure the acoustic properties of an insulation material (ISO 10140-2, 2010).

As a series of finite layers, a green roof system impedes sound energy as it transmits through the different layers from the exterior to the interior environment (Long, 2014). Because of their relatively large surface mass density and their low stiffness, green roofs are considered as an interesting sound insulation material. However, the existing scientific research that has assessed the transmission loss by a green roof system placed on a traditional roof system is limited.

Connelly and Hodgson (2013) studied the sound insulation in a specifically designed green roof testing set. The transmission loss of vegetated and non-vegetated systems was measured for two different sites. After evaluating different vegetated roofs varying in substrate thickness, moisture content, and vegetation type, they showed that compared to a conventional non-vegetated system, an increased transmission loss of 10 and 20 dB for the low and mid-frequency spectrum respectively, is reported for the vegetated systems. Additionally, transmission loss was found to increase in a non-linear way with substrate thickness. Particularly by increasing the substrate thickness from 50 to 150 mm, transmission loss was found to be larger at the higher frequencies.

#### 4.2 Empirical findings on acoustic behavior of different roof systems

Given the existing literature, it can be argued that research studies on the acoustical benefits of green roofs are rather limited. The acoustical performance of green roof systems includes both the outdoor noise absorption and the insulation of indoor environments from the outside noise. With regard to this, an increase of the roof mass as well as the presence of granular material in combination with the vegetation type can highly increase the sound insulation of the system. Additionally, if there are no discontinuities like screens or skylights, the total sound insulation of the system increases highly above standards, transferring at the same time the problem to vertical structural elements, particularly glass components. Connelly and Hodgson (2008) studied the acoustical characteristics of green roofs and their contribution to the acoustical environment. Their study confirmed that this effect is particularly relevant to constructions near airport areas, where the noise sources are at a higher level than the structures. According to their empirical findings on two low-profile extensive systems of 33 m<sup>2</sup> total area, an increase of 5 to 13 dB in transmission loss over the low and medium frequency spectrum was indicated, whereas a 2 to 8 dB increase in transmission loss in the higher frequency spectrum was noticed, compared to the transmission loss of a conventional reference roof of the same size. In other words, they showed that in the lower frequency range, there is a slight enhancement of the absorption of the substrate-vegetation system, while at higher frequencies, the presence of vegetation leads to a decreased absorption compared to uncovered substrates.

Usually, the noise produced by the different sources in urban environments is reflected by the rigid surfaces of conventional rooftops. As the sounds bounce off the different surfaces, this results in an increase in the sound levels (Pittaluga *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, a green roof structure usually is a non-homogeneous surface that consists of granular materials, drainage,

and vegetation layers with high sound absorption characteristics. Pittaluga *et al.* (2011) compared and evaluated the acoustical performance of different green roof systems. They performed measurements on three green roof system samples, different for greenery setting, maintenance activities, and containment system. After the experimental evaluation of the absorption coefficient and acoustic impedance for the different samples, they calculated and compared the diffusive sound absorption coefficient as well as the normal and diffusive weighted sound absorption coefficients for the three different samples. Their findings showed that compared to the performance of the conventional horizontal roof, the green roof systems provided a generally better level of sound absorption.

Similarly to the aforementioned study, Van Renterghem and Botteldooren (2009) investigated the influence of a green roof structure on building façade noise load coming from road traffic at a close distance. They studied the acoustical effect of the green roof presence in two different configurations of non-directly exposed to the road façades. According to their results, an extension of the green roof surface resulted in an increase of positive effects on the façade noise load. They also discovered that by increasing the traffic speed, noise reduction effects grow more in the case of light vehicles compared to the case of heavy vehicles. A more recent study by the same authors (2011) analyzed the in-situ measurements of sound propagation over flat, extensive green roof systems for five different cases, with single or double diffraction. Their measurements showed that the vegetated roofs can have a significant noise reduction effect compared to the non-vegetated flat roof cases, when only diffracted sound waves reflect.

Despite the large use of green roofs in common practice, the experimental data to define their actual sound attenuation is still limited. This is due to the different configurations that green roofs might have, depending on their position, thickness, greenery, as well as materials used and stratigraphy. In the existing literature, these aspects are not much considered. Hence, in an attempt to reduce this literature lack, this study aims to explore a sustainable design approach for green roof systems in order to improve their acoustic absorption performance.

#### 4.3 Noise reduction mechanisms by substrates

In the previous paragraph it was explained that vegetated roof systems can absorb sound in different ways and at different frequencies. As engineering systems that are used widely, green roofs vary in terms of design and implementation. As natural systems, they usually vary in terms of the ecological succession of the different plant species (Köhler, 2006). As described in paragraph 2.1, typical green roofs usually consist of several layers. Those that have a direct impact on the system's sound absorption capacity are the porous growing substrate, the water retention fabrics, the presence of air voids, and the plant layer. All these layers together form a multi-layered system with a complex acoustic behavior. Amongst the different layers that can be distinguished in a green roof system, one of the most complex to characterize is the vegetative substrate. Usually the substrate varies in terms of substrate mix and constituents, the thickness of the substrate, the root structure, as well as the in-situ microclimate (Ampim *et al.*, 2010). For

an extensive system, usually the growing substrate consists of granular materials with open pores, which are considered a characteristic material property to allow sound penetration.

Generally, the substrate is one of the most important layers regarding sound absorption. Its high porosity facilitates the absorption of sound waves, hence making it serve as an acoustic absorber (Davis *et al.*, 2017). In order to be able to get a deep understanding of the sound absorption characteristics of an established green roof system, it is essential to primarily examine the absorption behavior of the substrate layer.

#### 4.3.1. Requirements for a green roof substrate

Over the past few years, the substrate layer of green roof systems has become increasingly important. When considering the growth of a plant, the substrate layer is the one that serves as the base for the plant growth. The substrate must be able to accommodate not only the plants that grow on it but also the part of the plants that remain underground (Chaffey, 2006). The thickness and physical properties of a vegetation support layer is of great importance with regard to how well the plants on it are supplied with nutrients and water. The components, composition, and thickness of a green roof substrate can vary according to the type and location of the system, the climate conditions, as well as costs and materials availability. Hence, the ideal green roof substrate varies and is therefore one that can provide stable growth for plants, including a favorable rooting environment and essential nutrients, as well as a free drainage system with available plant water. According to Ampim *et al.* (2010), a green roof substrate should therefore comply with the following:

- a) In order to help with the load reduction of the roof system, the substrate layer should be lightweight.
- b) The substrate of a green roof must be sufficiently porous to provide internal air circulation and free drainage to prevent excessive water buildup. Most substrates have a granular structure. In other words, the aggregates are separated from each other in a loosely packed arrangement.
- c) Additionally the substrate should contain a percentage of sand. The voids between the sand particles allow water free drainage and air entry into the soil. The percentage of organic matter provides a balance of drainage and water storage, while the proportion of organics to minerals varies depending on the vegetation requirements, the thickness of the substrate layer, and the maintenance protocol.
- d) The substrate should also be able to retain sufficient water and nutrition in order to support long-term plant growth, but not excessive in order to prevent unnecessary plant growth or lack of oxygen required for the vegetation roots.
- e) Last but not least, vegetated roof substrate should be structurally stable and capable of resisting excessive compaction in the long term.

#### 4.3.2 Key factors in substrate sound absorption

In order to get a better understanding of the acoustic behavior of the substrate layers, it is essential to first understand the basic determinations around a set of physical parameters that have a significant impact on the acoustical properties of most porous materials. For the purposes of this study, these parameters are porosity, flow resistivity, tortuosity, and material thickness.

#### Porosity

According to the aforementioned requirements, the substrate layer should be a porous material with open-to-the-external-environment air voids in its medium. The percentage of void space is the parameter that mainly affects the sound absorption capacity of a porous material and is also known as the medium's porosity ( $\varphi$ ). When a sound wave enters the medium's pores, there is a loss of acoustic energy. This dissipation of energy from the propagating acoustic wave is known as attenuation. The air molecules within the existing cavities or channels start to vibrate, converting part of the sound energy slowly into heat (Arenas *et al.*, 2010). Usually soils have porosities of 10 to 40% (Rossing, 2007). Cao et al., (2018), presented an overview on the design and fabrication of the most commonly used porous sound absorption materials. In most cases, it was indicated that materials with smaller pore size and higher porosity tended to exhibit larger sound absorption coefficients at the lower frequencies.



*Figure 4.4*: Cross section illustrating porosity. In case the grains or crystals of a material fit together very tightly, there are no gaps or pore spaces between the grains or crystals. In that case the pores are called closed, they are totally isolated from their "neighbors" and the material has no porosity (Cross section taken from Arenas *et al.*, 2010).

#### Flow-resistivity

The ability of a porous material to attenuate sound depends on its flow resistance, which is the degree of difficulty with which the air can flow through the open pores of the material (Arenas *et al.*, 2010). According to Rossing (2007), flow resistivity ( $\sigma$ ) is one of the most important characteristics of a ground porous surface that can influence its acoustical properties. If a substrate has a high value of flow resistivity, this means that the air has difficulty flowing through it. The values of flow resistivity can be determined either empirically through laboratory

experiments or by analytical calculations. Additionally, porosity and flow resistivity present an inverse proportionality relationship; as porosity decreases, flow resistivity increases.

#### Tortuosity

Porosity itself is not enough as a parameter in order to characterize a substrate. The pores should be interconnected, forming air void passages. A measure of the shape of the air void passages and the effect that this can have on the material's sound absorption properties is known as tortuosity ( $\alpha_{\infty}$ ) (Crocker and Arenas, 2007). In particular, when an acoustic wave enters the air void passage, in most cases it has to propagate through a complex path instead of simply flowing in a straight direction. The complexity of this propagation can be expressed as the tortuosity of the medium. Tortuosity is completely dependent on porosity. The most common measuring method of tortuosity is based on ultrasonic sound velocities (Cox and D'Antonio, 2016).



*Figure 4.5*: Schematic illustration of the concept of geometrical tortuosity (taken from Tjaden *et al.*, 2016).

#### Substrate's thickness

As it is generally the case with most common porous materials, sound absorption typically increases with substrate thickness and frequency (Van Renterghem, 2018c). Moreover, the thickness of a porous material has a great influence on the position of the peak value in the frequency spectrum. Particularly, the higher the thickness of the material, the lower the frequency at which the peak value occurs (Knapen *et al.*, 2003). Generally speaking, an increase of the absorption in the low and mid frequency spectrum usually can be regarded as a result of the material thickness increase (Cox and D'Antonio, 2016). Hence, if low and mid frequencies are not of great importance, then a less thick substrate can be chosen. In his study, Van Renterghem (2018c) mentioned the importance of porous substrates in order to properly allow sound penetration and particle interaction, leading to sound absorption.

Van Renterghem and Botteldooren (2009) examined the influence of substrate thickness on the building façade load noise because of light and heavy traffic for both intensive and extensive roof systems. According to their findings, in the case of light traffic, the influence of the different thicknesses (5, 10 and 20 cm) in both extensive and intensive systems was rather insignificant. On the other hand, the influence of substrate depth in the case of heavy traffic was large in case

of the extensive roof systems. For the intensive systems, the influence of different substate thicknesses was very small. The same authors showed that a relatively small substrate thickness and vegetation presence seem to have more positive results for higher frequencies, while for noise reduction in the lower-frequency spectrum, a larger substrate thickness is required.

Davis *et al.* (2017) studied the acoustic performance of vertical green modules with and without vegetation. Six different configurations were examined and assessed. Their findings revealed that an increase in the substrate thickness results in a higher sound absorption coefficient in the low frequency range. Additionally, it was observed that regardless of the significance of low frequencies in a study, a substrate thickness of 8 to 10 cm appeared to be an optimal minimum, yielding satisfactory sound absorption outcomes overall.

Finally, Yang *et al.* (2013) examined how the absorption and scattering coefficient values are affected by considering various factors such as the soil thickness, moisture content, as well as the vegetation density and size. Their measurements showed that amongst the different substrate thicknesses (50, 100, 150 and 200 mm), even the soil with the smallest thickness of 50 mm provided a significant value of absorption coefficient (around 0.9 for the frequency of 1000 Hz), while an increase in the soil thickness provided a very slight change of the absorption coefficient.

#### 4.3.3 Acoustical characterization of different soils

Unlike most natural soils, which develop in situ over time, green roof soils are manufactured substrates that can contain a variety of natural or modified ingredients. Aggregates coming from natural minerals such as sand and clay or modified minerals like expanded shale and slate are common in many applications (Hakeem *et al.*, 2016). The main challenge with these manufactured soils is the achievement of a balance between optimal physical properties like water drainage and optimal plant growth properties. In acoustical terms, most green roof structures can be characterized as granular, sound-absorbing materials. In order to determine the best-fitting mix proportions, it is recommended to conduct a preliminary study using a prototype, prior to the initiation of a green roof structure installation.

There is little published literature reporting the relationship between the properties of a green roof substrate and its acoustical characteristics. In order to determine which physical soil properties contribute more to the absorption of sound energy, Connelly and Hodgson (2015) conducted an experimental investigation of the sound absorption characteristics of six different substrates. The different samples represented a range of vegetated roof systems composed of natural materials. The main soil constituents were sand, compost, and pumice. The six samples differed in organic matter percentage, particle density, water storage capacity, particle size distribution, and total porosity. According to their measurements, the absorption coefficients of the examined substrates corresponded positively with organic matter percentage and negatively with moisture and compaction. With the conditions of moisture and compaction removed, sand seemed to have the lowest values of absorption coefficient. Compared to sand, pumice had a

higher absorption coefficient, whereas amongst the three, the compost sample provided the highest absorption range for the low frequencies (f < 300 Hz).

#### 4.3.4 Influence of water content on sound absorption capacity

The presence of water in any porous material can affect its absorbing characteristics. An increase in water content can cause several negative effects, like reduction of the effective layer thickness, swelling of the substrate particles, pore clogging, as well as water exchange between the different system layers. Especially in dense substrates, a high water content can significantly disadvantage its absorption characteristics. On top of that, when fully saturated, the substrate surface can be compared to a perfectly reflecting layer (Van Renterghem and Botteldooren, 2014).

Generally the moisture content in the substrate of a green noise control element is a physical property that affects the system's acoustical characteristics (Horoshenkov *et al.*, 2011). In general, the less the water content is in a substrate, the more enhanced the sound absorption will be. Water content is one of the most difficult parameters to manage. Typically, the substrates used in extensive green roofs have a lower water-holding capacity than those used in intensive systems. Clay-based substrates have the ability to keep a relatively good moisture content and also provide surface that attract plenty of nutrients plants need. However, clay substrates can often become waterlogged and deprive vegetation roots of oxygen. Therefore they are not predominant in green roof substrates as in natural soils (Conelly, 2011).

Yang *et al.* (2013) measured the sound absorption for eight different soil conditions, starting from no watering (dry) condition and for seven increases in the moisture content. The total amount of moisture added to the soil was 10  $lt/m^2$ . Based on their measurements, decrease in absorption coefficient was observed to be proportional to the increase in the soil water content.

Similarly, in an attempt to evaluate the influence of rainfall on the noise shielding through a green roof system, a real-scale sound propagation experiment, conducted by Van Renterghem and Botteldooren (2014), was set up near the edge of a tall building equipped with an extensive green roof system. The results showed that the sound propagation was especially sensitive to the substrate's water content in the frequency range of 250 Hz to 1250 Hz. Moreover, the difference in the system's noise attenuation between a relatively dry and a fully saturated substrate was up to 10 dB.

Finally, Horoshenkov *et al.* (2011) studied the acoustical performance of soil types used as substrates in green noise control elements as a function of moisture. The evaluated substrates consisted of two different soil types: a lightweight substratum with polymer gel and an ordinary clay-based soil. It was shown that compared to the low-density substratum, the addition of a relatively small amount of water to a clay-based soil sample can result in significant variations of its sound absorption coefficient values. As the degree of saturation is remarkably different for the two soil types, addition of the same amount of water to the low-density substratum sample

seemed to have a considerably smaller effect on the sound absorption coefficient values for the low and mid-frequency spectrum and slightly larger for the high-frequency spectrum.

#### 4.4 Noise reduction mechanisms by vegetation

In the last few decades, studies on sound propagation through vegetation have been a quite popular research topic. Several studies have been conducted to demonstrate the effect of vegetation on noise reduction. The sound absorption characteristics of vegetation become more and more important as it is increasingly grown on building roofs and façades. Vegetation consists of two main components, including the growing media and the plant (both the underground and the aboveground part). The influence of the plant layer on sound absorption is not directly obvious. Although Horoshenkov *et al.* (2011) showed that specific plants are able to absorb acoustic waves reasonably well, the acoustic system formed by grass and vegetation on top of a porous material is quite more complex. They also reported that the density of plant leaf area as well as the angle of leaf orientation have been recently proven to affect vegetation sound absorption .

Additionally, Yang *et al.* (2013) examined the influence of vegetation type, size, and density on the sound absorption coefficient. It was shown that sound absorption was dependent by the vegetation's dimensional characteristics as well as the proportion of each species. In particular, vegetation with relatively large leaves, when planted in large density, can be essentially beneficial for the higher frequency spectrum. In general, the absorption coefficient is increased with increasing vegetation density and coverage. Their results indicated that with increasing the vegetation coverage, a slight increase in the absorption coefficient was observed at low and mid-frequency spectrum.

#### **4.5 Conclusion**

The theory summarized in the current paragraph is an attempt to answer the research subquestions related to the literature study and, in particular:

- 1. What are the main sound absorption mechanisms, and which of them work in the lower frequencies ( f < 250 Hz )?
- 2. How are green roof systems classified, and how do they absorb sound?
- 3. Which of the green roof layers are the most efficient regarding low-frequency sound absorption?
- 4. What are the key sustainability challenges regarding the growing use of green roof systems?
- Being able to mitigate the impact of aircraft noise is critical in order to maintain a healthy living environment.

- Green roof structures are increasingly used as part of sustainable building constructions. Due to their sound absorption and transmission-loss characteristics, they present several potentials to improve the acoustic conditions not only to the indoor but also outdoor environment.
- First of all it is of great importance to maintain a healthy and well-designed green roof system. Therefore it is essential to ensure that through the design and maintenance process the basic criteria are met. Some of the key parameters are:
  - a. Structural factors like additional loading is some of the main parameters affecting the sustainability of a vegetated system.
  - b. It is vital that the waterproofing and drainage systems of the structure are robust in order to ensure long-term root resistance and proper management of the excessive water.
  - c. Substrate and vegetation type must be carefully selected based on the system's application.
  - d. Fire and wind loads should also be taken into consideration during design.
  - e. Easy access to the structure is important considering the installation and maintenance processes.
- Green roof systems have many advantages compared to conventional roofs. However, as they are made out of several layers, they require a greater amount of materials for their construction, hence more resources. It is therefore essential for decision-makers, to fully understand the environmental implications associated with these systems during their lifecycle.
- Several studies have shown that the sound absorption of a green roof structure is strongly dependent on the substrate thickness, vegetation type and moisture content. Compared to a conventional non-vegetated roof system, it has been proven that depending on the substrate thickness and moisture content, transmission loss of up to 10 dB for frequencies lower than 300 Hz is possible for green roof systems.
- As green roof substrates are the most important part of any green roof system, they can play a major role with regard to sound absorption. An appropriate substrate is expected to be stable, lightweight, and porous enough to facilitate water drainage and unhindered plant growth. Studies have shown that due to its porous nature and composition, substrate is the main absorber material of a vegetated system.
- Although substrate is considered primarily responsible for the biggest part of sound absorption, vegetation can also attenuate sound in different ways. Based on their type and density, it has been proven that dense vegetation can be essentially beneficial for higher frequency sound absorption and less so for the low and mid-frequency spectrum.

This chapter showed that the presence of green roof systems can contribute to the reduction of sound levels. Especially the porous substrate layer is the one that can absorb the lower frequencies more effectively. However, in order to achieve enough sound attenuation, an increased required substate thickness can occur, which, however, does not comply with several sustainability principles. Therefore, it would be inefficient to use porous absorbers for mid and

lower-frequency sound absorption. In an attempt to address this problem, the potential of an integrated, separate, low-frequency absorbing system will be further investigated.



EMPIRICAL PHASE

## 5 Testing Procedure

With the present developing focus on noise control issues and the rise of sound quality as a significant part of product design, acoustic material testing is turning out to be progressively relevant to specialists, engineers, and manufacturers of different industries. During acoustic material testing, different acoustic characteristics of materials are determined in terms of absorption, reflection, impedance, and transmission loss (Tie *et al.*, 2020). For the purposes of this academic research, focus is given on the acoustic absorption. In order to determine the acoustic properties of materials, many different methods can be used. These methods mainly involve exposure to known sound fields and measuring the effect of the material's exposure to the sound field. The selection of the most suitable method depends on the complexity, boundaries, as well as the context of each research. With regard to their classification, the measurement techniques can be categorized to reverberation chamber techniques, used for large-scale applications, impedance tube methods, and free field measurement techniques (Hiremath *et al.*, 2021).

#### 5.1 Impedance Tube Method Principle

When a travelling sound wave comes into contact with a sound-absorbing material, it cannot propagate without being changed. Among the numerous wave phenomena that can occur during this circumstance, reflection is the one with the greatest practical significance for an impedance tube measurement. In an impedance tube, the measurement is limited to the measurement of sound pressure level, and usually, only a resultant sound pressure level is measurable (Hiremath *et al.*, 2021).

The impedance tube method is one of the most common techniques to quantify the sound absorption performance of acoustic materials. Generally, measurements using an impedance tube require relatively small specimens. Specimens with small diameter ( $\leq$  30 mm) are generally used for high-frequency tests, whereas specimens with larger diameter (between 30 mm and 100 mm) are used for low-frequency tests. In the impedance tube, the test sample is placed at one end of an airtight, smooth, and circular tube. Generally, impedance tube measurements are performed using different techniques, including pressure-based and velocity-based methods. One of the most widely used methods to measure the acoustic properties of a material is the transfer function method, which typically requires the use of one, two, or multiple microphone points (Tie *et al.*, 2020)

#### The Two-microphone Transfer Function Method

Nowadays, the transfer function method is the more widely used technique to measure the acoustic properties of several materials. This method requires two mounted microphones within the tube. Figure 5.1 shows the schematic diagram of the transfer function method. The transfer function method, in contrast to the standing wave method, which uses a tone signal to measure the absorption coefficient for each of the frequencies, uses a wide range of frequencies, and the measured transfer function of the spectra from the two microphones is used to calculate the absorption coefficient (*a*). As a result, a single measurement can calculate the absorption coefficient for a wide range of frequencies of interest.

According to the ISO 10534-2 Standards (1998), the sound absorption coefficient is then determined by:

$$\alpha = 1 - |r|^2 \tag{5.1}$$

Where:

R: the measured reflection coefficient calculated as:

$$R = \frac{H_{12} - H_1}{H_R - H_{12}} \cdot e^{2jkx}$$
(5.2)

where  $H_1$  and  $H_R$  are the incident and reflection transfer respectively and are calculated as:

1

$$H_1 = e^{-jks} \tag{5.3}$$

$$H_R = e^{jks} \tag{5.4}$$

Where:

*j* : an imaginary component

 $k = \frac{2\pi f}{c}$  the acoustic wavenumber, *f* the frequency, c the speed of sound

x: the distance of the sample from the nearest microphone calculated as:

 $x = s + x_2$  with s the distance between the two microphones and  $x_2$  the distance between the sample and the microphone located in position 2

 $H_{12}$  is the transfer function between positions 1 and 2. For complicated acoustic transmission function, the following equation holds:

$$H_{12} = \frac{p(x_2)}{p(x_1)} = \frac{S_{12}}{S_{11}} = H_r + jH_i$$
(5.5)

where:

 $H_r$  : the real component of the transfer function  $H_{^{12}}$  ,

 $H_i$  : an imaginary component of the transfer function  $H_{^{12}}$  ,

 $S_{11}$ : the power auto-spectral density of the signal (from microphone 1),



 $S_{12}$ : the cross power spectral density of the signal (from microphones 1 and 2).

*Figure 5.1*: Schematic representation of the transfer function method.

#### 5.2 Sample Testing

#### 5.2.1 Selection Procedure

In order to identify the acoustic properties of each system, it is essential to determine its acoustical behavior. Based on the literature study and the research conducted on the market's available systems, it was essential to consider green roof types that offer flexibility both in installation and maintenance. Another critical parameter affecting the selection procedure was the potential application of the system in noise mitigation strategies. After extensive research on green roof typology and on industry representatives, Sempergreen, one of the market-leading organizations in green wall-roof construction, offering a variety of green roof systems and products to meet many different needs, was contacted with regard to the project's requirements. For the impedance tube measurements, one intensive and four extensive systems were chosen. Their easy installation and adaptability with the local climate, combined with their layering and system thickness, make them valuable candidates for investigation and validation of their acoustic performance. The systems selected from Sempergreen for the study are briefly presented below:

#### **Traditional Sedum Roof**

A Traditional Sedum roof is an extensive green roof system that can be applied to a flat or slightly sloping roof (0-5°). The structure of this system consists of a protective cloth, drainage layer, substrate layer and a Sempergreen Sedum mix mat made out of different Sedum types. The substrate layer contains soil and nutrients, providing life for several insects, and is produced in accordance with the German FLL guidelines for the planning, execution, and upkeep of green roof sites. In this light but nutritious soil, the different Sedum plants ensure a stable rooting, so that they can grow fast and remain strong after installation. This, in combination with the fact that strong Sedum species are used, eliminates the maintenance requirements of a Traditional Sedum System.



*Figure 5.2*: Cross section of the Sempergreen Traditional Sedum Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen).

#### Lightweight Sedum Roof

This system consists of a drainage layer, a lightweight substrate roll made out of mineral wool fibers, and a Sempergreen Sedum mix mat. The eight times lower weight of this system makes it an alternative solution for roof decks with lower load-bearing capacity that cannot support the weight of a typical Traditional Sedum system. As a result, almost any roof is possible to become greener. The Lightweight Sedum System can be used on roofs with a maximum inclination of 20°. Due to the open structure of the substrate roll, satisfactory root growth and distribution is ensured, whereas the capillary behavior of the mineral wool ensures effective rainwater buffering. Finally, the fact that the layers of this system are supplied as rolls makes the overall installation a fast and easy process.



*Figure 5.3*: Cross section of the Sempergreen Lightweight Sedum Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen).

#### **Biodiverse Green Roof**

The Biodiverse green roof system consists of a drainage layer and a layer of intensive roof substrate of at least 120 mm thickness, covered with a flowery Sempergreen Biodiverse mat. This mat, called Bees & Butterflies, has been bred with a mix of more than 20 native plants that are attractive for bees, butterflies, and other kinds of insects.



*Figure 5.4*: Cross section of the Sempergreen Biodiverse Green Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen).

#### Lightweight Biodiverse Green Roof

Similarly to the Biodiverse system, its lighter version, the Lightweight Biodiverse System consists of a drainage layer and a layer of 70 mm extensive roof garden substrate, on top of which the Biodiverse Sedum mat is placed. The lightweight system is ideal for structures with limited load-bearing capacity.



*Figure 5.5*: Cross section of the Sempergreen Lightweight Biodiverse Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen)

#### **Detention Roof**

The Sempergreen Detention system is used to temporarily collect rainwater in such a way as to effectively control and delay the drainage of water. Due to its lightweight construction, this system is an ideal retention solution for sloped roofs of existing buildings and renovation projects. The construction of this system consists of a detention layer, a storage layer made out of solid-wall tubes, a mineral wool-based substrate roll, and a Sedum mix mat. The detention layer uses frictional force to ensure that the rainwater collected in the storage layer is drained slowly.



Figure 5.6: Cross section of the Sempergreen Detention Roof (retrieved online from Sempergreen).

After the green roof systems were selected, the collection of the materials followed. A visit to the head facilities of Sempergreen in The Netherlands was conducted, and all the necessary layers were collected. Ensuring practical transportation was important; therefore cutting the materials into pieces of particular size was necessary to ensure that everything is possible to be lifted and transported. Furthermore, in order to ensure that the quality of vegetation and substrate layers remain unaltered, careful storage and an appropriate environment had to be ensured until the construction of the relevant samples.

#### 5.2.2 Preparation Procedure

In order to conduct the impedance tube measurements and make sure that the testing samples were compatible with the measurement equipment, preparation was required once the materials were collected. While the procedure for the different covers, foils, and sheets was straightforward and only required precise cutting to the appropriate diameter, as illustrated in Figure 5.7, the process for the extensive and intensive substrates and the vegetation blankets was slightly more challenging. Figures 5.8 and 5.9 illustrate the procedures for preparing the vegetation and substrate test samples, respectively. To prepare these samples, it was necessary to construct particular sample holders. Since the sample holders needed to be flexible in order to achieve a smooth cylinder shape, it was decided they be made of corrugated cardboard. The use of cardboards ensures, firstly, that the enclosed material is evenly distributed throughout the entire volume of the sample holder, achieving the most homogeneous distribution possible,
and secondly, that a protective net is possible to be attached on the top and bottom of the sample holders.



*Figure 5.7*: *Left:* The Impedance Tube setup used for measurements. *Right:* The different materials needed for the examined systems adjusted in circular shape with a diameter of 10 cm.

Conducting measurements in the impedance tube presents significant challenges, as the required procedure can alter the original specimen morphology, especially for vegetation layers. To minimize these challenges, sample holders were carefully selected to accommodate the vegetation blankets without excessive compression or interrupting the height of upper grass and herbs. However, the procedure proved to be slightly challenging for the vegetation blankets, where a few stems had to be trimmed as their size exceeded the diameter of the sample holders. By ensuring that all the different layers are suitably adjusted to fit in the impedance tube in the best possible way, the desired intention was to achieve realistic settings to the fullest extent.



Figure 5.8: Procedure of preparing the vegetation blanket samples to fit in the impedance tube.

Similar sample holders were constructed to accommodate the intensive and extensive layer of substrate consisting of lava, pumice, and compost. Three different heights were used for the different systems: 5 cm, 7 cm and 12 cm. Due to the substrate's loose nature, it was essential to ensure that the protective nets would be properly stretched to hold the soil particles in place. Furthermore, it must be ensured that there are no gaps in the vertical orientation so that the substrate can remain tightly contained within the sample holder (Figure 5.9).



*Figure 5.9*: Procedure of preparing the extensive substrate test samples to fit in the impedance tube.

#### **5.3 Measurement Setup**

For the measurements of the testing samples, the Impedance Tube Kit Type 4206 from Brüel & Kjær was used, as depicted in Figures 5.7 and 5.10. Measurements were conducted based on the two-microphone transfer function method described in ISO 10534-2. A large tube with a diameter of 10 mm was used, with a microphone spacing of 50 mm and a frequency range from 50 Hz to 1.6 kHz. The measurements were conducted using the Pulse Acoustic Material Testing LabShop Software (Version 19.0.0.128) by Brüel & Kjær. A power amplifier was connected to the impedance tube loudspeaker that was emitting quantified sound waves. The produced random sound waves propagated within the tube, interacting with the specimen an causing reflection. By measuring the sound pressure level at two specific microphone locations along the length of the tube and by making calculations that meet the ISO 10534-2 standards, the sound absorption coefficient of the multilayered specimens was determined.



Figure 5.10: Schematic illustration of the measurement set up kit from Brüel & Kjær.

As the Pulse measuring system complies with the ISO 10534-2 standards, prior to the beginning of measurements, there was a set of correcting actions that had to be taken with regard to any

microphone mismatch, involving microphone calibration as well as determination of the transfer function between the two microphone locations.

#### **5.4 Results Analysis**

Impedance tube measurements were conducted in order to obtain the sound absorption coefficient ( $\alpha$ ) data for each testing sample across different frequencies. In this paragraph the evaluation and comparison of the initial measurement results are presented. To evaluate the damping properties of the selected multi-layered samples, the dependence of the sound absorption coefficient on the frequency range was considered from 50 Hz to 1600 Hz. For the five different systems examined, two measurements were performed for each system, from which the average value was determined. In order to evaluate the contribution of each layer in the system's sound absorption, certain materials were tested separately as single-layer specimens following the same measurement procedure.

The results of measurements for the five different multilayered systems are presented in Figure 5.11. Graph (a) shows the acoustic absorption coefficient as a function of frequency for the systems tested across a wide range of frequencies (50 Hz - 1600 Hz), whereas graph (b) is focused on the lower frequency range (50 Hz - 250 Hz). Each curve of the graph corresponds to a different system. At first glance, the Biodiverse system (black-colored line) and the Biodiverse Lightweight System (orange-colored line) show high absorption coefficients, especially at lower frequencies. The Sedum Traditional System also exhibits high sound absorption, particularly in the mid-frequency range. In order to get a deeper understanding of the acoustic performance of each system across the different frequencies, a detailed analysis is being conducted for the low, mid, and high frequency spectrum, respectively.

#### 1. Low-Frequency Performance (50 Hz - 250 Hz):

- **Biodiverse System (black-colored line)**: Shows a steady increase in absorption, peaking early around 250 Hz with a coefficient near 0.95. This indicates that the Biodiverse System is highly effective at absorbing low-frequency sound.
- **Biodiverse Lightweight System (orange-colored line)**: Similar to the Biodiverse System, it shows steady but slightly lower increase in absorption coefficient until 250 Hz, and peaks around 300 Hz with a high absorption coefficient, around 0.95.
- **Detention Roof (green-colored line)**: Also follows a similar trend and performs well with lower frequencies. It peaks early around 270 Hz, reaching around 0.70 at 250 Hz.
- Sedum Lightweight System (purple-colored line): This system has a lower absorption in the low-frequency range, with a peak slightly above 0.60 at 250 Hz.
- **Sedum Traditional System (blue-colored line)**: Has good absorption values, reaching 0,70 at around 250 Hz, indicating good low-frequency absorption.



*Figure 5.11*: Graphic representation showing the sound absorption coefficient of the five green roof systems tested as a function of frequency for : (a) overall frequency performance ( $_{50}$  Hz –  $_{1600}$  Hz) and (b): low-frequency performance ( $_{50}$  Hz –  $_{250}$  Hz)

#### 2. Mid-Frequency Performance (250 Hz - 1000 Hz):

- **Biodiverse System**: After peaking, the absorption drops slightly but stays consistently high, around 0.80 to 0.90, throughout the mid-frequency range.
- **Biodiverse Lightweight System**: Similarly, it maintains a high absorption coefficient, though slightly lower than the Biodiverse System, around 0.70 to 0.85.

- **Detention Roof**: Maintains high absorption, with coefficients hovering around 0.80 to 0.85, showing consistent performance across this range.
- **Sedum Lightweight System**: After peak, the absorption decreases slightly in the midrange, maintaining high values between 0.80 and 0.90.
- **Sedum Traditional System**: This system shows a dip around 650 Hz, where the absorption coefficient drops to around 0.60, indicating less effectiveness in this mid-frequency range.

#### 3. High-Frequency Performance (1000 Hz - 1650 Hz):

- **Biodiverse System**: The absorption remains high, with a slight increase as the frequency rises, stabilizing around 0.90.
- **Biodiverse Lightweight System**: This system shows an increasing and steady behavior at a high-frequency range, fluctuating between high values of 0.85 to 0.90.
- **Detention Roof**: After the slight dip in the mid-range, the absorption stabilizes around 0.75.
- **Sedum Lightweight System**: After the mid-range dip, the absorption stabilizes around 0.75 to 0.80.
- **Sedum Traditional System**: After the noticeable dip around 650 Hz, the absorption increases and remains fairly consistent, close to 0.80 in high frequencies, showing strong performance in this range.

Looking at their overall performance, it can be argued that the Biodiverse, Detention and Sedum Lightweight System stand out as the most effective systems, offering high and consistent sound absorption across the entire frequency range. The Biodiverse Lightweight System offers similar benefits with slightly reduced effectiveness in the mid-frequency range but might be preferred where a lightweight solution is required. Finally, the Sedum Traditional System shows more variability, with strengths in certain frequencies but not across the board. Focusing now on the low-frequency range, the Biodiverse and Detention Roof systems are the most effective in sound absorption. On the other hand, the Sedum Traditional System presents the lowest absorption coefficient.

<u>Effect of Thickness on Low-Frequency Absorption:</u> Similarly, the graph of Figure 5.12 shows the influence of substrate thickness on the absorption coefficient among the different frequencies. What is observed is that the thicker substrate (120 mm) shows higher absorption at lower frequencies, peaking close to 500 Hz with an absorption coefficient near 1. After the peak, the absorption decreases gradually. Coming to the medium thickness substrate (70 mm), it also shows relatively good absorption at lower frequencies, but the peak is shifted towards higher frequencies, around 900 Hz. Finally, the absorption peak of the thinner substrate line (50 mm) is shifted even higher in frequency compared to the 70 mm and 120 mm substrates. Additionally, its maximum absorption is lower than both the 70 mm and 120 mm substrates, indicating a less effective layer at low frequencies. This phenomenon can have a theoretical explanation. As sound waves are longer at lower frequencies, thicker materials provide a greater mass and depth to absorb these long wavelengths, reducing the energy reflected back into the environment.

Additionally, it can be seen that the sound absorption coefficient increases with increasing frequency, and all three thicknesses show broad, periodically spaced, high absorption peaks associated with quarter-wavelength resonances, separated by reduced absorption troughs. The first peaks for all thicknesses achieve very good sound absorption; however the magnitude of subsequent peaks progressively seems to reduce with further increasing frequency. As expected, increasing sample thickness shifts the corresponding quarter-wavelength peaks to lower frequencies. This behavior may be attributed to material properties, such as particle size. Dasyam et al. (2022) investigated the sound absorption characteristics of granular aerogel agglomerates of different particle sizes for two different sample thicknesses. They showed that the sound absorption behavior of the aerogels was strongly correlated to their particle size. The measured sound absorption coefficient for the largest aerogel particles presented an almost identical graph yo Figure 5.12 behavior. However, as the average particle size reduced, the sound absorption behavior was primarily characterized by successive, sharp, closely spaced high sound absorption peaks separated by very low dips. This difference in behavior can be explained by the overall physical structure of granular materials. Samples with larger particles behave as conventional granular agglomerates; on the other hand, samples with finer particles are significantly more consolidated, with an appearance of a bulk material that flows freely under dynamic excitations.



*Figure 5.12*: Graphing representation showing the effect of substrate thickness on the sound absorption coefficient across different frequencies (50 Hz – 1600 Hz).

<u>Shifting Peaks</u>: As the substrate thickness decreases, the absorption peak shifts to higher frequencies. This can be easily explained because thinner materials are less capable of absorbing the longer wavelength associated with low-frequency sounds. Therefore, they start to absorb more effectively at higher frequencies, where the wavelengths are shorter and better match the properties of materials.

Generally, increasing the thickness of an absorbing material improves its effectiveness at absorbing lower frequencies. However, there's a balance because firstly, very thick materials can end up being less sustainable, and secondly, they can be less effective at higher frequencies where the wavelengths are much shorter.

All these findings suggest that depending on specific needs, each system might be chosen based on what the absorption frequency-range priority is. As this study prioritizes noise reduction in the lower frequencies, the next chapters will investigate to what extent sustainable absorbers can be integrated among the tested systems in order to improve their acoustic performance, especially in the lower frequencies.

## **6** Concepts Development

#### 6.1 Design Criteria

After reviewing the relevant literature and conducting the first acoustic measurements, a list of design criteria is created, based on the existing literature. These criteria serve as systems' requirements and are used to evaluate the systems' acoustic performance. Based on the results from the acoustic measurements and the design criteria formulated, then the procedure of concepts development follows.

#### 6.1.1 Criteria for Acoustic Absorption

- a) The system is required to yield an absorption coefficient that is as high as possible for all octave bands between 63 Hz and 250 Hz.
- b) The substrate and integrated absorber composition is required to be optimized for acoustic absorption.

#### 6.1.2 Criteria for Sustainability

#### Environmental Impact

- a) The green roof system must contribute to the overall minimization of energy consumed during design and manufacture.
- b) The integrated materials should act as low-carbon materials, reducing or eliminating the overall CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and resource depletion.

#### **Circularity**

- a) The system should consist of durable materials, with a long life span that reduces the frequency of component replacement.
- b) The used components should be designed to be reused multiple times, either for the same purpose or repurposed for different uses.
- c) The used components should be designed to be easily recyclable at the end of their life, minimizing the complexity of separating materials and maximizing the quality of recycled output.

#### **Durability**

a) The entire system should ideally have a lifetime of several decades, so that in the end it can become a long-term investment.

- b) The system has to be suitable for the Dutch climate.
- c) The selected materials should be lightweight, and resistant to physical wear, corrosion, and environmental factors such as UV light, moisture, or extreme temperatures.
- d) To ensure long-term functionality and minimize the need for repairs, the overall lifespan of any integrated material should ideally match or exceed the expected lifespan of the green roof system.

#### 6.2 Analysis of sound absorbers for integration and improvement

The previous chapters showed that adding green roof systems on structures can improve sound absorption. However, the low-frequency absorption performance is not sufficient to attenuate aircraft noise. In an attempt to solve this problem, the implementation of a low-frequency absorbing system in green roof systems is examined. The selection of the most suitable sound absorbers was performed through a process of trial and error, according to the different options and designs that were presented in the literature, considering compatibility with the examined green roof systems as well as the results from the acoustic measurements.

#### Perforated panels

As described in paragraph 4.1.1.2, resonant panel absorbers are rigid panels, usually attached to structural elements that are designed to absorb sound energy and engineered to resonate at specific frequencies. These panels typically consist of a rigid perforated panel, with an air cavity or porous medium that can enhance sound absorption, located behind the panel. When sound waves reach the surface of a perforated panel, air particles in the perforations begin to vibrate. The interaction of the vibrating air particles with the walls of the perforations results in friction. This friction dissipates the vibrational energy of the air particles into heat, reducing the energy of the sound wave. The effectiveness of the sound absorption depends on several factors, including the size and shape of the perforations, the percentage of open area, the thickness of the panel, and the backing material. These parameters influence the resonant behavior of the system, allowing the panel to target specific frequency ranges for sound absorption. (Cox and D'Antonio, 2016). Perforated panels could potentially be used in green roofs; however their application depends on the design of the system, and challenges such as moisture resistance, air access requirements, additional weight, and durability of the panels in outdoor conditions should be carefully considered.

In practice, placing a resonant panel within the layered structure of a green roof structure would present several challenges. These challenges are primarily related to the unique functional requirements of resonant panels and characteristics of green roof materials. First of all, for resonant panels to operate effectively, they should have access to air environment, both for resonance and for sound wave interaction. As resonant panels function by allowing air to move in and out of cavities or perforations, creating oscillations at specific frequencies that absorb sound energy, if embedded within a green roof structure, the panels would be covered by the layers of growing medium and vegetation mat. These layers would not allow for adequate airflow

to reach the resonant panel, as they are quite dense and compact, particularly when fully saturated or vegetated. This restriction would diminish the panel's ability to resonate and absorb sound effectively, especially at lower frequencies. Additionally, the presence of a thick growing medium above the resonant panel may alter the frequency response of the system, potentially shifting the resonant frequency out of the desired range. Finally, the pressure added from the growing medium and vegetation layers may exert additional damping on the panel, preventing it from reaching full resonance. Consequently, implementation of resonant panels directly within the green roof layering is inherently challenging, and the low-frequency absorption efficiency of the resonant panels would be significantly compromised, making the approach likely ineffective for targeted low-frequency sound control within a green roof structure.



*Figure 6.1*: Placement of resonant panels within the layered structure of green roof system is rather challenging and not recommended due to the lack of necessary air exposure and the potential attenuation and scattering of sound waves by the overlying layers.

#### Microperforated Panels (MPPs)

Microperforated panels are panels that are characterized by a series of regularly spaced, milimeter-scale pores or perforations that allow sound attenuation due to viscous friction in the pores. Microperforated panels and resonant panels are different in design, function, and acousic properties (Yeang *et al.*, 2024). The idea of microperforated panels was initially proposed by Maa (1998) decades ago, where an analytical model was proposed, describing the acoustic impedance of MPP by considering the viscous losses in the perforation. In general, the absorption characteristics of a microperforated panel (MPP) are adequate in the mid-to-high-frequency range but deficient at low frequencies, with a narrow bandwidth of absorption. MPPs' absorption characteristics are also influenced by the size of the perforations, the backing material, and the air space depth. The panel itself may not vibrate but does allow sound waves to interact with a backing material, such as a porous absorber or an air gap, resulting in acoustic absorption.

Placing a microperforated panel in a green roof system is theoretically possible; however there are a plethora of practical and functional issues that need to be taken into account. As previously stated, MPPs are typically thin, rigid panels with sub-milimeter size perforations that are

initially designed for indoor applications; hence they are suited for controlled environments, free of moisture or other detrimental to their performance conditions. On the other hand, green roofs are consistently exposed to various forms of moisture, such as rain, irrigation, and humidity. MPPs, particularly those placed in an outdoor environment, are susceptible to clogging through the penetration of moisture into their small perforations, which in effect diminishes the ability of the panels to absorb sound. In addition, if the panels are not designed to withstand outdoor conditions, the prolonged exposure to moisture may further lead to corrosion or degradation of the materials. Green roof systems contain substrate, vegetation, and organic materials, which tend to accumulate on the surface of the MPPs. This accumulation would impede the microperforations, thereby substantially restricting the sound-absorbing capabilities of the panel. In order to eliminate these obstructions, consistent maintenance would be necessary. However, the feasibility of conducting suc maintenance in a green roof system would be constrained.

To summarize, the integration of MPPs into green roof systems may be challenging due to environmental concerns and functional restrictions. MPPs are built and optimized for indoor use, making them less appropriate to the dampness, debris, and overall requirements of a green roof environment. As a result, MPPs are not further investigated in this research, and alternative materials and design methodologies are proposed.

#### Helmholtz Resonators

A Helmholtz resonator can be tuned to absorb specific frequencies; hence integrating this into a green roof system could help to mitigate noise pollution, particularly in areas with high levels of ambient noise, such as highways and airports. As described in chapter 4, Helmholtz resonators have the ability to perform well for low-frequency sound absorption, usually more effectively than the equivalent required thickness of a porous absorber. A Helmholtz resonator has a basic structure, usually consisting of a cavity and a neck. This provides the flexibility of straightforward design and integration into a variety of systems. Furthermore, Helmholtz resonators are customizable in the sense that by adjusting the size of the cavity and the neck, the resonators may be set to resonate at certain frequencies, making them suitable for a variety of applications. The fundamental disadvantage of Helmholtz resonators is that their absorption bandwidth is confined to a small region near the resonance frequency. To avoid potential collapse, resonators designed for usage at very low frequencies should have adequate dimensions and a sufficient side-wall thickness.

Helmholtz resonators can be integrated into green roofs, but their application necessitates careful consideration of design and functional objectives. Employing Helmholtz resonators in a green roof system, like employing resonant panels, requires integrating their shape and structure without compromising the system's essential functions.

#### 1/4 wavelength tubes (QWT)

Quarter wavelength tubes (QWT) are tubes that are capped at one end. They are resonators that function similarly to Helmholtz resonators, in that a spring vibrates against a mass in a confined

container, and their concept is significant in acoustic engineering and noise reduction. These tubes are very good at reducing low-frequency noise, such as traffic and aviation noise, which can be difficult to control with traditional materials (Van der Eerden, 2000). One tube is typically open at one end and closed at the other, with resonance frequency that can be calculated using the following formula:

$$f_{\rm res} = \frac{(2m-1)c_0}{4L}$$
(6.1)

where  $c_o$  is the speed of sound in the air, f is the frequency, and m an integer (Catapane *et al.*, 2023).

As a result, the length of a QWTs is determined using the targeted frequency of sound and should be equal to one-quarter of the wavelength of the desired frequency. The closed end of the tube creates a point of no displacement, while the open end produces a point of maximum displacement. Due to their geometry, QWT offer the possibility of higher order modes in the tube, which allows for additional resonant peaks at higher octaves. The tubes can be made out of durable plastic, metal, or concrete and can be tuned for low-frequency sound attenuation, as the resonant frequency depends on the tube's length and diameter. One of the main drawbacks of QWT is its required length. As an example, to have a 100 Hz resonant frequency, a straight QWT should have a length of 0.85 m.

Even if the length L of a QWT is halved, as in the case of U-shaped tubes, the resonator's frequency response will probably be altered, leading to a shift in resonance patterns. This differentiation can eliminate some resonant peaks, as with a half-length configuration, the tube now will only respond strongly to frequencies at even multiples of its fundamental frequency, particularly affecting odd harmonics and reducing the tube's ability to cover a broader range of low frequencies effectively.

#### 6.3 Selection of low-frequency sound absorber

To find the best integration solution, a comparative analysis of the various possibilities is required. Table 6.1 summarizes the advantages and disadvantages of the various options, showing the strengths and limitations of each technique and giving useful information for informed decision-making in the selection of effective sound control solutions.

In addition to this comparative analysis, each system should be carefully evaluated for its adaptability to real-world environmental conditions. While some systems may behave similarly under controlled conditions, others may be capable of functioning in a variety of situations, such as the damp environment found on a green roof system. This flexibility potential is critical for achieving a combination of maximal acoustic performance and balanced integration.

### • Comparative matrix of <u>the advantages and disadvantages</u> of potential integrated systems

Table 6.1: Overview of advantages and disadvantages of the different options offered for integration.

<b>Resonant Panels</b>	Microperforated Panels (MPPs)	Helmholtz Resonators	¼ wavelength tubes	
0 0				
(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	
Easy fabrication	Easy fabrication	Well-studied and well-documented		
Relatively slim	Relatively slim	Simple structures	Simple design	
Easy tuning by adjusting the panel's mass or air cavity behind it	Easy tuning by adjusting panel's mass or air cavity behind it	Simple tuning by altering the neck and cavity dimensions	Easy tuning by adjusting tube diameter and length	
Highly effective at low to mid frequency sound waves	Highly effective at mid to high frequencies		Multiple resonant peaks are allowed	
(-)	(-)	(-)	(-)	
Narrow absorption bandwidth	Less effective at low frequency sound waves	Narrow bandwidth of operation	Narrow bandwidth of operation	
Large surface area required	Large surface area required		Long required length	
Resonance behavior might be blocked if placed within the green roof layering	Resonance behavior might be blocked if placed within the green roof layering	Complex calculations to achieve desired resonant frequency	to red equency	
Integration in green roof structures might hinder the system's water drainage	High exposure to moisture, irrigation and humidity can clog micro perforations.	Less accurate for complex geometries		

After careful consideration of the different options, a more detailed analysis was conducted in order to evaluate the performance of each absorber with regard to the design criteria. A detailed overview of this analysis is presented in Table 6.2. Finally, in an attempt to make decision-making an easy procedure, most of the information provided in Table 6.2 is translated into a scoring system provided by Table 6.3 that concludes the selection procedure. It is evident that Helmholtz Resonators seem to be able to provide a better balance between acoustic performance and integration with the existing green roof system.

#### Comparative matrix <u>with regard to design requirements</u>

*Table 6.2*: Selection matrix for suitable sound absorber. Each type is evaluated based on the developed design criteria related to its application in a green roof system.

	<b>Resonant Panels</b>	Microperforated Panels (MPPs)	Helmholtz Resonators	<sup>1</sup> ⁄4 wavelength tubes
Criteria	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0		
Sound absorption effectivene ss	Might not be able to reach full resonance due to air-access obstruction.	Effective for mid-to high frequencies but less effective for low frequencies. Effectiveness in outdoor environments is limited.	Highly effective for specific low- frequencies.	Effective for narrow frequency range.
Tuning	Versatile and can be tuned for specific frequencies.	Needs tuning for each frequency.	Needs tuning for each frequency.	Tuning depends on accurate dimensions.
Installatio n and Integration	Integration with the system might be unsuccessful if panel loses ability to resonate effectively.	Can be integrated into the system or placed in visible areas.	Can be integrated into the substrate or placed in visible areas. May not blend as seamlessly into the design	Can be installed and integrated when space allows.
Cost and Complexity	Moderate cost and relatively simple to implement	Requires precise construction.	Potentially higher cost and requires precise construction	Moderate cost; requires careful design and placement
Circularity	Modular design can allow for easy replacement or upgrades, enhancing longevity	They can be reused depending on accurate tuning.	They can be reused or recycled depending on accurate tuning and material choice	Practical reusability may be limited due to specific dimensions
Durability	Usually made of durable materials that can be easy to maintain	If they are made of robust material, they can be durable over time.	While durable, they have more intricate components (cavity, neck) that might be more vulnerable to external conditions.	If made form non-metallic or non-plastic materials they can be more susceptible to degradation. Their elongated form can increase vulnerability.

#### • Selection of suitable sound absorber

	<b>Resonant Panels</b>	Microperforated Panels (MPPs)	Helmholtz Resonators	<sup>1</sup> ⁄4 wavelength tubes
	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0		
Simple tuning	1	1	1	1
Space- efficiency	1	1	1	0
Easy integration	0	0	1	0.5
Circularity	1	1	1	1
Durability	1	1	0.5	0.5
Total	4	4	4.5	3

Table 6.3: Scoring matrix assessing the performance of the four low-frequency sound absorbers.

After careful consideration of all aspects that need to be fulfilled, implementing Helmholtz resonators in green roof structures can be an innovative way to combine acoustic optimization with ecological design. Therefore, the option that is further examined for integration is the use of Helmholtz resonators.

This selection scoring matrix is a useful systematic approach to evaluate different design options, including the choice of Helmholtz resonators. However, what is important to be mentioned is that while this matrix helps to quantify various criteria such as acoustic performance, durability, and integration feasibility, it is important to acknowledge that such a method is inherently subjective. And that the assignment of weights to criteria and the scoring of individual options depend on the priorities and judgment of the evaluator. As a result, while the matrix indicates that Helmholtz resonators are the most suitable option for this project, this conclusion should not be viewed as entirely objective. To support this decision, paragraph 6.3 provides a thorough argumentation explaining why Helmholtz resonators align more effectively with the project's goals. These arguments include their ability to target specific frequencies, compatibility with the green roof system, and long-term performance under environmental conditions. This dual approach, including quantitative scoring supported by qualitative reasoning, ensures that the selection process is transparent and well-justified.

#### 6.4 Concept Generation

According to the results obtained from the impedance tube measurement, described in Chapter 5, the Biodiverse System appears to be the most promising solution for integrating resonator systems. This system displays good sound absorption performance, including in the low-frequency range, making it suitable for further optimization with integrated acoustic solutions. Although the Detention System also demonstrates strong acoustic performance, which is most likely attributed to the honeycomb structure acting as a natural resonator, it does not provide appropriate space and practical opportunities for integrating additional technologies that could improve its acoustic performance. Therefore, while this system performs well in terms of sound absorption, its design constraints make the integration of additional acoustic solutions challenging. For these reasons, the biodiverse system is selected for further analysis and acoustic optimization.

#### 6.4.1 Key Considerations and Design Challenges

Besides the design criteria that need to be fulfilled in order to get optimal acoustic performance, there are some key considerations that need to be taken into account before the concept generation. These considerations are mostly related to design, integration with the green roof components, acoustic performance, environmental impact, and also the system's maintenance.

#### 1. Design and Structure

- The Helmholtz resonators can be embedded within the substrate layer. By embedding the resonators in the substrate, the system could potentially minimize the visual and spatial impact of the roof. However, integration would require ensuring that the resonators are securely held in place without compromising the substrate's function, such as plant growth, root expansion, water retention, and drainage. The main challenge is ensuring that the acoustic properties of the resonators are not negatively impacted by their placement within a heterogeneous and moisture-retaining layer, such as the substrate.
- The resonators can be designed as modular units that fit within the substrate and vegetation layers of the green roof structure. Designing the Helmholtz resonators as modular units will allow for flexibility and ease of installation, maintenance, and replacement. These modular units can be adjusted to fit seamlessly between the substrate and vegetation layers. Modularity will also facilitate scaling the design based on the roof's surface area and required acoustic performance.

- 2. Integration with the green roof components
  - The resonators can be placed within the substrate layer. It should also be ensured that they do not interfere with the vegetation growth and water drainage while having their neck endings exceeding the vegetation mat in order to ensure that they are still effective with noise absorption.
  - To facilitate efficient drainage in the event of water ingress into the cavity, small water outlet perforations or micro perforations should be positioned at the bottom of the resonator cavity. In the case of single outlet perforation, to ensure effective drainage, these drainage holes shall be positioned centered or off-center at the lowest point of the resonator cavity. This design consideration accommodates any slight inclination of the green roof system and the resonator, thereby preventing water from pooling within the cavity. Alternatively, the use of perforated cavity base design can be used to prevent the accumulation of standing water. Consequently, prolonged saturation that could negatively impact both sound absorption and durability will be effectively avoided.



*Figure 6.2*: Schematic representation of the small exit perforation concept at the cavity base of the resonator.

#### 3. Resonator Geometry and Dimensions

• The internal volume of the Helmholtz resonator cavity is a critical parameter that dictates its resonant frequency. The resonant frequency  $f_r$  is inversely proportional to the square root of the cavity volume *V*. Therefore, larger cavity volumes are associated with lower resonant frequencies, making them suitable for absorbing low-frequency noise, while smaller cavities usually target higher frequencies. This relationship can be expressed by the general formula (4.6), given in paragraph 4.1.1.2, for the resonant frequency of a Helmholtz resonator:

$$f_r = \frac{c}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{S}{V l_{eff}}} \tag{6.2}$$

where:

 $f_r$  is the resonant frequency

c is the speed of the sound in air (approximately 343 m/s at room temperature)

 $\boldsymbol{S}$  is the neck cross-sectional are

V is the volume of the cavity and

 $l_{eff}$  is the effective length of the neck, accounting for end corrections

For the low-frequency sound absorption, the volume of the cavity must be examined within practical constraints. Therefore, careful consideration of available space within the green roof's growing medium is required to ensure that the resonators can be effectively tuned to target noise in the desired frequency range. In other words, to effectively target low-frequency sound absorption, the cavity volume needs to be as large as possible within the available space. However, this volume must be balanced with the substrate's volume and function. Increasing the cavity volume of the resonators will improve low-frequency absorption but will reduce the available space for the growing medium. This could potentially impact the overall structural integrity and water retention capabilities of the green roof, compromising its primary functions, such as supporting unhindered plant growth and managing excessive stormwater. Additionally, if the resonators occupy an excessive amount of space, the volume of the substrate may be reduced to a degree that adversely impacts plant health and root stability.

Given that the primary function of a green roof is often ecological, compromising the volume of the growing medium for the sake of acoustic performance may prove counterproductive. Conversely, if the volume of the resonators is too small, they may not provide sufficient absorption of low-frequency sound, thereby limiting the acoustic benefits and potentially undermining the effectiveness of the noise mitigation strategy. As such, one of the design challenges is to maximize the cavity volume of the resonators while retaining enough substrate space to maintain the roof's ecological function. Therefore, the ratio between the cavity volume of the resonators and the substrate volume should be optimized, and the final design should ensure that the resonators can reach the desired low-frequency range without excessively reducing the substrate, which could hinder the system's primary functions.

• The geometry of the resonator's neck significantly influences both the target frequency and the bandwidth of absorption. A longer neck can increase the effective mass of air within the neck, thereby lowering the resonant frequency of the resonator. Conversely, a shorter neck would reduce the air mass, raising the resonant frequency. The effective length  $l_{eff}$  incorporates an end correction factor to account for the additional virtual length caused by sound wave propagation at the neck's opening. Additionally, the diameter of the neck governs the cross-sectional area *S*, which, in combination with the cavity volume and effective length, influences the resonant frequency and absorption bandwidth. A narrower neck increases acoustic impedance, resulting in a lower frequency but often narrows the absorption bandwidth. In contrast, a wider neck elevates the resonant frequency and offers the potential to broaden the absorption bandwidth (Wu et al., 2019).

• The geometry and shape of the resonator's cavity - whether cylindrical, rectangular, or even spherical - can also be a critical determinant of both acoustic performance and practical feasibility, as it directly influences the distribution of resonant frequencies, impedance characteristics, and sound absorption efficiency (Zhao *et al.*, 2022).

<u>Cylindrical resonators</u>: Cylindrical cavities are simple to design and widely utilized due to their symmetry and ease of calculation. They have well-defined axial and radial modes, which lead to distinct resonant frequencies based on their height and diameter. These resonators tend to exhibit more predictable and narrowband performance, making them suitable for targeting specific frequencies. Regarding any practical considerations, cylindrical resonators can be characterized as straightforward to manufacture and can be easily integrated into layered systems, such as a green roof.

<u>Rectangular resonators</u>: These resonators with flat surfaces and sharp edges often have a more complex and broader range of resonant modes due to the different dimensions of the length, width, and height. Due to the presence of multi-dimensional resonance paths, this shape may support more distributed sound absorption over a wider frequency range but with potentially less sharp resonant peaks compared to cylindrical or spherical cavity shapes. Compared to cylindrical resonators, their more complex behavior can potentially lead to unpredictable acoustic performance, making it challenging to achieve targeted sound absorption.

<u>Spherical resonators</u>: Spherical resonators can potentially provide a more uniform distribution of resonant modes due to their symmetrical shape, which allows sound waves to propagate evenly in all directions. However, their design can pose practical challenges for implementation on green roofs due to the complexities involved in manufacturing and installing them within a green roof structure.

Zhao et al. (2022) experimentally investigated the transmission loss of resonators with different cavity shapes. Among their findings, they proved that compared to rectangular cavity resonators, cylindrical ones are more effective to dissipating sound. Additionally, they showed that cylindrical resonators were able to achieve more sound pressure level reduction in comparison to the rectangular ones. Similarly, Farooqui et al. (2012) investigated the effect of the geometry shape of Helmholtz resonators on their resonant frequencies and noise attenuation capability. Their simulation and experimental validation showed that cylindrical resonators provide better results in sound attenuation than conical and spherical cavity shapes.



*Figure 6.3*: Different resonators configurations. Three different cavity shapes in combination with two different neck shapes.

For these reasons, while rectangular and spherical resonators may have acoustic advantages, cylindrical resonators seem to be the most practical option for integration into the growing medium to enhance low-frequency absorption while minimizing interference with water drainage. In terms of acoustic performance, they can be precisely tuned for low-frequency absorption by adjusting their height and diameter, while their shape can facilitate efficient water drainage. Their vertical orientation can reduce the risk of clogging or water drainage hindering, as water and debris can maybe move more freely around them compared to bulkier resonant designs, such as rectangular ones. This way it is ensured that the resonators can enhance acoustic performance without compromising the green roof's primary functions.

#### 4. Acoustic performance and Target frequencies

• In order to effectively absorb noise across a broad range of lower frequencies, it is crucial to target specific problematic frequencies in the surrounding environment. This requires tuning resonators to different frequencies, with variations in cavity volumes and neck dimensions to address a wide range of acoustic challenges. Additionally, achieving the right balance between acoustically effective resonator shapes and preserving the system's functionality is essential. Consequently, precise tuning is necessary, and an iterative parametric approach should be employed to optimize the design. The approach of targeting multiple frequencies can also provide redundancy, in the sense that if one resonator becomes clogged or stops functioning effectively, neighboring resonators can continue to perform at their respective frequency.

#### 5. <u>Environmental Considerations</u>

- Particular attention should be paid to the reduction of substrate volume that is caused by the installation of the resonators. Maintaining the right amount of substrate volume required for both drainage and plant growth is a prerequisite of the study. However, installation of the resonators in the substrate layer inherently involves a reduction in the substrate volume. While a minor reduction can generally be deemed acceptable, provided that the substrate retains its capacity to support plant growth and maintain proper water drainage, experimental validation is necessary to accurately assess the extent of this reduction. Such testing is essential to ensure that the reduction remains within permissible limits while achieving the desired acoustic performance. Hence, in order to preserve the system's functional integrity, the resonators must be designed and positioned in a way that ensures the least possible loss of substrate volume. This restriction can serve as a key design criterion, balancing the acoustic benefits of the integrated resonators with the environmental requirements of the system.
- The materials used for the resonator concepts should be durable and environmentally friendly to avoid or at least minimize any negative impact on the system's ecological function over time. They should be ideally sourced from sustainable or recyclable materials. This will minimize any potential negative effects of the system's ecological functions.
- The design should also consider the weight load on the system, as adding resonators could increase the overall load. However, it is important to note that the addition of resonators may involve reducing the amount of substrate in the system. As a result, the overall weight of the system might even decrease, depending on the balance between the materials removed and added. To ensure that the roof can support the adjusted weight without compromising its structural integrity, a thorough structural assessment is required. Therefore, lightweight, yet sturdy materials should still be prioritized to minimize the impact on the structural load while maintaining effectiveness.
- Finally, it is important that the materials used for the resonators can be easily recycled or repurposed at the end of their lifecycle. This will promote a circular economy, reducing waste and ensuring that resources can be reused efficiently. As already mentioned, using modular design and materials with low environmental footprint can further enhance the circularity of the system, contributing to its long-term sustainability.

#### 6. Material Selection

• Considering the high-moisture environment of a green roof structure, material selection is a crucial factor in the design of integrated Helmholtz resonators in green roof systems, as it can directly influence durability, acoustic performance, and environmental sustainability. The chosen materials must withstand harsh outdoor conditions, including moisture, temperature fluctuations, UV exposure, and potential biological growth, ensuring long-term functionality without significant degradation. Water resistance is particularly essential to ensure that the resonators continue to operate well in the face of frequent exposure to rainwater and humidity. Additionally, in order to reduce additional structural loads that could compromise the structural integrity of the roof, the chosen materials should be lightweight.

- The material selection procedure requires the consideration of environmental sustainability alongside structural and durability factors. Additionally, taking into account the Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) in material selection enables a more sustainable approach. Materials that have little negative impact on the environment during manufacture or are recyclable at the end of their lifespan are desirable since they match with the overall eco-friendly objective of green roof systems (Aggarwal *et al.*, 2024). For example, using materials with a high recycled content or that can be repurposed after usage as resonators can help to reduce the system's carbon footprint. Furthermore, it is beneficial to select low-maintenance materials, as this could result in reduction of frequent replacements and repairs, especially for green roof systems with limited accessibility. The LCA's capability to highlight the potential environmental costs of maintenance over the lifespan of the different materials can support the selection of materials that strike a balance between durability and minimal environmental deterioration.
- Finally, material selection also accounts for acoustic performance. The substance must facilitate the resonator's ability to effectively target particular frequencies. In order to optimize the acoustic performance of the system, materials with low damping properties are generally more effective at increasing sound resonance, enhancing the resonator's ability to target desired frequencies (Aydın & San, 2024). However, to ensure that the acoustic benefits do not have a substantial environmental impact, these considerations should be carefully weighed against other Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) outcomes.

In summary, selecting materials for resonators in green roof systems necessitates a careful balance of acoustic efficiency, environmental sustainability, and mechanical durability. By adding Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) into the decision-making process, materials that meet performance and durability specifications while minimizing environmental effects can be identified during the resonator lifecycle. This selection method ensures long-term functionality and maximum acoustic performance.

Based on these criteria and industry standards, there are some materials that have been identified as potential candidates for use in green roof Helmholtz resonators. There are particular guidelines and standards, such as ISO 14040 and ISO 14044 for Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), ASTM standards for water resistance and UV durability, and finally the FLL Green Roof Guidelines, which provide several practices for materials that should be used in green infrastructure. Particularly, materials used in green roof systems must adhere to certain requirements and specifications to assure performance, longevity, as well as environmental compatibility, as outlined by the FLL Green Roof Guidelines (2018). These guidelines emphasize the importance of using materials that are durable and resistant to environmental conditions such moisture and water, UV radiation, and biological degradation. As stated in these guidelines,

materials must be able to survive prolonged moisture exposure and resist root penetration while retaining structural integrity. Furthermore, FLL guidelines recommend excluding wood as a permanent safeguard due to its susceptibility to decay, emphasizing the need for materials with strong water resistance characteristics and low maintenance requirements, while also addressing environmental aspects of material selection by emphasizing the importance of materials that exhibit sustainability through recyclability and low life cycle environmental impact. These thorough requirements serve as a benchmark for evaluating the feasibility of various material possibilities, ensuring that their performance is appropriate for the rigorous conditions of a green roof environment while adhering to ecological principles.

Given the aforementioned principles and standards requirements, material selection should be a meticulous process that ensures compliance with the special demands of a green roof system. Five materials have been identified as candidates for further investigation based on their balance of durability, recyclability, environmental sustainability, water resistance, and acoustic performance. These materials are rigorously evaluated to ensure that they meet both the functional and environmental criteria necessary for maximum performance.

• High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE)

High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE) is a strong, flexible, and cost-effective thermoplastic polymer recognized for its high strength-to-density ratio. Because of its recyclability potential and extended lifespan of 50 to 100 years, it offers a wide range of applications in a variety of industries, combining longevity and affordability (Guo et al., 2019). It is chemically and UV-resistant, making it perfect for outdoor applications. Its versatility makes it a popular choice for a variety of products and projects, including use in buildings, pipes, and acoustics applications that require lightweight but durable materials (Accel Polymers, 2021). While HDPE is a useful material for a variety of structural purposes, it is not well known for its acoustic properties. In particular, HDPE is considered to have low sound absorption and dampening ability, resulting in poorer acoustic performance when compared to other materials.

• Fiberglass Reinforced Plastic (FRP)

Fiberglass Reinforced Plastic (FRP) is a composite material, known for its strength-to-weight ratio and its ability to harsh extreme environmental conditions (Rajak *et al.*, 2019). It offers great water resistance and durability properties, and its lifespan can be affected by exposure to UV radiation or extreme temperatures, typically lasting up to 30 years (Harle, 2024). However, along with its composite structure that makes it difficult to recycle, FRP presents significant drawbacks in terms of its sustainability, as its production process is energy-intensive, resulting in considerable CO2 emissions (Qureshi, 2022). Finally, on the acoustic side, FRP's damping properties seem to make it a potentially suitable candidate for sound absorption applications (Nurzyński, 2023).

#### • Stainless Steel

Stainless steel is a long-lasting material with remarkable resistance to corrosion and environmental degradation. It is completely recyclable, and its long lifespan of approximately 50 years reduces the demand for frequent maintenance (ASTM International, 2020). However, similarly to FRP, its energy-intensive production process results in a significant increase of its carbon footprint. As far as its acoustic performance is concerned, stainless steel is a reflective material with a relatively low damping effect, meaning it does not absorb significant sound energy (Pardeshi *et al.*, 2022). Additionally, it provides rigid and smooth surfaces, which are essential for accurate wave reflection and resonance within the cavity. This could enhance the efficiency of sound absorption at the target frequency.

• Treated Plywood

Treated plywood is a sustainable, natural resource with modest durability, especially when utilized for outdoor applications. It is biodegradable and has a low environmental impact, which aligns with the basic sustainability principles. Its lifespan can range between 5 to 10 years and is normally determined by the quality of the treatment as well as the environmental conditions that it is subjected to. While it may be water resistant, extended exposure to moisture can lead to degradation (Castanié *et al.*, 2023). Finally, its porous and fibrous structure provides significant acoustic dampening (Pinchevska *et al.*, 2019), which may not be desirable for Helmholtz resonator applications.

#### • Cork

Cork is a renewable, natural, and biodegradable lightweight material known for its superior environmental performance, low carbon footprint, and recyclability. Its water resistance characteristics are moderate, as cork tends to swell when exposed to prolonged moisture, such as a green roof environment, for an extended period. Hence, depending on the exposure conditions, it has a relatively short lifespan, ranging from 5 to 10 years. Despite this, cork is highly valued for its acoustic properties, particularly its ability to absorb and dampen sound waves, adding to its desirability for sound absorption applications under particular conditions (Gil, 2015). However, similarly to treated plywood, this high damping behavior is not conducive to the performance requirements of Helmholtz resonators, where low damping and high rigidity are crucial for maintaining sharp resonance.

To make the decision-making an easy process, the aforementioned data is translated into a scoring system presented by Table 6.4, which accomplishes the material selection procedure.

Table 6.4: Selection of suitable resonators materials. Each material is evaluated based on the design
criteria related to their application in the green roof system.

	High-Density Polyethylene	Fiberglass Reinforced Plastic (FRP)	Stainless Steel	Treated Plywood	Cork
Criteria					
Durability	1	1	1	0.5	0.5
Recyclability	1	0.5	1	0.5	1
Lifespan	1	1	1	0.5	0.5
Water Resistance	1	1	1	0.5	0.5
Acoustic Performance	0.5+	1-	1	0.5	0.5
TOTAL	4.5+	4.5⁻	5	2.5	3-

In conclusion, the assessment of prospective materials for resonators in the green roof system highlights the necessity of balancing various design parameters. Based on the overall performance and the evaluation matrix, rigid materials such as stainless steel and plastic materials are preferred due to their reflective acoustic properties, durability, lifespan, and water resistance. However, their performance should also be weighed against costs and the feasibility of implementation in the roof system. On the other hand, wood-based materials, such as treated plywood and cork, are not preferred for use in Helmholtz resonators.

- 7. <u>Maintenance and Accessibility</u>
  - The resonators should be designed for minimum maintenance, but accessibility may be required for occasional inspection or adjustments.
  - Additional consideration should be given to the accessibility of the resonators for inspection and maintenance, ensuring that this is done without compromising the integrity of the vegetation and the other green roof layers.

#### 6.4.2 Challenges

The implementation of Helmholtz resonators in green roof structures presents undoubtable challenges and significant complexity compared to a standard green roof design, as it requires specialized knowledge in both acoustics and green roof technology. The main objective lies in integrating their structure into the green roof without compromising the system's primary functions.

Primarily, the integration of resonators can alter the physical composition of the substrate layer, creating cavities and interfaces that interact both acoustically and mechanically. These interactions may result in unforeseen outcomes, including shifts in target frequencies or modified absorption curves. Additionally, compared to the resonators that are inherently tuned to target specific frequencies, the green roof system is designed to provide a broader-spectrum sound absorption. This incompatibility might result in absorption gaps or range overlap, causing inefficiencies, and aligning resonator performance with the substrate's intrinsic properties to achieve multi frequency absorption can be a significant challenge. Therefore, achieving compatibility between the resonators and the substrate while maintaining overall performance may require fine-tuning and an iterative analysis.

Another challenging parameter is the degradation of the resonators over time. Environmental factors such as soil compaction and biological activity can pose a danger to the resonator's long-term performance and continued functionality. Therefore, the resonators must be constructed from water-resistant material capable of withstanding prolonged exposure to moisture, ultraviolet radiation, and potential interference from the plant root system. In order to ensure long-term functionality, adequate sealing and maintenance are also essential.

In order to identify the most suitable solution, it is essential to estimate the approximate design of the integrated resonators. To calculate the dimensions of Helmholtz resonators, different configurations are initially assumed, and their resonance frequency is evaluated. A precise explanation of the procedure that is followed to estimate the design as well as the amount and distribution of resonators is presented in Chapter 7.

#### 6.4.3 Final Concept Design

#### Integrated Helmholtz resonators in the growing medium

Once all design criteria have been considered, the final concept design includes cylindrical Helmholtz resonators implanted within the system's substrate layer to target various low frequencies. The ultimate conceptual design can be defined as follows:

#### Key Design Features

- Cylindrical Hlemholtz resonators of vaying dimensions (heights and diameters) are integrated into the substrate layer and are positioned right above the drainage layer. This configuration allows for acoustic optimization across different frequency ranges while ensuring the maintenance of the system's functionality.
- The resonators are distributed throughout the growing medium, with their necks extending 2 cm above the vegetation layer. This placement ensures that the resonators remain operational without being hindered by dirt or vegetation while also integrating into the green roof system.





- To prevent clogging and dirt accumulation in the resonators' necks, a geotextile or fabric net is installed over the orifices. This design enables constant airflow while keeping the system's acoustic performance consistent over time.
- To ensure unhindered water drainage, the base of the resonators includes small perforations that allow water to drain efficiently, reducing water clogging within the cavity while preserving the resonator's structural integrity and durability. These small outlets are intended to ensure that the resonators function properly while preserving the green roof's drainage capability. All resonators are modeled with a minimum of four outlet perforations evenly distributed around the perimeter of the cavity base.



Figure 6.5: Key design features of the concept desi

# Simulation Modeling

#### 7.1 Objective

The sound absorption qualities of the green roof system with integrated Helmholtz resonators must be analyzed using simulation modeling. This is especially significant given the complexity of interactions between the many layers and acoustic factors. The green roof system consists of several layers, including the vegetation layer, the growing medium, the resonators, and the drainage system, each of which contributes distinct acoustic qualities that collectively influence the overall sound absorption. Simulation software provides a solid foundation for modeling these complex interactions, capturing crucial elements such as wave propagation, impedance effects, and the influence of resonator geometry under specified and controlled settings. Moreover, it enables frequency-dependent analysis, which is crucial for tuning the system's design to achieve specific absorption characteristics within the targeted frequency range. By allowing for iterative design adjustments, such as optimizing resonator dimensions, material properties, and layer arrangements, this approach not only provides insights into the expected acoustic performance but also reduces the need for costly physical prototypes and experimental testing, making it an invaluable tool for design and optimization.

#### 7.2 The Simulation Software: COMSOL Multiphysics

After the most promising design is developed, the simulation procedure begins. COMSOL Multiphysics is a popular and suitable software solution for modeling acoustic parameters, including the absorption coefficient. COMSOL is a very adaptable finite element analysis (FEA) software that is commonly used to simulate a variety of physical phenomena, including acoustics, structural mechanics, fluid dynamics, and electromagnetics (Dickinson *et al.*, 2013). Regarding acoustic simulations, COMSOL'S Acoustic Module is particularly well-suited to studying sound propagation, absorption, and resonance phenomena. For designing systems like resonators, sound-absorbing layers, or other acoustic solutions, COMSOL provides a powerful toolkit for optimizing and verifying designs before physical testing (*Simulation Software For Analyzing Acoustics And Vibrations*, n.d.).

COMSOL's efficiency in acoustic simulations stems from its unique combination of features. COMSOL excels in handling coupled physics scenarios, which involve acoustic behavior interacting with other physical phenomena such as fluid dynamics or structural mechanics. This makes it excellent for complicated systems, including sound and structural interactions. Furthermore, it allows users to create bespoke physics, which is useful for simulating innovative materials or sophisticated sound absorption systems that do not have predefined models. Furthermore, its user-friendly interface enables users to define geometries, material properties, boundary conditions, and meshing in a highly configurable manner, allowing for the modeling of specific acoustic features.

#### 7.3 The Impedance Tube Model

To simulate the green roof structure in COMSOL and assess its acoustic absorption, first define the required model. This requires designing the system's multiple layers in 3D CAD software, then importing the geometry into COMSOL Multiphysics. In order to obtain the most realistic results, the simulation adheres to the standards of real-world measurement setups. In COMSOL, the Impedance Tube model is commonly employed to analyze the interaction of sound with the material sample or structure by simulating the reflection and transmission of sound waves within the tube. Figure 7.1 illustrates the geometry of the modeled system, in which an incident sound field representing a sound source is connected to one end of the tube and the green roof system test sample is mounted at the other end. In order to get a deeper understanding regarding the way COMSOL simulates the absorption coefficient of the system, it is essential to get a step-by-step outline of the process that is followed.

#### 1. <u>Setting Up the Geometry</u>

During setting up the model, it is important to start by defining the geometry based on the specific components involved. This included establishing the shape and dimensions of the different elements, such as vegetation, substrate layer, resonators, and drainage layer. In order to ensure accurate representation of the layered structure, after the geometry of the multi-layered system, along with the integrated resonators, is first modeled in 3D CAD environment, it is then imported into the COMSOL environment. For the Helmholtz resonator configurations, it is important to accurately model both the cavities and neck dimensions, as their parameters significantly impact the resonance behavior and, consequently, the sound absorption characteristics of the system. Precise setup is crucial for achieving reliable and realistic simulation outcomes.

Following the standard test method for impedance and absorption of acoustical materials using a tube, two microphones, and digital frequency analysis system (American Society for Testing and Materials, 2012), the tube must be sufficiently long to ensure that plane waves are fully developed before reaching the specimen and microphone positions. Therefore, a minimum distance of three tube diameters should be maintained between the sound source and the nearest microphone. Additionally, the minimum distance between the test specimen and the nearest microphone is influenced by the surface characteristics of the specimen, and for nonhomogeneous surfaces, the closest microphone may be placed as close as one tube diameter from the specimen. Based on these standards and considering the green roof system being simulated, with a surface area of 1 m<sup>2</sup> the impedance tube is designed with a length of 4.5 m.



Figure 7.1: Geometry-Impedance tube model setup used in COMSOL.

#### 2. Defining Material Properties

After correctly configuring the geometry, it is critical to give material properties to each component in the model. COMSOL's comprehensive materials library includes predefined parameters such as density, sound speed, and porosity, which might help to speed up the setup procedure. Properties for special or custom materials, such as the composite substrate layer, can be defined by the user and must be entered manually to assure accuracy. Custom materials, such as the composite substrate layer and the vegetation layer in the study, must have their properties carefully defined to assure correctness and conformity with the design parameters. As the acoustic behavior of the green roof system is primarily influenced by the porous substrate layer, properties like porosity, flow resistivity, tortuosity, and viscous and thermal lengths are significant parameters and need to be defined for the simulation. Furthermore, it is important to define the properties of the surrounding medium, in this case air, and specify the acoustic impedance for boundaries as needed. As these parameters influence sound propagation and interaction at the boundaries, they are essential for realistic simulations.

#### 3. Configuring Physics Settings

The next step is to configure the required physics settings. This begins with choosing the proper interfaces in the Acoustic Module, such as Pressure Acoustics, Frequency Domain, or

Poroacoustics Model, based on the materials in the model. As each interface governs how sound waves propagate, interact, and are absorbed by the different materials in the system, they are critical for accurately simulating the model's acoustic behavior. For instance, using the interface Pressure Acoustics, Frequency Domain allows precise modeling of airborne sound waves, essential for analyzing how external noise is attenuated by the green roof layers and resonator cavities. Meanwhile, the *Poroacoustics Model* interface is necessary to capture the acoustic behavior of materials such as the porous substrate, which contains porous media like compost and pumice. The correct selection of interfaces ensures that each component's unique acoustic properties are realistically represented, thereby providing reliable and relevant results for sound absorption in the system. In any case, it is important to establish boundary conditions that closely reflect the real-world scenario.

For the study's simulations, different physics are assigned to the different parts of the model in order to accurately capture the acoustic behavior of the complex system.

- The *Pressure Acoustics, Frequency Domain* interface is used for the impedance tube simulation. This interface models the propagation of the acoustic waves in the air, accounting for pressure variations and their interaction with the boundaries and materials.
- *Poroacoustics* is assigned to the vegetation layer and the porous substrate layer of the system. This interface is critical for modeling the sound absorption behavior of these layers and considers the interaction between acoustic waves and the porous structure of these materials, using parameters such as porosity, flow resistivity, thermal and viscous characteristic length, and tortuosity factor.

#### Material Properties Assigned in the Simulation

- 1. <u>Substrate Layer</u>:
  - Porosity: 0.85
  - Flow Resistivity: 8,000 Pa·s/m<sup>2</sup>
  - Viscous Length: 0.002 m
  - Thermal Length: 0.003 m
  - Tortuosity: 2.7
- 2. <u>Vegetation Layer</u>:
  - Porosity: 0.8
  - Flow Resistivity: 2,000 Pa·s/m<sup>2</sup>
  - Tortuosity: 1.8
  - Viscous Length: 0.0025 m
  - Thermal Length: 0.003 m
- *Narrow Region Acoustics* is assigned to the necks, cavities, and water exit perforations of the resonators. This physics interface can be used for regions with geometrically constrained spaces where viscous and thermal losses are important, such as the narrow regions of the Helmholtz resonators.

#### 4. <u>Generating the Mesh</u>

After creating the geometry and assigning the appropriate physics to the model, the next significant step is to build the mesh layout. The mesh that is used for a model geometry plays an instrumental role in how the model is solved, as it determines factors such as how the geometry is divided, with what shape or element type the geometry is divided, the size, density, and number of elements in the geometry, as well as the quality of the different elements (*How To* Build A Mesh in COMSOL Multiphysics<sup>®</sup>, n.d.). A well-considered mesh strategy is essential for achieving both computational efficiency and accuracy in simulation results. Mesh refinement, particularly through COMSOL's adaptive meshing options, allows for targeted improvements by increasing mesh density only in areas where it is mostly needed. This approach is especially valuable in simulations focused on specific frequency ranges, as it enhances accuracy in capturing frequency-dependent phenomena without imposing excessive computational demands (Simulation Software For Analyzing Acoustics And Vibrations, n.d.). In other words, in areas with complex wave interactions and small geometric features, such as the necks of the resonators, it is important to apply a fine mesh in order to capture the detailed behavior of sound waves accurately. For more uniform regions, such as the surrounding air, coarser meshing can be used to minimize computation time without sacrificing result precision. For the current simulation, a predefined *fine* mesh is used to ensure accuracy and precision and capture all the narrow geometric regions where sound waves interact with the structure.



*Figure 7.2*: The used model mesh. A fine mesh was used both for the smaller geometries but also for the area representing the impedance tube interior.

During simulations, the use of a coarser mesh in the area representing the impedance tube interior air is observed to result in some irregularities in the absorption curves, particularly an oscillatory behavior at higher frequencies. This can be attributed to the inability of a coarser mesh to accurately resolve shorter acoustic wavelengths at higher frequencies, resulting in numerical dispersion, artificial reflections, and phase inaccuracies. These factors compromise the precision of the acoustic pressure and impedance calculations, leading to fluctuations in the

absorption results. To mitigate these issues, a fine mesh is then applied to the entire geometry, increasing computation time but ensuring accurate resolution across the different frequencies. Overall, using the appropriate mesh is crucial because it directly influences the model's ability to represent wave propagation, reflection, and absorption with fidelity. An optimized mesh layout ensures that the simulation effectively captures the acoustic behavior of the system, providing reliable and high-resolution results where they are most relevant.

#### 5. <u>Setting up the solver</u>

Once the model setup is complete, including geometry, material properties, boundary conditions, and meshing, the next step is to configure the solver settings and run the simulation. In order to analyze the system's response over the desired range of frequencies, it is essential to set up a frequency sweep. This allows for observing variations in the absorption coefficient and other acoustic parameters at different points within this spectrum. With everything configured, the model is ready to be simulated, providing detailed insights into its acoustic performance across the specified frequency range.

#### 6. Post-Processing and Analyzing Results

After running the simulation, the next important step is the post-processing of the obtained results. This mainly involves analyzing the data generated from the acoustic simulation and identifying critical parameters that reflect the system's performance. The simulation's main output for this study is the absorption coefficient values, which are used to evaluate and compare the system's sound absorption over the intended frequency range. The absorption coefficient graphs provide a visual assessment of how well the integrated Helmholtz resonators can contribute to enhanced sound absorption in the low frequency range.

#### 7.3.1 A Systematic Iterative Design Approach

The process of developing resonator concepts relies on a systematic approach to a step-by-step methodology, involving a combination of analytical design, numerical modeling, and design optimization. This approach ensures that each design iteration is based on results obtained from previous steps, ultimately leading to progressive improvement and a new optimized solution.

The initial step involves the analytical design of resonators, where the dimensions of the cavity and neck are calculated for the desired frequencies. The designs are based on Helmholtz resonance principles, considering the desired frequency range and the physical-geometrical constraints of the green roof system. Using the initial design parameters, a MATLAB analytical model, developed by Professor M.J. Tenpierik at TU Delft, is utilized to calculate resonance frequencies and impedance values. Details of the code can be found in Appendix A. At the same time, a single-resonator COMSOL simulation is conducted to predict the acoustic behavior of each resonator arrangement. The compatibility of those two models enables a first-level validation for the resonator's design. An overview of the different resonator configurations that are used for the analysis is presented in Figure 7.4.


Figure 7.3: Overview of the workflow used for the systematic design process.

Once the green roof system with the integrated resonators is modeled in 3D CAD environment, it is subsequently converted into a numerical model within COMSOL Multiphysics. The simulation allows for extensive analysis of the system's sound absorption performance within the controlled setting of the impedance tube model. The integrated green roof system, including the different resonators, is modeled to assess its overall performance, and based on the simulation findings, the resonator designs are then refined iteratively, involving a procedure of geometrical and design modifications. While emphasis is given on achieving uniform distribution of sound absorption on the low-frequency spectrum, the effects over a wider frequencies or insufficient absorption at specific frequencies lead to design modifications, and parameters such as the cavity volume, neck dimensions, and number of resonators are adjusted in order to refine resonance frequencies and optimize absorption distribution across the desired frequencies. In particular, the system goes through an iterative optimization process that involves the following adjustments:

- Changing the number of resonators: adding or removing resonators that target specific frequencies in order to achieve a wider absorption spectrum.
- Increasing target frequencies: adding resonators to address significant gaps in the frequency response, ensuring a higher overall coverage.
- Fine-tuning individual designs: although rarely required, changing the dimensions of certain resonators when integrated into the system to improve their performance.

This procedure is repeated until the most promising configuration is determined. The ultimate goal is to identify an arrangement that, considering the system's restrictions, provides good sound absorption across the desired frequency range, balances resonator integration with the substrate, and satisfies practical constraints and the system's functions, such as water drainage. The methodology followed for this iterative approach is summarized in the diagram of Figure 7.3. The combination of tools ensures a solid and rigorous approach to developing a design with integrated resonators. The entire process followed is documented in order to provide a clear understanding of the design decisions and their influence on the system's overall performance.



*Figure 7.4*: An overview of the resonator configurations used for the acoustic analysis.

### 7.3.2 The effect of adding water outlet perforations in a Helmholtz resonator

The following analysis demonstrates the influence of **position**, **size**, and **number** of water outlet perforations that are placed at the base of a resonator's cavity on the resonator's frequency peak. In this case, the resonator designed to target a frequency of 60 Hz is examined.

1. <u>Water outlet perforation placed in the **center** of the base.</u>



*Figure* 7.5: The effect of the outlet perforation's size on the resonator's frequency peak (case: centered perforation).

#### 2. <u>Water outlet perforation placed **off-centered**.</u>



*Figure 7.6*: The effect of the outlet perforation's size on the resonator's frequency peak (case: off-centered perforation)

#### **Position of Perforation**

The comparison between centered and off-centered outlets shows that there is little to no noticeable difference in absorption characteristics between centered and off-centered outlet perforations at various diameters.

#### **Size of Perforation**

The size of the water outlet perforation is essential in determining the resonator's absorption coefficient and peak frequency. As the diameter of the perforation increases (from 4 to 10 mm), the magnitude of the absorption coefficient across both centered and off-centered designs is reduced. This can be explained, as larger perforations allow more airflow, which can reduce the resonance effect, leading in a less effective peak.



*Figure 7.7*: The influence of perforations' number on the maximum absorption coefficient value.

#### Number of Perforations

The number of outlet perforations seems to have an impact on the resonators performance. In particular, increasing the number of outlets seems to reduce the effective resistance within the resonator cavity, resulting in a reduction of the absorption peak. However, Figure 7.7 indicates that beyond a certain number of outlets, adding more perforations does not result in a significant further decrease in absorption, revealing a diminishing return in absorption performance.

In any case, all graphs indicate that adding even one outlet perforation shifts the frequency peak to lower values.

#### Introduction of a secondary resonance

Additionally, the incorporation of water exit perforations facilitates the development of a secondary resonator system situated beneath the primary resonator. This secondary system occurs from the interaction of the newly introduced perforations and the air cavity located beneath the resonators, which represents the water drainage layer and effectively forms a coupled acoustic structure.



Figure 7.8: The introduction of secondary absorption peaks at higher frequencies.

The diagram of Figure 7.8 demonstrates that the introduction of the secondary absorption peaks occurs at higher frequencies, specifically around 1300 Hz, when outlets of varying diameters are added to the resonator system. The higher-frequency location of the secondary peaks is primarily a result of the significantly smaller geometric dimensions of the secondary resonator, which collectively alter its resonant characteristics compared to the primary resonator.

#### 7.4 Results and Optimization

This paragraph aims to answer the last sub-research question of the study, particularly: *What level of sound absorption can be achieved through the use of alternative solutions implemented into green roof systems?* 

The graph of Figure 7.9 illustrates the absorption coefficient ( $\alpha$ ) of the examined system, with one curve obtained from the impedance tube measurement test and the other one from the COMSOL simulation. This simulation is performed in order to validate the simulation model of the green roof system.



*Figure 7.9*: Graphic representation of the sound absorption coefficient as a function of frequency for the biodiverse system as occurred form the impedance tube measurement (black-colored line) and the simulation (green-colored line).

Both curves present an overall similar pattern, particularly in the low to mid frequency range, up to around 350 Hz, where an increase in absorption is observed, leading to a peak near this frequency. While the two curves present some differences, these seem reasonable, as achieving complete compatibility between the experimental measurement and the simulation is inherently challenging, considering differences in modeling assumptions, boundary conditions, and experimental setup. Despite these differences, the overall behavior of the system is captured by both methods, confirming the reliability of the simulation in representing the acoustic behavior of the system.

#### The effect of adding resonators to the system

To enhance the system's low-frequency absorption performance, the integration of Helmholtz resonators is being explored. Figure 7.10 represents the effect of adding resonators on the system's acoustic performance, comparing the absorption coefficient ( $\alpha$ ) of the system with and without the resonators, as obtained through COMSOL simulation. As can be seen, the general absorption pattern is broadly consistent between the two conditions, with peaks and troughs occurring at similar frequencies. When resonators are introduced into the system, the absorption coefficient decreases modestly across the frequency spectrum. This decrease in absorption coefficient can be attributed to the resonators occupying a portion of the substrate volume (about 13%), lowering the amount of acoustically active substrate material. Because the substrate is required for sound absorption, its partial replacement to accommodate resonators marginally reduces the system's overall acoustic capacity, with the reduction being more noticeable at low frequencies than at mid and high frequencies. This difference can be explained by the interaction of the resonators with the substrate layer. At the low frequency range, the resonators primarily take over the function of sound absorption, since they are designed and tuned to target particular low frequencies. However, as explained, accommodation of resonators requires reduction of the acoustically active material amount that is available for broad range absorption. Since the substrate contributes significantly to sound absorption at the lower frequencies, its partial removal results in a slight but noticeable drop in acoustic performance within this range.

On the other hand, in the mid and high frequency range, the characteristics of the substrate that are mainly responsible for and control the sound absorption process are porosity and flow resistivity. As the resonators are less effective at this frequency range, the system's performance remains mostly determined by the substrate layer. This could explain the less pronounced impact on the absorption at higher frequencies.



Figure 7.10: The influence of adding resonators on the Biodiverse system's acoustic performance.

Nevertheless, the integration of resonators introduces targeted improvements at specific frequencies, enhancing the system's ability to address particular acoustic challenges. This trade-off highlights the fact that depending on the particular frequency range and absorption requirements of the application, substrate removal and the benefits provided by the resonators integration should be carefully balanced.



*Figure 7.11*: Total sound pressure level distribution at various frequencies (50, 65, 75, 90, 110 and 130 Hz) in the green roof-resonators system (Results extracted from concept E).

Concept Target Frequency	Α	В	С	D	Ε
60 Hz	8	9	7	4	4
70 Hz	-	-	-	-	3
75 Hz	-	-	-	3	-
80 Hz	-	7	6	-	3
90 Hz	9	-	-	3	3
100 Hz	-	5	5	-	3
105 Hz	-	-	-	3	-
110 Hz	-	-	-	-	3
120 Hz	3	4	3	3	3
130 Hz	-	-	-	-	3
135 Hz	-	_	_	3	-
140 Hz	-	-	4	-	-

**Table 7.1:** Number of resonators for each target frequency in the different tested concepts.

Table 7.1 provides a clear overview of the concepts that were developed and tested during the analysis. The results that occurred from the simulations for these concepts are presented in Figure 7.12. Based on the absorption coefficient graphs of the different concepts, there are some major observations that should be mentioned:

- It is clear that adding more resonators targeting a wider range of frequencies, while keeping the total number of resonators constant, results in a slight drop in the absorption coefficient. This is to be expected, as dispersing the resonators across more frequencies spreads the acoustic absorption over a wider frequency range, lowering absorption concentration at certain frequencies. At the same time, this greater distribution leads to a more uniform absorption curve, which provides more consistent absorption performance over a wide frequency range. While the decrease in absorption cannot be neglected, covering a wider spectrum of sound may be useful in practical applications.
- Although the resonators are initially designed and tuned to target specific frequencies, a shift in their initially intended peak is observed. This shift can be attributed to the addition of water outlet perforations at the cavity's base, as well as the presence of an air gap beneath the resonators, which represents the drainage layer. These perforations, while vital for the drainage system, may affect the impedance characteristics of the resonators and the entire system, affecting resonance frequencies. Appendix B provides a detailed analysis of the impact of adding these small water outlets to the cavity base of a resonator.
- **Concept E (8 target frequencies**): While in concepts A, B, C and D the simulation results provided the expected, slightly shifted frequency peaks, in concept E, where eight different frequencies are targeted, the expected eight peaks in the absorption coefficient curve are not present. Instead, the graph exhibits fewer peaks, indicating that the effects of the resonators may overlap. As in this concept, a smaller frequency step of 10 Hz is adopted, this may cause

the resonators' effect to overlap. This overlap could cause some of the resonators to operate in the same frequency range, limiting the number of distinct peaks and leading to a more blended absorption curve.



*Figure 7.12*: Comparison of the system's acoustic performance among the different concepts developed.

#### Optimization

In an attempt to examine if the results can be further optimized, two different optimization strategies are explored. In particular, these attempts are tested on concept E, which is based on the simulation of 8 target frequencies.

#### (a) Cross-structure fins along the neck of the resonator

The primary purpose of adding cross-structure fins into the resonator necks is to increase airflow resistance across the length of the neck. This increase in resistance can be used to modify the resonator to operate more effectively across a wider range of frequencies. The mechanism behind the idea of cross-structure fins, that are stiff parts of the necks, is that they can potentially interrupt the airflow and result in increased flow resistance. As a result, the higher resistance can affect the resonator's capacity to absorb sound waves, especially at the desired frequencies. On the other hand, these structures occupy physical space inside the neck, reducing the effective available air volume inside the neck. As the resonator's performance at the desired frequency is dependent on the interaction of waves within this air volume, a smaller available air volume can potentially reduce the absorption coefficient.



*Figure 7.13*: Introduction of cross- structure fins inside the resonator's neck.

#### (b) Smaller-diameter second neck

A different optimization proposal involves the introduction of a smaller-diameter second neck to the resonator in order to increase the overall resistance of the neck system. The second neck is placed alongside the existing neck and has a smaller diameter to increase the resistance to airflow. The idea behind this mechanism is that adding a second neck automatically creates a parallel airflow route with its own resonance characteristics, this may lead to a broader absorption peak. Hence, the second neck can introduce a slightly different resonant frequency, resulting in shifting peaks or overlapping that can increase the system's bandwidth. However, similarly to the cross-structure fins, adding a second neck may also have an impact on the absorption coefficient value. As the effective



**Figure 7.14**: Introduction of a second neck alongside the primary neck.

air volume passing through the primary neck, which is critical for resonance, may be diminished, this redistribution of airflow may reduce the resonator's ability to absorb sound effectively. Finally, adding a second neck can cause a shift in the system's resonance frequency. In case this shift moves the resonance away from the desired frequency, the system's peak in absorption coefficient may decrease.



*Figure 7.15*: The effect of adding (a) cross-structure fins along the neck of the resonator and (b) secondary neck alongside the primary neck on the system's acoustic performance (concept E).

The results of the two optimization strategies show an impact on the system's acoustic performance. The first graph shows that the introduction of cross-structure fins in the neck provides a noticeable reduction in the maximum absorption coefficient values while not significantly broadening the frequency peaks.

On the other hand, the addition of a secondary neck alongside the primary neck (graph b) results in a slight reduction in the maximum absorption coefficient values. Additionally, in this strategy the overall absorption range appears more consistent, contributing to smoothing the frequency response. It is also important to mention that in both cases the optimization technique is applied to the resonators selectively. In particular, not all resonators in the system are equipped with the optimization techniques, but only one resonator of each target frequency group is optimized. This selective approach was adopted when simulations demonstrated that applying the optimization to all resonators results in a dramatic reduction in the maximum absorption coefficient values.

MMMM

REFLECTION

# **8** Discussion

#### 8.1 Results and Validation

The aim of this chapter is to discuss and analyze the reliability of the methodology that is followed throughout the research, emphasizing its reliability and validity in analyzing the acoustic performance of the integrated green roof system. By assessing the strengths and limitations of the experimental and simulation procedures used, the discussion provides a comprehensive understanding of the methodology's effectiveness and ability to provide reliable results. Particular attention is given to the impedance tube model and COMSOL acoustic simulation, highlighting their contribution to the study while addressing inherent constraints such as scale, material assumptions, and boundary conditions. Finally, the chapter discusses additional steps that could increase the reliability and validity of the findings, providing valuable insight into future study areas.

#### 8.1.1 Reliability and Validity of the Method

The reliability and validity of the used methodology can be evaluated with regard to its strengths and limitations. Specifically, the approach demonstrates particular benefits:

- Both COMSOL simulations and impedance tube measurements provide a safe and controlled environment for analyzing acoustic behavior. This reduces external noise and interference while improving the ability to consistently reproduce the same results under the same experimental conditions when the method is repeated multiple times.
- The COMSOL model enables extensive analysis of different configurations, materials, and resonator designs, providing insight into the system's expected acoustic performance.
- The impedance tube method is a widely known method for testing acoustic characteristics in small specimens, adding legitimacy to the initial measurements.

However, the findings are based on controlled simulation conditions, which may not account for external factors that can affect the resonators' performance in practice. As the simulation is a process that can contain inaccuracies, assumptions, and simplifications, although it can provide a dependable framework for analyzing and optimizing the results, the need for further experimental validation in field conditions is critical and necessary.

#### 8.2 Limitations of Impedance Tube Measurements

The impedance tube measurements that are used to assess the acoustic performance of the different green roof systems by Sempergreen and extensively described in paragraph 5.1, have certain limitations that should be acknowledged in order to get an accurate understanding of the results. The main limitation is that the impedance tube test is performed on a small-scale sample with a diameter of 10 cm, which may not fully reflect the behavior of the larger system. As in real-world applications, the system is much larger in scale, and considering the different boundary conditions, layer interactions, as well as material heterogeneity, the observed acoustic characteristics in a small sample might differ from those of the full-scale system.

Additionally, the boundary conditions in the impedance tube are significantly more restricted compared to those of a real-scale green roof system. These boundary conditions can affect wave propagation, especially in the low-frequency spectrum, where the acoustic behavior is highly affected by the system's geometry. Instead, the tube's small capacity may not adequately portray the realistic interactions of sound waves that can occur in an open environment.

Another limitation is that impedance tubes are designed to allow sound waves to propagate in a single direction along the tube's axis, measuring only normal incidence. In real-world scenarios, sound waves interact with the system at various angles, leading to complex acoustic phenomena that the tube cannot replicate. Additionally, this single-direction configuration assumes that the material under testing is homogeneous over the cross-section, since non-uniformities could result in diffraction or scattering effects that could not be properly captured by the simple plane wave model. However, the assumption of homogeneity may not be valid for a real-scale system, where material discrepancies, thickness variations, and uneven layering can occur. This could lead to inconsistencies between the actual and measured acoustic performance.

Furthermore, the impedance tube method is mainly effective within specific frequency ranges, hence the results might not capture the entire range of the system's acoustic behavior. Since the different systems tend to behave differently at various frequency ranges, this limitation may lead to an incomplete appreciation of their general acoustic performance.

Last but not least, the simplified cylindrical shape of the tube and specimens does not account for more complex, irregular shapes that may be present in the actual system. This simplification could result in neglecting important acoustic phenomena, such as diffraction, interference, and scattering effects that can occur in real-scale green roof systems.

In summary, while the impedance tube measurements provide useful information into the acoustic behavior in a controlled environment, they may not be able to fully capture the complicated behavior of the multilayered system.

#### 8.3 Limitations of Acoustic Simulations

While the approach used provides a strong framework, the absence of real-scale experimentation to evaluate the final results can be considered a disadvantage or limitation. The simulation, even though valuable and reliable under controlled conditions, may contain inherent inaccuracies due to several factors. In COMSOL, a number of simplifications have been made to simulate the geometry of the system, which may not fully capture the behavior of the real system. These simplifications involve assumptions on the material properties, boundary conditions, and simplified, idealized geometries that are used to reduce computational demand; however, they might accurately represent the real-world setup. Additionally, the COMSOL model includes discretization and numerical solving techniques, which is sources of errors and inaccuracies, something that was particularly noticed when coarse mesh resolutions were used or whenever inappropriate boundary effects were modeled.

#### 8.4 Research and Potential

This research can contribute to the expanding information on green roof acoustic optimization and the use of resonators as a possible solution for low-frequency sound absorption. The findings demonstrate that it is possible to increase the acoustic performance of green roof systems within a range, thereby filling a knowledge gap in the current solutions for lowfrequency noise management. However, as mentioned, without a representative physical prototype, with which real-scale experiments can be conducted for comparison of the simulation results, there is no definite way of verifying the accuracy of the simulated results. As a real-scale test in the field could indicate inaccuracies that may not have been anticipated in the simulation model, this is particularly critical for complex systems like the examined, where parameters such as moisture, temperature, and material degradation could affect the overall performance.

To enhance the results' reliability and validity, it would be important to consider a real-scale validation step. This could involve the development and acoustic testing of a larger-scale prototype for a green roof biodiverse system with integrated Helmholtz resonators, ensuring that it reflects the representative properties and acoustic characteristics of the real system. By comparing the real-measured data to the simulation findings, any discrepancies can be identified, and the simulation model can be updated to reflect more refined material property assumptions.

To summarize, the absence of a large-scale experimental validation is a reasonable concern. A real-scale experimental comparison could provide clearer results on how well the simulation models can reflect the real acoustic behavior of the system. In this case, without validation, while the method followed remains a reliable and valid approach, the final results should be considered as approximations that might have to be refined through physical testing. Finally, the results of this research can serve as a valuable reference for future researchers, focusing on further optimizing resonator designs or investigating the impact of vegetation on acoustic performance.

## **9** Conclusion

#### The aim of this research was to answer the following question:

#### "How can the acoustic absorption of green roofs be improved, focusing on the lowfrequency spectrum, and considering the importance of sustainability and environmental footprint/impact?"

In order to answer this question, the research approach used both qualitative and quantitative methodologies to provide a comprehensive analysis of the main topic. The research involved three main stages. The study began with a thorough literature review to establish a theoretical insight into green roof technology, the acoustic performance of green roofs, as well as the role of Helmholtz resonators. This initial phase provided useful information on the current situation of green roof performance, the limitations of existing solutions, as well as the potential benefits of integrating resonators into the system. It also emphasized the importance of considering sustainability and environmental impact during designing. This helped to situate the research within a broader context of urban noise pollution and the need for ecologically responsible design practices.

Based on the literature research, a simulation model was developed to assess the integration of Helmholtz resonators embedded into the substrate of the green roof system. Before creating the simulation model, impedance tube measurements were performed to gather experimental data and validate the different systems' acoustic properties, providing a foundation for the subsequent stages. These measurements were critical in understanding the baseline acoustic performance of green roof systems. Following this, a concept design with integrated resonators was developed and refined to serve as a basis for the simulations. The simulation stage required not only expertise in acoustics but also technical knowledge of material properties and their interaction with sound waves. The developed model provided quantitative data that allowed examination of the system's acoustic performance across various frequencies and combinations. This approach yielded key insights into the design and tuning of the resonators, as well as their interaction with the porous substrate layer, enabling a comprehensive assessment of the system's potential for low-frequency sound absorption.

Another essential aspect of the research was the environmental impact of the proposed solution. As the main goal was to develop a solution that increases acoustic performance while at the same time supporting sustainability, sustainable and long-lasting materials were chosen in order to guarantee that the system could remain effective without causing additional waste.

#### **Key Findings**

The primary objective of this research was to explore methods for enhancing the low-frequency sound absorption of green roofs, with a specific focus on the integration of acoustic resonators.

- The study demonstrated that, compared to the other tested systems, the intensive green roof system emerged as the most promising for resonator integration, offering the significant advantage of substrate depth. Its thicker substrate layer allowed for more flexible integration of Helmholtz resonators without compromising essential functions.
- The integration of Helmholtz resonators into the substrate of the system can enhance • acoustic absorption in the low-frequency range, achieving absorption coefficients ranging from 0.3 to 0.5 depending on the frequency and concept used. While this enhancement seems to be lower than the standalone performance of the single resonators, it represents a substantial improvement compared to the baseline green roof system without resonators. Additionally, while the results show improvements, the obtained absorption values do not perfectly align with the original aim of achieving consistently high values of absorption coefficient at lower frequencies with the given number of resonators. However, further increasing the number of resonators could potentially achieve this target. The significance of these improvements still depends on the intended application of the green roof. For scenarios prioritizing low-frequency noise mitigation, such as urban environments with prevalent low-frequency sound, resonators offer a measurable benefit. However, the associated effort to adapt the system, such as the reduction of substrate material volume and considerations for water drainage, must be carefully evaluated against the potential acoustic gains.
- The final concept design incorporated the following key elements: Cylindrical Helmholtz resonators were determined to be the most effective, owing to their acoustic efficiency and ability to target low-frequency noise. Additionally, rigid materials, such as FRP (Fiber-Reinforced Plastic) or stainless steel, were identified as the most effective for resonator fabrication due to their durability, lightweight properties, water resistance, and favorable acoustic performance.
- Among the tested concepts, concept E, which targeted eight different frequencies, demonstrated the most balanced performance. While this approach resulted in a drop in the absorption coefficient values of approximately 0.2 compared to concepts targeting fewer frequencies, such as the ones developed for three and four target frequencies, it provided a significant advantage in producing a smoother absorption curve. This curve effectively covered a broader range of frequencies within the range of 50 to 125 Hz, addressing a wider spectrum of noise.
- The inclusion of water outlet perforations at the base of the resonators' cavity introduced a noticeable **shift in the resonant frequencies** ranging from 5 to 10 Hz. While this design adjustment slightly altered the system's frequency response, it ensured better drainage functionality without significantly compromising the overall acoustic performance.

#### What are the lessons learned?

In conclusion, the integration of Helmholtz resonators into green roof systems presents a promising strategy for improving low-frequency absorption while maintaining acceptable performance at higher frequencies. However, practical implementation requires a careful balance of acoustic benefits, substrate performance, and maintenance considerations. For urban environments grappling with low-frequency noise pollution, this study demonstrates that resonator integration can be a valuable addition to green roof systems, provided the design and material selection are carefully optimized.

Reflecting on the difficulties encountered during this research, one of the most significant challenges was reconciling acoustic performance with the practical requirements and geometrical restrictions that the green roof system design provided. Keeping the resonators operational while avoiding any interference with the roof's drainage and vegetation growth presented various design issues. The simulations were useful; however, being able to perfectly reproduce all the factors of real-world conditions, which could affect the system's performance over time, remains a challenge.

To summarize, this research provides a deeper understanding of the main complexities and limitations involved when designing acoustically optimized and, at the same time, sustainable green roof systems. It highlights the importance of interdisciplinary techniques in which acoustic performance and sustainable design are properly combined. Finally, with regard to the contribution of this study to the field of building physics, the research showed that incorporation of acoustic optimization methodologies into green roof systems can be promising for addressing environmental noise concerns within a certain range.

In any case, a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis is required to determine whether the acoustic advantages offered by the integration of resonators can outweigh the associated trade-offs, such as the reduction in substrate volume, potential challenges to water drainage functionality, and the additional costs related to materials and installation. Conducting such an analysis is crucial to ensure that the green roof system can achieve its intended performance objectives while maintaining sustainability and practicality.

## **10** Recommendations

This study has demonstrated the potential of integrating Helmholtz resonators into green roof systems to enhance their acoustic performance, particularly at low frequencies. However, there are several aspects that warrant further exploration and development of this concept.

- First, future research should focus on refining the design of the resonators to achieve greater efficiency while maintaining compatibility with green roof requirements. Alternative geometries and configurations should be explored to optimize the system's acoustic performance without interfering with drainage or vegetation growth. Adjustable or tunable resonators could also be investigated to adapt the system to varying noise conditions in urban environments.
- Additionally, simulation models could be improved to better represent real-world conditions, such as temperature fluctuations, moisture variations, and material degradation over time. Validating the simulation results through experimental testing on physical prototypes is essential to ensure their accuracy and reliability, particularly in dynamic environmental conditions.
- Furthermore, long-term monitoring of integrated systems under real-world conditions is recommended to assess their acoustic performance, structural integrity, and interaction with the vegetation layer over time. Environmental factors such as pollution and debris accumulation should also be studied to understand their impact on the system's performance.
- Finally, the findings of this study could be extended to broader applications. Helmholtz resonators could be used in other noise-sensitive environments, such as indoor spaces or building facades. The scalability of this concept for larger urban projects, such as noise barriers or green walls, should also be explored. Collaboration with policymakers, architects, and urban planners could promote the adoption of acoustically optimized green roofs as part of sustainable urban noise management strategies.

Given the evolving needs of urban environments, by addressing these recommendations, future research and development can further improve the acoustic and environmental performance of green roof systems, contributing to more livable and sustainable urban environments.

#### **References & Related Literature**

Accel Polymers. (2021). *HDPE recycling: Unraveling the boons for a sustainable future*. Retrieved from <u>https://accelpolymers.com/hdpe-recycling-unraveling-the-boons-for-a-sustainable-future/</u>

Acoustic Textiles. (2016). In *Textile science and clothing technology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-1476-5</u>

- Adhikari A., Thapa T. (2020), Noise Control in Residential Buildings. Department of Civil and Geomatics Engineering Institute of Engineering (IOE), Pokhara. [Online].
- Aggarwal, C., Molleti, S., & Ghobadi, M. (2024). A Comprehensive Review of Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) Studies in Roofing Industry: Current Trends and Future Directions. *Smart Cities*, 7(5), 2781–2801. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/smartcities7050108</u>
- American Society for Testing and Materials. (2012). Standard test method for impedance and absorption of acoustical materials using a tube, two microphones, and digital frequency analysis system (Standard No. E1050-12). ASTM International.
- Ampim, P. A. Y., Sloan, J. J., Cabrera, R. I., Harp, D. A., & Jaber, F. (2010). Green Roof Growing Substrates: Types, Ingredients, Composition and Properties. *Journal Of Environmental Horticulture*, 28(4), 244–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.24266/0738-2898-28.4.244</u>
- Arenas, J.P.; Crocker, M.J. Recent Trends in Porous Sound-Absorbing Materials. *Sound Vib.* (2010), 44, 12–17. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272151761 Recent Trends in Porous Sound-Absorbing Materials (accessed on 2 May 2022).
- Arjunan, A., Baroutaji, A., Robinson, J., Vance, A., & Arafat, A. (2024). Acoustic metamaterials for sound absorption and insulation in buildings. *Building And Environment*, 251, 111250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2024.111250
- ASTM E1050-12, Standard Test Method for Impedance and Absorption of Acoustical Materials Using a Tube, Two Microphones and a Digital Frequency Analysis System (ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2012).
- ASTM International. (2020). Stainless steel specifications and usage. *Materials and Methods Journal*, 17(3), 45-56. Retrieved from <u>https://www.astm.org/</u>
- Attal, E., De L'Epine, Y. B., Dauchez, N., & Dubus, B. (2021). Experimental investigation of the effect of moisture on the acoustic properties of lightweight substrates used in green envelopes. *Applied Acoustics*, *180*, 108108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apacoust.2021.108108</u>
- Aydın, G., & San, S. E. (2024). Breaking the limits of acoustic science: A review of acoustic metamaterials. *Materials Science And Engineering B*, 305, 117384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mseb.2024.117384
- Bachawati, M. E., Manneh, R., Belarbi, R., Dandres, T., Nassab, C., & Zakhem, H. E. (2016). Cradle-togate Life Cycle Assessment of traditional gravel ballasted, white reflective, and vegetative roofs: A Lebanese case study. *Journal Of Cleaner Production*, 137, 833–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.170
- Balasbaneh, A. T., Sher, W., Madun, A., & Ashour, A. (2024). Life cycle sustainability assessment of alternative green roofs A systematic literature review. Building And Environment, 248, 111064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2023.111064
- Bianchini, F., & Hewage, K. (2012). How "green" are the green roofs? Lifecycle analysis of green roof materials. *Building And Environment*, *48*, 57–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2011.08.019</u>

- Castanié, B., Peignon, A., Marc, C., Eyma, F., Cantarel, A., Serra, J., Curti, R., Hadiji, H., Denaud, L., Girardon, S., & Marcon, B. (2023). Wood and plywood as eco-materials for sustainable mobility: A review. *Composite Structures*, 329, 117790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruct.2023.117790
- Cao, L., Fu, Q., Si, Y., Ding, B., & Yu, J. (2018). Porous materials for sound absorption. *Composites Communications*, 10, 25–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coco.2018.05.001</u>
- Catapane, G., Petrone, G., Robin, O., & Verdière, K. (2023). Coiled quarter wavelength resonators for lowfrequency sound absorption under plane wave and diffuse acoustic field excitations. SSRN. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4342164</u>
- Chaffey, N. (2006). Esau's Plant Anatomy, Meristems, Cells, and Tissues of the Plant Body: their Structure, Function, and Development. 3rd edn. *Annals Of Botany*, 99(4), 785–786. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcm015</u>
- Chenani, S. B., Lehvävirta, S., & Häkkinen, T. (2015). Life cycle assessment of layers of green roofs. Journal Of Cleaner Production, 90, 153–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.070</u>
- Coma, J., Pérez, G., Cabeza, L.F., 2018. Life cycle assessment of green roofs. Nature Based Strategies for Urban and Building Sustainability <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812150-4.00031-8.</u>
- Conelly, M. (2011). Acoustical characteristics of vegetated roofs contributions to the ecological performance of buildings and the urban soundscape. PhD Dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver
- Connelly, M., Hodgson, M. (2013). Experimental investigation of the sound transmission of vegetated roofs. Appl. Acous. 74, 1136-1143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apacoust.2013.04.003</u>
- Connelly, M., Hodgson, M. (2008), Sound Transmission Loss of Green Roof, Greening Rooftops for Sustainable Communities, Conference, Awards & Trade Show, Baltimore, MD.
- Connelly, M., Hodgson, M. (2015). Experimental investigation of the sound absorption characteristics of vegetated roofs. Build. Environ. 92, 335-346 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2015.04.023</u>
- Cox, T., & D'Antonio, P. (2016). Acoustic Absorbers and Diffusers: Theory, Design and Application (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). CRC Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315369211</u>
- Crocker, M.J., and Arenas, J.P., (2007) Use of Sound-Absorbing Materials, Chapter 57 in *Handbook of Noise and Vibration Control* (M.J. Crocker, Ed.), John Wiley and Sons, New York. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470209707.ch57</u>
- Dasyam, A., Xue, Y., Bolton, J. S., & Sharma, B. (2022). Effect of particle size on sound absorption behavior of granular aerogel agglomerates. *Journal Of Non-Crystalline Solids*, 598, 121942. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2022.121942</u>
- Davis, M., Tenpierik, M., Ramirez, F., & Perez, M. E. (2017). More than just a Green Facade: The sound absorption properties of a vertical garden with and without plants. Building and Environment, 116, 64-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2017.01.010.</u>
- Dickinson, E. J., Ekström, H., & Fontes, E. (2013). COMSOL Multiphysics®: Finite element software for electrochemical analysis. A mini-review. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 40, 71–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elecom.2013.12.020
- Domínguez, M.V.S., González, E., Fabián, D., Salvo, A., Fenoglio, M.S., 2020. Arthropod diversity and ecological processes on green roofs in a semi-rural area of Argentina: similarity to neighbor ground habitats and landscape effects. Landsc. Urban Plan. 199, 103816. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2020.103816.
- EEA. (2020). Environmental noise in Europe. EEA Report No 22/2019, *European Environment Agency*. https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/environmental-noise-in-europe.

- Eksi, M., Sevgi, O., Akburak, S., Yurtseven, H., Esin, İ., (2020). Assessment of recycled or locally available materials as green roof substrates. Ecol. Eng. 156, 105966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2020.105966.
- Ersoy, S., & El-Hafid, A. (2013). Investigation of Sound Properties of High Density Polyethylene / Styrene Butadiene Rubber Polymer Composites. *Vibroengineering PROCEDIA*, *1*, 77–80. <u>https://www.jvejournals.com/article/10765/pdf</u>
- European Standards (EN), (2002). EN 1991-1-1 Eurocode 1: Actions on structures Part 1-1: General actions Densities, self-weight, imposed loads for buildings, Brussels, Belgium.
- European Standards (EN), (2003). EN 1991-1-1 Eurocode 1: Actions on structures Part 1-3: General actions Snow loads, Brussels, Belgium.
- European Standards (EN), (2005). EN 1991-1-4 Eurocode 1: Actions on structures Part 1-4: General actions Wind loads, Brussels, Belgium.
- European Standards (EN), (2000). EN 12056-3:2000 Gravity drainage systems inside buildings. Roof drainage, layout and calculation, The British Standards Institution (BSI), United Kingdom.
- Farooqui, M., Alhamoud, A., Aliuddin, A., & Mekid, S. (2012). Geometry Effects on the Noise Reduction of Helmholtz Resonators. Volume 1: Advanced Computational Mechanics; Advanced Simulation-Based Engineering Sciences; Virtual And Augmented Reality; Applied Solid Mechanics And Material Processing; Dynamical Systems And Control, 59–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1115/esda2012-82697</u>
- FLL (Forschungsgesellschaft Landschaftsentwicklung Landschaftsbau). (2018). Guidelines for the Planning, Execution and Upkeep of Green-roof Sites (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Forschungsgesellschaft Landschaftsentwicklung Landschaftsbau, Bonn, Germany.
- Floud, S., Blangiardo, M., Clark, C., *et al.* (2013). Exposure to aircraft and road traffic noise and associations with heart disease and stroke in six European countries: a cross-sectional study. *Environ Health* **12**, 89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-12-89</u>
- Frazer, L. (2005). Paving Paradise: The Peril of Impervious Surfaces. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *113*(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.113-a456</u>
- Fuchs, V.F. (2013), Applied Acoustics: Concepts, Absorbers, and Silencers for Acoustical Comfort and Noise Control, Springer, Berlin
- Getter, K. L., & Rowe, D. B. (2006). The Role of Extensive Green Roofs in Sustainable Development. *HortScience*, 41(5), 1276–1285. <u>https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.41.5.1276</u>
- Gil, L. (2015). New Cork-Based Materials and Applications. *Materials*, 8(2), 625–637. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma8020625
- Goldbold, O, (2008). Investigating broadband acoustic adsorption using rapid manufacturing, (Doctoral Thesis), Loughborough University, Retrieved from <u>https://dspace.lboro.ac.uk/2134/8058</u>
- Guo, Y., Zhu, S., Chen, Y., Liu, D., & Li, D. (2019). Acoustic Emission-Based Study to Characterize the Crack Initiation Point of Wood Fiber/HDPE Composites. *Polymers*, *11*(4), 701. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11040701
- Hakeem, K. R., Akhtar, J., & Sabir, M. (2016). Soil Science: Agricultural and Environmental Prospectives. In *Springer eBooks*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-34451-5</u>

- Harle, S. M. (2024). Durability and long-term performance of fiber reinforced polymer (FRP) composites: A review. *Structures*, *60*, 105881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.istruc.2024.105881</u>
- Hiremath, N., Kumar, V., Motahari, N., & Shukla, D. (2021). An Overview of Acoustic Impedance Measurement Techniques and Future Prospects. *Metrology*, 1(1), 17–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/metrology1010002</u>
- Horoshenkov, K, Khan, A, Benkreira, H., Mandon, A., Rohr R. (2011). The effect of moisture and soil type on the acoustical properties of green noise control elements. In: Proceedings of forum acusticum 2011, Aalborg, Denmark
- *How to Build a Mesh in COMSOL Multiphysics* (z.d.). COMSOL. https://www.comsol.com/video-training/getting-started/building-the-mesh-for-a-model-geometry-in-comsol-multiphysics
- Hui, S. C. M. (2006). Benefits and Potential Applications of Green Roof Systems in Hong Kong, Proceedings of the 2nd Megacities International Conference 2006, 1-2 December 2006. Guangzhou. China, pp. 351-360.
- IMARC Group. (2022). Green Roof Market Report by Type (Extensive, Intensive), Distribution Channel (Online, Offline), Application (Residential, Commercial, Industrial), and Region 2024-2032. Sheridan, USA
- ISO 354. (2003). Acoustics Measurement of sound absorption in a reverberation room. (International Organization for Standardization, Switzerland).
- ISO 10140-2. (2010). Acoustics Laboratory measurement of sound insulation of building elements Part 2: measurement of airborne sound insulation. (International Organization for Standardization, Switzerland).
- ISO 10534-2 (1998). Acoustics Determination of sound absorption coefficient and impedance in impedance tubes. Part 2: Transfer-function method. (International Standard Organization, Geneva, Switzerland).
- International Organization for Standardization. (2006). Environmental Management Life Cycle Assessment - Principles and Framework (ISO Standard No. 14040:2006). https://www.iso.org/standard/76121.html
- Jim, C. Y. (2017). Green roof evolution through exemplars: Germinal prototypes to modern variants, *Sustain. Cities Soc.* **35** August 69–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2017.08.001</u>
- Kinsler, L., Frey, A., Coppens, A., Sanders, J., (1982). Fundamentals of Acoustics, 4th edition. ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Knapen, E., Lanoye, R., Vermeir, G., Lauriks, W., & Gemert, D.V. (2003). Acoustic properties of sound absorbing, polymer-modified porous cement mortars.
- Köhler, M. (2006). Long-term vegetation research on two extensive green roofs in Berlin. Urban Habitats, 4(1), 3.
- Köhler M, Keeley M. (2005). The green roof tradition in Germany: The example of Berlin. Pages 108–112 in Hoffman L, McDonough W, eds. Green Roofs: Ecological Design and Construction. New York: Schiffer.
- Kosareo, L., & Ries, R. (2007). Comparative environmental life cycle assessment of green roofs. *Building And Environment*, *42*(7), 2606–2613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.06.019</u>
- Li, Y., Ren, S., Zhou, Y., & Liu, H. (2011). Building decorative materials. In *Woodhead Publishing Limited eBooks*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857092588</u>
- Long, M. (2014). Architectural acoustics. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Academic Press.

- Maa, D. (1998). Potential of microperforated panel absorber. *The Journal Of The Acoustical Society Of America*, *104*(5), 2861–2866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1121/1.423870</u>
- Miedema, HS, & Oudshoorn, CGM (2001). Annoyance from transportation noise: relationships with exposure metrics DNL and DENL and their confidence intervals. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 109 (4), 409–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.01109409</u>
- Mihalakakou, G., Souliotis, M., Papadaki, M., Menounou, P., Dimopoulos, P., Kolokotsa, D., Paravantis, J. A., Tsangrassoulis, A., Panaras, G., Giannakopoulos, E., & Papaefthimiou, S. (2023). Green roofs as a nature-based solution for improving urban sustainability: Progress and perspectives. *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *180*, 113306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.113306</u>
- Mobley, R. K. (2001). *Plant Engineer's Handbook*. <u>http://ci.nii.ac.jp/ncid/BA57721822</u>
- Nurzyński, J., & Nowotny, Ł. (2023). Acoustic Performance of Floors Made of Composite Panels. *Materials*, 16(5), 2128. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma16052128</u>
- Pardeshi, S., Hujare, P., Katrojwar, A., Khapke, P., & Adhau, V. (2022). Investigation for acoustic performance analysis of stainless-steel, aluminium-alloy and epoxy-glass oil-pan. *Materials Today Proceedings*, *72*, 839–845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2022.09.061
- Peck, S. & Kuhn, M. (2003), Design Guidelines for Green Roof. Ontario: Ontario Association of Architects.
- Peri, G., Traverso, M., Finkbeiner, M., & Rizzo, G. (2012). The cost of green roofs disposal in a life cycle perspective: Covering the gap. *Energy*, 48(1), 406–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2012.02.045</u>
- Pinchevska, O. O., Baranova, O. S., Gorbachova, O. Y., & Gandzuk, V. M. (2019). Research of plywood quality by acoustic methods. *IOP Conference Series Materials Science And Engineering*, 708(1), 012098. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/708/1/012098
- Pittaluga, I., Schenone, C., & Borelli, D. (2011). Sound absorption of different green roof systems. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 130(4), 2317–2317. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.3654256.
- Porsche, U., & Köhler, M. (2003). *LIFE CYCLE COSTS OF GREEN ROOFS A Comparison of Germany, USA, and Brazil -*. <u>https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:59582508</u>
- Pushkar, S., (2019). Modeling the substitution of natural materials with industrial byproducts in green roofs using life cycle assessments. J. Clean. Prod. 227, 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.237
- Qiu, X. (2016). Principles of Sound Absorbers. In *Textile science and clothing technology* (pp. 43–72). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-1476-5\_3
- Qureshi, J. (2022). A Review of Recycling Methods for Fibre Reinforced Polymer Composites. *Sustainability*, *14*(24), 16855. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su142416855</u>
- Rajak, D., Pagar, D., Menezes, P., & Linul, E. (2019). Fiber-Reinforced Polymer Composites: Manufacturing, Properties, and Applications. *Polymers*, 11(10), 1667. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11101667</u>
- Raji, B., Tenpierik, M.J. and Van Den Dobbelsteen, A., (2015). The impact of greening systems on building energy performance: A literature review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 45, 610–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.02.011
- Rasul, M., & Arutla, L. (2020). Environmental impact assessment of green roofs using life cycle assessment. *Energy Reports*, *6*, 503–508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2019.09.015</u>

- Rincón, L., Coma, J., Pérez, G., Castell, A., Boer, D., & Cabeza, L. F. (2014). Environmental performance of recycled rubber as drainage layer in extensive green roofs. A comparative Life Cycle Assessment. *Building And Environment*, *74*, 22–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.01.001</u>
- Rivela, B., Cuerda, I., Olivieri, F., Bedoya, C., Neila, J., (2013). Life Cycle Assessment for ecodesign of ecological roof made with Intemper TF ecological water-tank system |Análisis de Ciclo de Vida para el ecodiseño del sistema Intemper TF de cubierta ecológica aljibe. Mater. Constr. 63, 131–145. https://doi.org/10.3989/mc.2012.02611.
- Rossing, T. (2007). *Springer Handbook of Acoustics*. Springer Science & Business Media, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-30425-0
- RVO | Klimaata daptatie Maatregelen. https://infographics.rvo.nl/klimaatadaptatie/maatregelen/#mii-rvokam-bouwen-en-renoveren
- Scolaro, T. P., & Ghisi, E. (2022). Life cycle assessment of green roofs: A literature review of layers materials and purposes. *Science Of The Total Environment*, 829, 154650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154650
- Shafique, M., Azam, A., Rafiq, M., Ateeq, M., & Luo, X. (2020). An overview of life cycle assessment of green roofs. *Journal Of Cleaner Production*, 250, 119471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119471
- Sharp, B., Gurovich, Y., Albee, W. (2001). Status of Low-Frequency Aircraft Noise Research and Mitigation, Wyle Research Report WR 01-21, prepared for Noise Abatement Office San Francisco Int'l Airport. <u>https://sforoundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Wyle-Low-Freq-Study.pdf</u>
- *Simulation Software for Analyzing Acoustics and Vibrations.* (z.d.). COMSOL. <u>https://www.comsol.com/acoustics-module</u>
- Tams, L., Nehls, T., & Calheiros, C. S. C. (2022). Rethinking green roofs- natural and recycled materials improve their carbon footprint. *Building And Environment*, *219*, 109122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.109122
- Tie, T. S., Mo, K. H., Putra, A., Loo, S. C., Alengaram, U. J., & Ling, T. (2020). Sound absorption performance of modified concrete: A review. *Journal Of Building Engineering*, *30*, 101219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobe.2020.101219
- Tjaden, B., Cooper, S. J., Brett, D. J., Kramer, D., & Shearing, P. R. (2016). On the origin and application of the Bruggeman correlation for analysing transport phenomena in electrochemical systems. *Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering*, *12*, 44–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2016.02.006</u>
- Vacek, P., Struhala, K., & Matějka, L. (2017). Life-cycle study on semi intensive green roofs. *Journal Of Cleaner Production*, 154, 203–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.188</u>
- Van der Eerden, F.J.M. (2000). Sound absorption and reflection with coupled tubes. University of Twente, Department of Mechanical Engineering, The Netherlands <u>https://ris.utwente.nl/ws/files/6165129/2000 third B2000 MEMCOM workshop Eerden, F.J.</u>.<u>M.pdf</u>
- Van Renterghem, T. (2018a). Green Roofs for Acoustic Insulation and Noise Reduction. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 167–179). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-812150-4.00016-1</u>
- Van Renterghem, T. (2018c). Improving the noise reduction by green roofs due to solar panels and substrate shaping. *Building Acoustics*, *25*(3), 219–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1351010x18776804</u>
- Van Renterghem, T., & Botteldooren, D. (2009). Reducing the acoustical façade load from road traffic with green roofs. Building and Environment, 44(5), 1081-1087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2008.07.013
- Van Renterghem, T., & Botteldooren, D. (2011). In-situ measurements of sound propagating over extensive green roofs. *Building And Environment*, 46(3), 729–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2010.10.006

- Van Renterghem, T., & Botteldooren, D. (2014). Influence of rainfall on the noise shielding by a green roof. *Building And Environment*, 82, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.07.025
- Vijayaraghavan K. (2016) Green roofs: a critical review on the role of components, benefits, limitations and trends. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2016;57:740–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.119</u>
- WHO Europe. (2018). Environmental noise guidelines for the European region. *World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen.* <u>https://www.who.int/europe/publications/i/item/9789289053563</u>.
- World report on hearing. Geneva: World Health Organization; (2021). License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1334317/retrieve</u>.
- Wu, G., Lu, Z., Xu, X., Pan, W., Wu, W., Li, J., & Ci, J. (2019). Numerical investigation of aeroacoustics damping performance of a Helmholtz resonator: Effects of geometry, grazing and bias flow. *Aerospace Science And Technology*, 86, 191–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ast.2019.01.007
- Yang, H.-S., Kang, J., Cheal. C., (2013). Random-Incidence Absorption and Scattering Coefficients of Vegetation. Acta Acustica united with Acustica 99(3):379-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.3813/AAA.918619</u>
- Yang, J., Yu, Q., Gong, P., (2008). Quantifying air pollution removal by green roofs in Chicago. Atmos. Environ. 42, 7266–7273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.07.003</u>.
- Yeang, W. Y., Halim, D., Yi, X., & Chen, H. (2024). A compound microperforated panel backed by a paneltype resonator with a Helmholtz neck and multi-frequency resonators to improve bandwidth and low frequency sound absorption. *Applied Acoustics*, 221, 110030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apacoust.2024.110030</u>
- Yu WD, Cheng, S.T., Miao, C. M. and Perng, G. Y. (2017) Green innovation of green roof technology a case study *Materwiss*. *Werksttech* 48 (5) 420–429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mawe.201700015</u>
- Zhao, D., Ji, C., & Yin, M. (2022). Experimental investigation of geometric shape effect of coupled Helmholtz resonators on aeroacoustics damping performances in presence of low grazing flow. *Aerospace Science And Technology*, *128*, 107799. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ast.2022.107799</u>

-MMMM

#### APPENDIX - MATLAB
## Calculating the sound absorption of Helmholtz resonator

% model for calculating the sound absorption curve of a Helmholtz resonator sample % copyright M.J. Tenpierik, TU Delft -- Edit by Jesse Bakker % January 23, 2021

close all clear all

%------ INPUT ------

## %Resonator geometry

$$\label{eq:linear} \begin{split} L &= [90,90,110,100,90,100,80,80]/1000; \ \% [mm] \ Neck \ length \\ a &= [6.5,7.5,7.5,8,8,8.5,8.5,8]/1000; \ \% [mm] \ Orifice \ radius \\ num &= [4,3,3,3,3,3,3,3]; \ \% [-] \ Amount \ of \ resonators \end{split}$$

tp = [0]/1000; %[mm] Thickness of porous layer sigma = 4000; %[] Flow resistivity of porous layer

cr = [60,60,55,50,45,45,40,35]/1000; %[mm] Helmholtz cavity radius ch = [105,105,85,95,105,95,115,115]/1000; %[mm] Helmholtz cavity height

sw = [1100]/1000; %[mm] Sample width sh = [1100]/1000; %[mm] Sample height

## %Additional input

c = 343; %[m/s] Speed of sound rho = 1.21; %[kg/m3] Density of air Zo = c.\*rho; %[] Specific acoustic impedance viscosity = 15.1e-6; %[m2/s] Kinematic viscosity of air

%------ CALCULATION ------

Sa = pi.\*a.^2; %[m2] Orifice area Sb = pi.\*cr.^2; %[m2] Helmholtz cavity cover plate area b = pi.\*cr.^2.\*ch; %[m3] Helmholtz cavity volume %Sr = sw.\*sh; %[m2] Sample surface area Sr=0.25\*pi.\*sw.^2;

f = [30:2:800]; %[Hz] Frequency spectrum
nf = length(f); %[-] Frequency list length
kair = 2.\*pi.\*f./c; %[] Normal wave number
w = 2.\*pi.\*f; %[] Angular frequency
j = sqrt(-1); %[] Imaginary number

%Loop over different open areas eta = num.\*Sa./Sr; %[%] Porosity of samples surface zi = 0; delta = (8./3./pi).\*a.\*(1-1.25.\*zi); %[m] Neck end correction for x = 1:length(f); for y = 1:length(num);

## %Delany & Bazley equations

$$\label{eq:2} \begin{split} &\% Zp(x) = Zo.*((1+0.0497.*(f(x)./sigma).^-0.754)-(j.*0.0758.*(f(x)./sigma).^-0.732)); \,\% Impedance of porous layer \\ &\% kp(x) = (w(x)./c).*((1+0.0858.*(f(x)./sigma).^-0.7)-(j.*0.169.*(f(x)./sigma).^-0.595)); \,\% Complex wavenumber \\ &\% Zp2(x,y) = -j.*Zp(x).*cot(kp(x).*tp(y)); \,\% impedance at top of porous layer \end{split}$$

%Impedance at top of air cavity (Eq.8.56a) z1(x,y) = -j.\*Z0.\*cot(kair(x).\*ch(y)).\*(Sa(y)./Sb(y));

```
%Impedance of resonator neck (Eq.8.57a)
z2(x,y) = rho.*(sqrt(8.*viscosity.*w(x)).*(1+L(y)./(2.*a(y)))+(2.*w(x).*a(y)).^2./16./c);
```

```
z_3(x,y) = j.*((2.*delta(y)+L(y)).*w(x).*rho)+z_1(x,y)+z_2(x,y);
z_4(x,y) = z_3(x,y)./eta(y);
```

```
%impedance of individual resonant absorbers
R(x,y) = (z_4(x,y)-Z_0)./(z_4(x,y)+Z_0); %reflection factor
alpha(x,y) = 1-abs(R(x,y)).^2; %absorption coefficient
```

end end

%Total reflection and absorption coefficient Ztotal = (sum((z4).^-1,2)).^-1; Rtotal = (Ztotal-Zo)./(Ztotal+Zo); %reflection factor of total array alphatotal = 1-abs(Rtotal).^2; %absorption coefficient of total array

%------ PLOT ------

subplot(1,1,1); plot(f,alpha,':',f,alphatotal,'-k','Linewidth',2); xlabel('f [Hz]','FontName','arial','FontSize',12); ylabel('Absorption coefficient [-]','FontSize',12); hold on

[pks,locs] = findpeaks(alphatotal,f); findpeaks(alphatotal,f); text(locs+1,pks,num2str(locs'));

axis([0,500,0,1]); grid on